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MBRE
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FHARGEEEREMEERER

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 202581 &
FY2024 FY2025
ARBET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
g Revenue 3,770,543 4,965,954
EF Gross Profit 536,504 642,047
R A& A Profit before tax 333,604 413,373
F A Profit for the year 276,194 339,484
BRSSPSR R & CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
- STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
K3 HA31H
As at 31 March
20241 20254
2024 2025
ARBET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEE Total assets 4,605,529 5,246,476
waE Total liabilities 1,989,837 2,329,731
AR Total equity 2,615,692 2,916,745
BERE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

. 2025 F R BIUR A K B AR 4,966.0
BEIT (20248 F : HHARK3, 77058
&71) Bt EAL31.7%

. 2025 FHE M A A ANRKI39.5H
B (20248 F : HARK276.288
JT) * B EF#922.9%

. 2025 FNBRERBINSARKE

0.347T (202481 F : HAR¥E0.377T)
B L NBE48.1%

. EEERERRERIBREBBARE
0.0757C

04 XKEEEERAERLT @ FiH 2024/2025

Total revenue for FY2025 of approximately
RMB4,966.0 million (FY2024: approximately
RMB3,770.5 million), year-on-year increase of
approximately 31.7%

Profit for FY2025 of approximately RMB339.5 million
(FY2024: approximately RMB276.2 million), year-on-
year increase of approximately 22.9%

Basic earnings per Share for FY2025 of
approximately RMBO0.34 (FY2024: approximately
RMBO0.37), year-on-year decrease of approximately
8.1%

The Board recommended the payment of the final
dividend of RMB0.075 per Share



RERE
OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

KREPE OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

BE3A3IALEFEE

For the year ended 31 March A bt S -
20254 2024 Year-on-year
2025 2024 change*
(Fmg) (Fmg)
(Tonne '000) (Tonne '000)
HEHE Overall Sales volume 2,345 1,734 35.2%
* F L S B IEANFE H A FHLE . Year-on-year change represents a comparison

between the current year and the last year
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

AABREEEEMA L BAEE 20258 10
RS -

BEXHMEMSEREDFE  A5E&E
BIENCERBIN SR MHERERE - 12025
MEFRTEENBEIER - 20250 F + K
EEARANEIQTETARE  REFRH
WRHN31.7%  AEEFFBE AN 4ETA
RE R EFRIZERL22.9%  REBEEREE
ERHEEANC3AEYE B LERHBEELY
35.2% °

20258 AEBEEERGRELELTEEZY
e URNBREBIERIMNRRCEFREE
PORRERIEN - EARERBBRERAR
SEET BRI R A B SRR I5E &

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for FY2025.

Despite ongoing volatility in global market prices of
potash fertilizers, the Group achieved significant growth
performance in FY2025 with its prudent business
strategies and efficient supply chain management. In
FY2025, the Group’s total revenue was approximately
RMB4,970 million, representing an increase of
approximately 31.7% as compared to the same period
of last year; the Group’s net profit was approximately
RMB340 million, representing an increase of approximately
22.9% as compared to the same period of last year; and
the overall sales volume of the Group’s products was
approximately 2.3 million tonnes, representing an increase
of approximately 35.2% as compared to the same period
of last year.

In FY2025, the Group has made important strides in
its strategic planning. The construction of the modern
warehousing and production centre in Tongjiang City,
Heilongjiang Province, is progressing smoothly. Upon

BN REREEAEERTARDE N - EHIER completion, it is expected to significantly enhance
B NEBEEEFHEEMEEERE ([HE the Group’s supply chain efficiency and market

Rt MRBEEZTIE ENMERTELE
BrIAEFREADENENE - BEAREES
RN EEERE2RMENEZRE - SERK
LB R A S F R B A -

A FERRAE - ARERZABIR k]
BiBE BESl  BBRSEE(CREREB A
WP  BESEERRNEEELRR
202581 4F - NEEMBEIRAN AR KRBERTT
Hep » "EERFERNELER EFRYTERY
9.0% TR T LEMFHNREERFEZR - RE
A REBBEERDRELEE  BITEX
HEEE RUXAREZEREMNIE  ER
EBRAAREERNEARS

06 XKEEEERAERLT @ FiH 2024/2025

responsiveness in the Northeast China, injecting strong
momentum into regional economic development.
Meanwhile, the Group is proceeding with the planning and
preparation works of the construction of its production
facility in Vietnam (the “Vietnam Facility”), marking its
official entry into emerging markets such as Southeast
Asia. The Vietnam Facility will serve as a key hub for the
Group to connect to the global market, laying a solid
foundation for the further advancement of the Group’s
global strategy.

In the field of sustainable development, the Group
has consistently adhered to the national ‘dual carbon’
strategy, systematically optimising energy structures and
innovating emission reduction technologies to establish a
green and low-carbon production and operations system.
In FY2025, the Group saw a significant improvement in
energy efficiency, with total carbon emissions decreasing
by approximately 9.0% as compared to the same period
of last year, successfully achieving the environmental
protection targets set in the last fiscal year. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to promote green
production, fulfil its corporate social responsibilities,
contribute to the sustainable development of the industry,
and make green the hallmark of the Group’s development.



WEFRHBERER L AREBRERBUE
FRPLOER EXRHEAMESNALA
B AEFRBOZEERZRES - AREK
AR BIFT ARSI ZE - UERTTRRER - A
MSZTERBE  KEBELENRLBET
N BERSEERRNIRED  AREHE
HEEREROMERE  TEHELCERER
REREEAFBENEERR - REBEHTHE
BREMBHRLORTT  EFRmHEHRE
HARSTENRENRE

AANERREEZS  R2BERE EF A
BEHEHEEARANEENMANIBRTR
OREE - TRROBE A B R ERELER
MBT-

2|8 7
FE TR ITESE
EFE o 20256 A26H

EREHRE
CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

Standing at a new starting point for development,
the Group will always adhere to the customer-centric
philosophy, cultivate the fertile soil of the domestic
market, and embrace global opportunities with a more
open attitude. The Group will continuously forge its core
competitiveness with technological innovation as the
engine, capacity upgrading as the foundation, and market
diversification as the path. In the pursuit of high-quality
development, the Group will adhere to a prudent and
stable financial strategy, continuously optimise the capital
structure, and create sustainable value returns for the
Shareholders. The Group looks forward to continuing to
work hand in hand with all partners to jointly write a more
glorious chapter in the promising future.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all our Shareholders, customers, partners
and all sectors of society for their long-term trust and
unwavering support. | also wish to express my sincere
appreciation to all employees who have contributed to the
Company’s development.

Liu Guocai
Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REME

202581 F - REBEE MR EEATREL
R ENA  ERNEEHEEE IEHED
SERBERAZ5.2% MK - H20248 F 69
W1 7TEEWIRE 2025 FMAI2.3B B -
ZEEIEZERANAEEHEREEN B TR
O ARHERSRRARZERRE -

PEZHERIEN  AEEBFERMEE/IFN
HEEEM2024F F /41 5 F BWEIL E 20258
FHH1OE BN - AEBEFEFFHLEFEER
B20F  BY T REMELIRRERE -
NABF MK ARGETENSCREE - K
EERBERATISNE  WEAEAERIETIS
HIBE AL o

BAN - AR ARBEMNBRIEEE MEHKY
HEMRBIGA - HLL2024 81 5 - ANE B 202581
FOWARFERGENDRIERI1.7% M22.9%
EHARK4966.08E TR ARKES39.58
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In FY2025, the Group continued to strengthen its position
as a leading potash fertilizer company in China, achieving
an increase of approximately 35.2% in overall sales
volume of the products and the provision of production
services, from approximately 1.7 million tonnes in
FY2024 to approximately 2.3 million tonnes in FY2025.
This growth was primarily attributable to the Group’s
unwavering commitment to product quality and a profound
understanding of its customers’ needs.

In line with the increase in sales volume, the Group's
purchase volume of major raw material of KCL increased
from approximately 1.5 million tonnes in FY2024 to
approximately 1.9 million tonnes in FY2025. Having been
in China’s potash fertilizer business for more than 20
years, the Group has established comprehensive KCL
procurement channels, enabling it to secure a stable
supply of KCL at competitive costs and the Group is
continuously expanding its market share to enhance its
leadership in potash market.

Furthermore, in FY2025, the Group’s revenue and profit for
the year increased by 31.7% and 22.9% to approximately
RMB4,966.0 million and approximately RMB339.5 million,
respectively, as compared to that of FY2024 due to the
increase in overall sales volume of the products of the
Group and the provision of production services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

AR A=

REROE - AR B B IR B AR A
RUERRBRE - (TSRS - A%
B @ ERET TS - DR R Y S BE R
AaENBEY  AREEMTESNERE
FmE o 7o B T 3R e T 1 2 B 4
BEEREEGEE  TRERERRET
ETRA BN - AERREEE A
EEEREETBURTHN « PREEMNER
TRNBERS  REELTATEERF
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AEEFSEBRERIMBAR  EEBER
e BEREELERHE LA EGMNTHIHHE
Ko AEEEBBREA LR EHETE - A
DG AREBRREESRKUEHNE L
o REHEREMTERORE o I NE
EEANEREZRRRIDBEOEBUEREER
e ZFERHBEAKEN R 2L RRA
—H BERBWENBEMEGEN - B
BRAMERREIFTA LR EEBAE -

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group aims to navigate market
fluctuations by driving growth through innovation and
expanding the Group’s product offerings. The Group
will continue exploring new markets to support the
increasing global demand for high-efficiency fertilizers,
while maintaining its focus on operational efficiency and
customer satisfaction. The Group's strategic investments
in new facilities and technologies are expected to enhance
its supply capacity and bolster its position as a reliable
partner in the agricultural industry. In line with these goals,
the Group will continue to explore different investment
opportunities, improve production capacity and bring
values to the Group's customers in the PRC as well as in
Asia, the Middle East and Europe.

The Group is planning to establish a subsidiary in Vietnam,
which will operate the Vietnam Facility. The Vietnam
Facility is expected to cover the aforesaid emerging
Asia markets. The Group has signed a memorandum
of understanding for the Vietnam Facility to sublease
the site and the Group is currently pursuing necessary
local approvals and is addressing feedback from local
authorities. In addition, the Group is evaluating and
considering strategic business development opportunities
in the Middle East. Such initiatives align with the Group’s
long-term global growth strategy, focusing on tapping
into the overseas dynamic market potential, improving
continuous technology utilization and innovation and
fostering mutually beneficial collaborations.

Annual Report 2024/2025 ) MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 09
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B 7% o] BE
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AEE 2025 FRUW A B IE S E M MR H A
ERSE - TREINAEBRFITREE D RIIE()
HESHEERRRELEERY  (VEPER
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue for FY2025 consisted of sales
of products and provision of production services. The
following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group's
revenue by (i) sales of each type of products and the
provision of production services; (ii) types of customers;
and (iii) sales volume, respectively, for the years indicated:

HZE3A3IALFE

For the year ended 31 March [ e & &
2025 20244 Year-on-year
2025 2024 change

ARBT T AR®ETF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EmHE Sales of products
R4 KCL 4,372,941 3,166,130 38.1%
T B £ SOP 464,500 438,190 6.0%
T B £ NOP 7,138 2,348 204.0%
B Compound fertilizer 65,767 53,446 23.1%
Hmo Others(” 32,871 86,444 (62.0)%
4,943,217 3,746,558 31.9%
Provision of production

R E RS services 22,737 23,985 (5.2)%
st Total 4,965,954 3,770,543 31.7%

10 KSEEERERAT @ T3k 2024/2025
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BZE3AMHLEE

For the year ended 31 March Ciisd i)
20254 20244 Year-on-year
2025 2024 change
ARBT T ARBTTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EFEHER Types of customers
HECE(EBELE]) State-owned entities (“SOE”) 2,950,909 2,017,636 46.3%
JEEB Non-SOE 2,015,045 1,752,907 15.0%
“et Total 4,965,954 3,770,543 31.7%
BZ3A3MBALEE
For the year ended 31 March Gl
20254 20244 Year-on-year
2025 2024 change
F 0 T A
Tonne’000 Tonne’000
$HE Sales volume
piil Potash-based fertilizers® 2,061 1,395 47.7%
Bépe Compound fertilizers® 83 83 0.0%
H At Others(” 201 256 (21.5)%
st Total 2,345 1,734 35.2%
BiaE - Notes:
(1) HEitbF ZREHEE KRR - (1) Others mainly consist of HCL and fertilizer additive.
(2) IR BB IR - BT RAEER LT - (2) Potash-based fertilizers consist of KCL, SOP and NOP.

(3) EEIEHEERIEEEHEEREERBLHET (3) The sales volume of compound fertilizers includes both
FTEAHE - direct sales and volumes produced under production
services arrangement.

Annual Report 2024/2025  MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 11



BEEENWED T

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

R202581F - LM RHBIFNEEGASE
BWRAHWITMIT D @ DRMEAEEBKRAD
#4988.1% M 9.4% (202481 + HHI484.0%
F11.6%) o R202581F » MBRELHKERD
REIRBRERBMBEED ML AEBRRUA
#182.2% X 14.0% (202481« D RI#78.4%
$16.6%) - NREB2025F FHRALNBAR
4 966.0A BT 0 L2024 FMH AR
3,770 5B & T INHI31.7% « WAL I EEER
R BB HE 218 I14135.2% o
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During FY2025, the sales of KCL and SOP contributed the
top two portions of the revenue of the Group, accounting
for approximately 88.1% and 9.4%, respectively, of the
total revenue of the Group (FY2024. approximately 84.0%
and 11.6%, respectively). During FY2025, the sales to
agribusiness companies and agricultural reclamation
companies contributed approximately 82.2% and
14.0%, respectively, to the total revenue of the Group
(FY2024: approximately 78.4% and 16.6%, respectively).
The Group’s revenue for FY2025 was approximately
RMB4,966.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 31.7% from approximately RMB3,770.5
million for FY2024. The increase in revenue was primarily
attributable to the increase of approximately 35.2% in
overall sales volume of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

R20258F - AEBEHEEKRANAEARE
4,323.9B8IT c L2024 EFHHYARE
3,234.0 @& TTIEIMNABE3.7% LT BEE
MRS E 8 IR A EARASIE AR — B -

EMRENE

REEREFNB2024 FHHARMES36.5
BHEITEMAI19.7% E 2025 FHH A REE
642.08 BT ° EFIEB2024 FHH14.2%
TIEE20250 FHH12.9% - EFIRTBETE
AR 20258 F % B T B ERE 202481 F
I EEERE -

Cost of Goods Sold

For FY2025, the cost of goods of the Group sold was
approximately RMB4,323.9 million, representing an
increase of approximately 33.7% from approximately
RMB3,234.0 million for FY2024. This increase was primarily
consistent with the increase in overall sales volume of the
products and the provision of production services.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit of the Group increased by approximately
19.7% from approximately RMB536.5 million for FY2024 to
approximately RMB642.0 million for FY2025. Gross profit
margin decreased from approximately 14.2% for FY2024
to approximately 12.9% for FY2025. The decrease in gross
profit margin was primarily due to lower market price for
most period of FY2025 as compared to the average selling
price in FY2024.

Annual Report 2024/2025 ) MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 13
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Other Income

Other income of the Group increased by approximately
121.7% from approximately RMB9.2 million for FY2024
to approximately RMB20.4 million for FY2025. This
increase was primarily due to an extra deduction of input
value-added tax, which increased by approximately
RMB183.9 million in FY2025.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses, net of reversal of the Group
remained relatively stable from a gain of approximately
RMB5.6 million for FY2024 to a gain of approximately
RMB5.5 million for FY2025.

Impairment Losses under Expected Credit
Loss Model, Net of Reversal

The Group recognised an
approximately RMB4.0 million for FY2025, primarily
attributable to the increase in trade and unbilled
receivables resulting from increased revenue during
FY2025. The Group recognised a reversal of impairment
loss, net, of approximately RMB2.6 million for FY2024 due
to the decrease in trade receivables balances in FY2024.

impairment loss  of

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses of the Group slightly
increased to approximately RMB32.0 million for FY2025,
compared to approximately RMB30.1 million for FY2024,
due to the increase in revenue of the Group.



BEEWED T

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

—RRITHAX

REEMN—BEITHRAZHR2024F FHHAR
03.4 B & TIEINAI46.7% E 2025 FHIH A
R¥137.08 &L TEHREBEIRME -
SREFAREEERIEGN - EHENEEER
BEREIBRAET o

B B 2

AR AEBIFERENEEE - NEEHIFE
S 2024 B F R4 AR MBE30.98 & TiE ML)
12.6% 22025 FMH ARBKE348BETT °

LW

RNEER2025F FIW BES Y © 2024
B ERANEBE2024F3A LTHEELE LA
STHANREELA03BFETT °

LB LEER

AEBEEAECEXER2024HFNEED
ARE6.0AETLIEIN4I345.6% 2= 202581 Gy
BENARK26.7TEETL TE2HREED
X¥tIEEREERIRELHESLEPEDER
BEEEEREBEEENEBENHARE
17 4B 8BTS -

ot 5 A AR

AEBRPEKAB2024 T FHROHARKE19.6
HETIEINA2.0% E 20258 FHLHARE20.0
BEL TERANAEE 2025 FEEEER
EANFTER ©

FRrEHBAX
AEEOMRERAXHA2024 M FNHARY

57.4BBTEMA28.7% E 2025 M FHILIA
R¥73.98ET - 2B RER ()R ATGFE
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group
increased by approximately 46.7% from approximately
RMB93.4 million for FY2024 to approximately RMB137.0
million for FY2025, primarily due to the increase in
business travelling expenses, payroll and welfare and
professional fees, which were in line with the business
development of the Group.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses of the Group
increased by approximately 12.6% from approximately
RMB30.9 million for FY2024 to approximately RMB34.8
million for FY2025 as the Group continued to invest in
research and development activities.

Listing Expenses

The Group incurred no listing expenses for FY2025
compared to approximately RMB40.3 million for FY2024
upon the Group’s listing in March 2024.

Share of Result of A Joint Venture

The Group’s share of results of a joint venture increased
by approximately 345.6%, increasing the loss from
approximately RMB6.0 million for FY2024 to approximately
RMB26.7 million for FY2025, primarily due to a decrease in
sales volume of fertilizer products of the joint venture and
an increase in the share of loss of approximately RMB17.4
million arising from an impairment loss made on plant and
equipment recognized by its joint venture.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group increased by approximately
2.0% from approximately RMB19.6 million for FY2024
to approximately RMB20.0 million for FY2025, primarily
due to an increase in overall borrowings of the Group in
FY2025.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expenses of the Group increased by
approximately 28.7% from approximately RMB57.4 million
for FY2024 to approximately RMB73.9 million for FY2025,
mainly attributable to (i) an increase in profit before tax;
and (ii) a consistent effective tax rate.

Annual Report 2024/2025 ) MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 15
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Profit for FY2025

The net profit of the Group for FY2025 was approximately
RMB339.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately 22.9% as compared with approximately
RMB276.2 million for FY2024. This increase was mainly
due to the following reasons: (i) an increase in the
Group’s revenue and gross profit; (ii) a decrease in
listing expenses after the Group’s listing in March 2024;
and partially offset by (iii) an increase in general and
administrative expenses related to business development;
and (iv) an increase in share of loss of a joint venture.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Group’s total cash and restricted cash balances
increased from approximately RMB964.5 million as at
31 March 2024 to approximately RMB973.6 million as at
31 March 2025. The Group maintained sufficient bank
balances and cash to meet its operational needs.

As at 31 March 2025, the current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB4,447.7 million, primarily
consisting of trade and other receivables and prepayments
of approximately RMB3,180.4 million, and cash and
restricted cash balances of approximately RMB973.6
million. As at 31 March 2025, the current liabilities of the
Group amounted to approximately RMB2,161.9 million,
primarily consisting of contract liabilities of approximately
RMB764.8 million and trade and other payables of
approximately RMB734.2 million. As at 31 March 2025,
the current ratio (the current assets to current liabilities
ratio) of the Group was approximately 2.1 (31 March 2024:
approximately 2.1).
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As at 31 March 2025, the borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB582.3 million (31 March
2024: approximately RMB545.2 million). The increase in
borrowings was mainly attributable to an increase in other
borrowings from sale and leaseback arrangements in
relation to machinery leases. During FY2025, the Group
newly obtained and repaid bank loans and other loans
of approximately RMB469.9 million and approximately
RMB316.8 million, respectively (FY2024: approximately
RMB545.0 million and approximately RMB264.2 million,
respectively).

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio of the Group, which
was calculated on the basis of the amount of total debt as
a percentage of the total equity attributable to owners of
the Company, was approximately 21.3% (31 March 2024
22.3%). The Group maintained a stable gearing ratio
to balance its financial leverage and support business
development.

Capital Expenditures

For FY2025, the -capital expenditures of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB119.8 million, which
were primarily used for construction and development
of a warehousing and production centre of the Group in
Heilongjiang Province, the PRC.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2025.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying value of the
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and restricted
cash of the Group pledged for the Group’s bills payables
and/or deposits for letter of credits and/or the sale and
leaseback transactions was approximately RMB451.3
million (31 March 2024: approximately RMB258.9 million).
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Future Plan for Material Investments and

Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual
report, the Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets.

The Group will continue to explore different investment
opportunities that will add value, with future plans focused
on enhancing production capacity and operational
efficiency. In the event that the Group makes material
investments in the future, further announcement(s) will
be made by the Company as and when appropriate and
necessary.

Significant Investments, Material
Acquisitions and Disposals

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no
significant investments held, no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
nor was there any plan authorised by the Board for other
material investments or additions of capital assets during
FY2025.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The functional currency of the Group is RMB. The majority
of the Group’s revenue and expenditures are denominated
in RMB. The Group also has certain cash and bank
balances and financial assets at FVTPL denominated in
United State dollars and Hong Kong dollars, which would
expose the Group to foreign exchange risk. The Group
currently does not have any foreign currency hedging
policies. The management will continue to monitor the
Group’s foreign exchange risk exposure and consider
adopting prudent measures as appropriate.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for FY2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
21 November 2017 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Cayman Companies Act. The Group is a
national potash fertilizer company in China with sourcing
and procurement, and processing and manufacturing
capacities selling various potash fertilizer products,
including KCL, SOP, NOP and compound fertilizers.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for FY2025 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development
are set out in the sections headed “Chairperson’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 18 of this annual report. Discussion and
information therein form part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS, DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND
POLICY

The consolidation results of the Group for FY2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 80 of this annual
report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a
final dividend of RMBO0.075 per Share for FY2025. The total
amount is approximately RMB68.2 million. The Company
has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. Any amount of dividends the Company pays
will be at the discretion of the Directors and will depend
on the Group’s future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial conditions,
contractual restrictions and any other factors that the
Board may deem relevant.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlements to
attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 19 August 2025 to
Friday, 22 August 2025, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of Shares will be registered and the
record date will be on Friday, 22 August 2025. All Share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant Share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 18 August
2025.

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlements to
the proposed final dividend (subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Thursday, 28 August 2025 to
Tuesday, 2 September 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered and
the record date will be on Tuesday, 2 September 2025. All
Share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
Share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 27 August 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s operating results, assets and
liabilities for the last five financial years is set out on page
205 of this annual report. This summary does not form part
of the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during FY2025 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group
and of the Company during FY2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves, including
the share premium account and accumulated losses,
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with
the Cayman Companies Act, amounted to approximately
RMB592.7 million.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of
environment protection and has not noted any material
incompliance with all relevant laws and regulations
in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment.
The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be
environmentally friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and water according to actual needs, so as to
reduce energy consumption and minimize unnecessary
waste.

Details of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance are disclosed in the environmental, social
and governance report of the Company which is published
simultaneously with this annual report.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2025, the borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB582.3 million (31 March
2024: RMB545.2 million). Details of borrowings of the
Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
listed securities (including the sale of treasury shares (as
defined under the Listing Rules), if any) for FY2025. As at
31 March 2025, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares (as defined under the Listing Rules).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group made donations totaling approximately RMB1.8
million in FY2025 (FY2024: RMB3.1 million).
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in plant and equipment of
the Group during FY2025 are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying value of the
plant and equipment, land-of-use assets and restricted
cash of the Group pledged for the Group’s facilities and/or
the sales and leaseback transactions was approximately
RMB451.3 million (31 March 2024: RMB258.9 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman lIslands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Group did not enter into any equity-linked agreements
for FY2025.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During FY2025, the percentages of purchases from
the Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers
were approximately 24.3% and 73.0%, respectively
(FY2024: approximately 36.6% and 68.0%, respectively).
The percentages of sales attributable to the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers were
approximately 11.7% and 40.4%, respectively (FY2024:
approximately 12.7% and 45.6%, respectively).

Beidahuang Group, a major customer of the Group
during FY2025 and FY2024, is a connected person of the
Group since its subsidiary, Heilongjiang Beidahuang, is
a substantial shareholder of Anda Migao and Baoging
Migao.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors,
their close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
nor any substantial Shareholders have any beneficial
interest in the five largest suppliers or customers of the
Group.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During FY2025 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company in material
respects.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
END

The Group did not have any significant events after 31
March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

On 21 March 2024, the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange, with 225,000,000 Shares issued at an offer
price of HK$4.08 per Share. An additional 8,940,000
Shares were issued at the same price pursuant to the
partial exercise of the over-allotment option on 17 April
2024. The net proceeds from the listing of the Shares on
the Stock Exchange and the net proceeds from the partial
exercise of the over-allotment option (after deducting
underwriting fees and other related expenses) amounted
to approximately HK$798.6 million (the “Net Proceeds”).

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
22 October 2024 and the supplemental announcement
dated 8 November 2024, to utilize the Net Proceeds
more efficiently and facilitate the Group’s development,
the Board resolved on 22 October 2024 to change the
use of the Net Proceeds, considering the infeasibility
of the original plan to establish the New Sichuan
Production Facility, the Group’'s need and strategy to
expand in Asia and the industrialization of the Group’s
research achievements. In particular, the funds originally
designated for the “New Sichuan Production Facility”
were allocated to the “Vietnam Expansion”, and the scope
of the “Upgrading and Replacement of Equipment and
Machinery” was broadened to cover upgrades of and for
all production facilities of the Group other than the Vietnam
Facility.
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The following table sets forth a summary of the utilization

of the Net Proceeds as at 31 March 2025:

LHa%z 20255
BIGNAE FEREFE WFHER  20258F  3ANAN BARY
FEREFERERR fEREM REREAR  HAAEAL  FEALE FBRESE  ABALE BEX
Utilized
Amount from Unutilized
Revised Approximate  the Listing Utilized Amount Expected
Intended Use of Net Allocation of Percentage of Date to end of Amount asat31  Timeline for
Proceeds Purpose for Which They Are Used Net Proceeds Net Proceeds FY2024  For FY2025  March 2025 Utilization
Thn % TEn Fhn i
HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERIARREETD  ERERIARREETD BRABEIDM BEEMEER. 6%
Biftikin - BERBIESN KRR EERA 3A31AZA
Heilongjiang Warehousing ~ Construction of the Heilongjiang Warehousing and Production 360,975 4.2 - 114,285 246,690 By 31 March
and Production Centre Centre, including land acquisition, railway connecting lines 2026
construction, facilities construction, equipment and machinery
acquisition and installation, and miscellaneous costs
HEER BRRFRUMRE AERE DY BRRE  BEREN 20075
BENRZE 3A31BZH
Vieinam Expansion Construction and development of the Vietnam Facility, including 196,459 24.6 - 5882 190,577 By 31 March
land acquisition, facilities construction, and equipment and 2027
machinery acquisition and installation
eIy HERUASEMRR I E0HERL  AEEETH 2006%
BRI RBERBARE 3A31BZA
Research and Funding for establishing the Group’s R&D Centre in Sichuan 113,408 142 - - 113,403 By 31 March
Development Centre Province, including land acquisition, construction costs and 2026
equipment and machinery acquisition
FREERZEARE THREEREERE MINE EER 20265
3R31AZA
Upgrading and Upgrading of and for all production facilities of the 47917 6.0 - 23,546 24,311 By 31 March
Replacement of Group other than the Vietnam Facility 2026
Equipment and Machinery
-hRegEe RERNERE S RAN- RO ERE iR
General Working Capital  Allocation for additional working capital and other general 79,862 100 - 79,862 - Not
corporate purposes Applicable
Eh
Total 798,616 100.0 - 223,575 575,041

BRIFRBEMAAIARNER - TRIERME
RAFENEHRRERDERESTNREMR
it WAMRIER SO B R R R M)

The expected timeline to use the Net Proceeds is based
on the Directors’ best estimation, barring any unforeseen
circumstances, and it may be subject to change based on

the future development of market conditions.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company for FY2025 and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Guocai (chairperson and chief executive officer)
Mr. Sun Pingfu (research and development director)
Mr. Dong Benzi (internal control director)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Guofu
Ms. Huang Shasha
Ms. Qing Meyerson

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 39 to 45
in this annual report.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report,
the Company is not aware of any other changes to the
Directors’ or chief executive's information as required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules for FY2025 and up to the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Liu Guocai, Mr. Sun Pingfu and Mr. Dong
Benzi, being the executive Director, has entered into a
service contract with the Company, pursuant to which they
have agreed to act as the executive Directors for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date and will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other, which notice shall not expire until after
the fixed term.

Each of Mr. Chen Guofu, Ms. Huang Shasha and Ms.
Qing Meyerson, being the independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company, pursuant to which they have agreed to act as
the independent non-executive Directors for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date and
will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has entered into any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance was entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during FY2025 or subsisted at the end of the year and
no contract of significance for the provision of services
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into during FY2025 or subsisted at the end of the
year.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the
Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting
during or at the end of FY2025.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are decided by the Board with reference
to the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.
Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of
the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

For FY2025, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has
waived any emoluments for FY2025.

Save as disclosed above, no other payments have been
made or are payable, for FY2025, by the Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2025, none of the Directors or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business that competed or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group, other than being a director of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does
not have any disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20,
13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and letters of
appointment, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group was entered into or in existence as
at the end of FY2025 or at any time during FY2025.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During FY2025, the Group had not made any loan or
provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management of the Company, the
controlling Shareholders or their respective connected
persons.

EEPRESTHASRKS - 188  DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
RORBEBOESRAR INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
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SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests



EHRHIFEI2HAFENERMANER AR
SRR L AR R EXCIPAEIR T RIZAE S TTAN
EARA LB EDR AR

EEEHE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:

(=R VNSl e

®E B EntE et BB BMaoBase
Approximate

percentage of

Number of shareholding in

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares(” the Company®

BIE A ot

Mr. Liu Guocai®
Hiat
(1) FEILIBERARGRMD ZHE °

(2) i Migao  BVIBIET A B 1T % FAMigao
Barbados## * fiMigao Barbados 8/ & 2|
Bl S5 h - BURERF S RAIEES - 21E
A 54 K Migao Barbadost i A Migao
BVIABRMD P A E -

(3) AOLIRER2025F3 A31 HE BT D &
£7908,940,000 %51 & o

Br EXXCFTiEEESN - 202543831 H © AR
AEEARSTHABBENR AR AR G
EB (EERFBSHLEEEMEXVER) HIRM
HERNDIEST  BERWE R AEBRESR
H R EEGEDIEXVIET7 R8N EBBME AR F]
MEEZ MRS SOA R (RIERIEES &
ERPBREBNEEREFEIRAEBENER
ExE) B IREESF R BEIEGIEI521578
ARERELMANERIAE  AHEEREE
EFRIBNEARNR B KRB R SAR °

NEEE 2 Em
Interest in controlled corporation

675,000,000 (L) 74.26%

Notes:
(1) The Letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

(2) As all the issued shares of Migao BVI is held by Migao
Barbados which in turn is held by Mr. Liu Guocai, each
of Mr. Liu Guocai and Migao Barbados is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Migao BVI by virtue of the
SFO.

(3) The percentages were calculated based on the total
number of 908,940,000 issued Shares as at 31 March
2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Name of Substantial
Shareholders

Migao Barbados®
Migao Barbados®

Migao BVI®? BEmEBA
Migao BVI® Beneficial owner
Wit -

(1) FEILERARRRMD 2R -

(2) M Migao BVIHIFTA 2 #THH B Migao
Barbados# % * fiMigao Barbados 8| /H 2|
B A - BUIRERHE S RAIEES - 2E
744 B Migao Barbados? iR A Migao
BVIABRMDPHEE

(3) AOIRER 20253 A31 HE BT D &
£/908,940,000 % 5+ & -
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Capacity/Nature of interest

RERPEE 2w
Interest in controlled corporation

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

Interests and short positions of the
substantial Shareholders in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 March 2025, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the following persons (other than being a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO:

1h 72 B IR RE
BRBEDEE
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company®

RAZEE®

Number of Shares”

675,000,000 (L) 74.26%

675,000,000 (L) 74.26%

(1) The Letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

(2) As all the issued shares of Migao BVI is held by Migao
Barbados which in turn is held by Mr. Liu Guocai, each
of Mr. Liu Guocai and Migao Barbados is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Migao BVI by virtue of the
SFO.

(3) The percentages were calculated based on the total
number of 908,940,000 issued Shares as at 31 March
2025.



% 15 5 &l

RARIR202243 23 B A KFHME X AR
BERIEIRERT S - H8MN2023F4 A18HR
BESEMAZERILE - ARRTEREEX
AHABEEREFSREIAER D TAE
BEAE - RWAFRAE - ARE) W ERHE MR

(ZELE [

BEROIEERNRE

ARAE - BEBRAR S EAERNERARER
2025 FEMFRIAS EEMLH - BEES
38 38 W B AN A B ST ] E X B H B 0 SRS
Er (BIEERR) MESHE -

& & %N & B 1%

MR2025F3H31H  REBHE428%EE o
2025 FHEBEMABEANAEARKBLI9EE
UL 2024 FH A AREG6.3IBETT - K&
BERENFMEENZ2ERBMAER - £% - &
|/ HWAEENERRRITMEKEETE - &
EEMREEIXNEAG S RERTTEL - AEH
ABHEELEHFEMAIBRFAEENZELAS
REE  RETE &2 BERBLELE
R WEZBHTERMER  WAIBEKXRA
HBREERPEEEREZRAEHEERNEERT

BE A

EEEHE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SHARE SCHEMES

The Company conditionally adopted a Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme on 23 March 2022 and it was subsequently
terminated pursuant to the written resolution of the
Directors on 18 April 2023. No option had been granted
or agreed to be granted by the Company pursuant to the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. No other share schemes
has been adopted by the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2025 was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities
including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND
RELATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 428

employees. The total staff cost for FY2025 was
approximately RMB84.9 million, as compared to
approximately RMB66.3 million for FY2024. The

remuneration packages of the Group’s employees are
determined with reference to individual qualification,
experience, performance, contribution to the Group
and prevailing market rate. The Group remunerates
its employees with basic salaries as well as
performance-based bonuses. The Group participates in a
variety of social security plans for its employees that are
administered by the PRC local governments, including
housing, pension, medical insurance and unemployment
insurance, and the Group made contributions to employee
benefit plans for its employees as required by local
authorities in accordance with applicable PRC laws and
regulations in all material respects.
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To ensure equal opportunities for all the Group’s
employees, the Group has implemented merit-based
promotion mechanism. The Group examines its employees’
performance regularly and promote its employees based
on their job performance. The Group also provides its
employees with a variety of trainings, which are tailored to
each job functions and a set of responsibilities to enhance
performance. Furthermore, the Group have established a
labor union for its employees, and each production facility
has a labor union head to collect feedback from local
employees.

The Group believes that it maintains a good working
relationship with the Group’s employees, and the Group
has not experienced any material labor disputes during
FY2025.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group's employees in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC employees are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to these retirement
benefits schemes is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.
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The Group’s employees in Hong Kong participate in a
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
which the assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control
of independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
contributions are made based on a percentage of the
participating employees’ relevant income from the Group
and the only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under
the MPF Scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as the transactions contemplated under the
Beidahuang Framework Sales Agreement (as defined
below) as set out below, during FY2025, the Group had
not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that are not exempt from annual
reporting requirement in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement

On 29 February 2024, the Company and Beidahuang
Modern Agricultural Services entered into a framework sale
agreement (“Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement’),
pursuant to which, the Group will provide supply of the
potash fertilizer products to Beidahuang Group.
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Major terms of such agreement are summarised below:

HARR -

Term:

SRR ML RE
Supply of potash
fertilizer products:

==

EE

Pricing:

XA

Payment terms:

Termination:

EATERBERZES FTAARE20265F 12 A31HAM
The Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement shall commence from the Listing Date to
31 December 2026

AEEREFENEERE TIEARER
The Group agrees to sell the Group’s potash fertilizer products to Beidahuang Group

AEBHEHFEERNER  B2ENAEEELURRERNELESE ()RR MARE
BB = (AEERIEARFTERRBRIN) SHERLRREROER © (i) BLUERIEE R R
mE: R(VEREEERE ETRAUNBKTE (E) MEE

BRERE  BAMNHEERNEEBATAE  RNASEAE R —MEKBEPIRES
HEEFERRETL - BRFERNEE MR BN

The price at which the Group will sell its potash fertilizer products shall be determined
with reference to (i) the Group’s historical selling price of similar potash fertilizer
products; (ii) its selling price of similar potash fertilizer products to independent third
parties other than the Group and Beidahuang Group during the same period; (iii) the
domestic market price of similar potash fertilizer products; and (iv) the requirements
of the applicable laws and regulations and the Listing Rules (if any)

For the avoidance of doubt, the selling price of the potash fertilizer products shall
be fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms or better and in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, and in the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole

BEBILATEREE DS BHEEAEENEERERNMENRERBERZTEISIL
COEAVASICEES /S X N

All payments in relation to the sale of the Group’s potash fertilizer products pursuant
to the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement shall be payable in accordance to
terms of the individual contracts entered into for each transaction

itk;.ﬁ[ SHEMEMEEES  BEE()ARIERBESHEER  (VEEFEARER
() RBREEEM S EBVAR SRR TE R E ¢ (iv)B PR EHE KTRIER I E &
IETFZ‘F%LX%E’J AGR SR~ BB SN  S(v)IERRIERHE R R PR ERE
RHREERE EmRRIERE
The Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement shall continue to be in force until (i)
the expiry of the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement; (ii) termination by mutual
agreement of the parties in writing; (iii) termination by laws, regulations, or the
determination of a competent court or arbitration institution; (iv) the waiver from
the Stock Exchange in relation to the continuing connected transactions under
the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement having been invalidated, withdrawn
or revoked; or (v) the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement and the continuing
connected transactions therein failed to satisfy the requirements under the Listing
Rules
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Reasons for the Transactions

It is beneficial to enter into the Beidahuang Framework
Sale Agreement as the transactions contemplated therein
have facilitated, and will continue to facilitate, the overall
operations and growth of the Group’s business. It is
also expected that the transactions contemplated under
the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement will further
deepen the Group’s collaboration and ensure efficient
cooperation between the Group and Beidahuang Group.
A long-term framework sale arrangement with Beidahuang
Group ensures a stable demand of the Group’s potash
fertilizer products, which provides a great level of certainty
in the Group’s business growth and future strategic and
operational planning.

Estimated Annual Caps

The total annual sale amount to Beidahuang Group by the
Group under the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement
for FY2025 was RMB582.0 million, which did not exceed
the estimated annual cap of RMB879.0 million for FY2025.
The estimated total annual sale amount to Beidahuang
Group by the Group under the Beidahuang Framework
Sale Agreement will not exceed RMB923.0 million for
FY2026.

Listing Rule Implications and Waivers from the Stock
Exchange

Beidahuang Modern Agricultural Services is the immediate
holding company of Heilongjiang Beidahuang, which is in
turn a substantial shareholder of the Group’s subsidiaries,
and therefore, Beidahuang Modern Agricultural
Services and its subsidiaries are connected persons
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the transactions contemplated under the Beidahuang
Framework Sale Agreement will constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules upon Listing. As such, the
Group has applied to the Stock Exchange, and the Stock
Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance
with the announcement requirement under Rule 14A.105
in respect of the transactions underlying the Beidahuang
Framework Sale Agreement, on the basis that (i) the
Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that (a) the transactions have
been and will be entered into in the ordinary and usual
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course of the Company’s business, are conducted on
normal commercial terms or better, and the terms of
which are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole; and (b) the
annual caps for the transactions are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole; and (ii) the Company will comply with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules apart from the announcement requirement for which
the waiver has been sought.
Annual Review by the Non-Executive
Directors and Auditor

Independent

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement and confirmed
that:

(1). the transactions carried out during FY2025 had
been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Beidahuang Framework Sale
Agreement;

(2). other than the Beidahuang Framework Sale
Agreement, no new contracts had been entered
into, renewed and/or reproduced between the
Group and Beidahuang Modern Agricultural
Services during FY2025; and

(38). the Beidahuang Framework Sale Agreement had
been entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group, are on normal commercial
terms and are fair and reasonable so far as the
Group is concerned, and in the interest of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s
Letter on continuing connected transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors
have issued its unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions set out above in accordance with Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for
FY2025 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report.

During FY2025, Daxing Migao entered into a lease
agreement with Huantaiyang Zunyi, the transaction
comtemplated under which constituted a connected
transaction exempt from the connected transaction
requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in this annual report, none of the related
party transactions constituted a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Board,
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital held by the public as required under the
Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors
are entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their respective offices,
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach
to such Director. The Company has purchased and
maintained Directors’ liability insurance during FY2025,
which provides appropriate coverage for the Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by
the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 46 to 72.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
FY2025.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditors since the Listing
Date. The consolidated financial statements for FY2025
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
Certified Public Accountants, who are proposed for
reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Guocai
Chairperson,
Director

Chief Executive Officer and Executive

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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AEEBRMEERSREREBENT - Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and
senior management of the Group.
=E DIRECTORS

EFZHABRARESTEK  BE-RZNTE The Board currently comprises six Directors, of which

ENM=ZEBUIFRTES - TRITEUES three are executive Directors and three are independent

BH} o non-executive Directors. The following table sets forth
information regarding the Directors.

" Fie B BZEERESHY

Name Age Position Date of Appointment as Director

HITES

Executive Directors

21 kA& 607% EERER  THEIFERTES 201711 A21H

Mr. Liu Guocai 60 Chairperson, chief executive officer 21 November 2017
and executive Director

BEREE 605% HITEFRIEAE 202293 A23H

Mr. Sun Pingfu 60 Executive Director and research and 23 March 2022
development director

EAREELE 355% PITERFRARE EE 202243 A23A

Mr. Dong Benzi 35 Executive Director and internal 23 March 2022
control director

BYEHITES

Independent non-executive Directors

PR B3 48 55 A4 74755 BIUFRTES 202452 A28H

Mr. Chen Guofu 74 Independent non-executive Director 28 February 2024

357 Y ATH% BIFATEE 2024452 A28H

Ms. Huang Shasha 47 Independent non-executive Director 28 February 2024

Qing Meyerson% =+ 597% BWAIEBMITESE 202442 A28H

Ms. Qing Meyerson 59 Independent non-executive Director 28 February 2024
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HITES

BIEA KL 60 ANTEF EFFERE
RAREAIGE  ARARENEERER
BREREBES - BRENAREEEE]
J& o

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Guocai (2lEBl7), aged 60, is an executive
Director, the chairperson of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Group, responsible for the overall
strategic planning and day-to-day business operation
of the Group. Mr. Liu is also the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

B EEEFRAEARD © Malaysia  Migao Mr. Liu serves as a director of Malaysia Migao, Malaysia
International + &K= » Migao  Overseas Migao International, HK Migao, Migao Overseas Holdings

Holdings MG DMCCHIEE ° 2|5 A IR EE
AN EETRLE - BItAEaEEE - B
MR RABEE P EEABBE20F K
RE o FERISE AN 2003FE K AEE AT R
199349 A E2003F6 A » HiIEEEEE(LE
TEEHORFAERS AR (—REENELT
EmERORRR])BLIE o

B EM1987F7 AR TEAMER GRER
IREB) IXHERABZEFIEARER - IR
1999F 6 AMBEERNBLEESHERIEX
B o BN 200261 B ENMERKEEST
BEIRE T B - HMN1992F8 A EFEIFEE
BABEREREETREMESE - 2EER2025
FAREZMATREHE T iR ERpET
¥regEnEEEeRerR -

BRYEERLE 605 RUTEERAKENH
BE BREBEAKBRMEAIE  UES
B

FRAEEEE KA DRKE » Malaysia  Migao
International ~ X@tEALMKE + Migao
Overseas Holdings&Migao Overseas
IndustryB) & 5 o RS04 TR K & 42 A #B
AR - RAELE(BITEORMAE - &
EEENERERETEEABBI1IFHLR -
EMAKREE 2R - WN198457 AE2007F
BABEE ARG M BRMATP ORI
B AR I TAEREZ R TR RE
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and MG DMCC. Mr. Liu also serves as the managing
director of Singapore Migao. Mr. Liu has over 20 years
of experience in the production, trading, research and
development of chemical fertilizers and related projects.
Prior to founding the Group in 2003, from September
1993 to June 2003, he served as the general manager of
Liaoning Chemical Industry Import and Export Corporation
of the Shenyang Branch (EEASETEEL O RRIESD
‘A 7\]), a company principally engaged in the import and
export of chemical products.

Mr. Liu obtained a university diploma in industrial and civil
architecture from Jianghan Petroleum Institute (now known
as Yangtze University) in July 1987, and a post-graduate
diploma in economics from Liaoning University in
June 1999. He also obtained a Master of Business
Administration at California American University in January
2002. He was certified as a construction engineer by the
Personnel Department of Liaoning Province (EZEE ASE
E2) of the PRC in August 1992. Mr. Liu was appointed
as the vice president of the Fifth Council of Potassium
Industry Sub-council of the China Inorganic Salts Industry
Association (PRI T iy fEfETX e FR/EE
£&) in April 2025.

Mr. Sun Pingfu (#F%&), aged 60, is an executive Director
and the research and development director of the Group,
responsible for supervising domestic and international
research collaborations and leading technological
development efforts.

Mr. Sun serves as a director of Malaysia Migao, Malaysia
Migao International, Migao Century (Chengdu), Migao
Overseas Holdings and Migao Overseas Industry. Mr.
Sun also serves as the general manager of Migao Century
(Chengdu). Mr. Sun has over 31 years of experience in
technology development, production management and
project management in the chemical industry. Prior to
joining our Group, from July 1984 to March 2007, he
worked as a research analyst at the Luoyang Economic
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tESRELEECEERHAF - B3I
ZEBRATINGBEREENLTAR AR - &
S B 20079 AE2015F 12 AEEN)IIKS
RT3 S EE -

B ER1984F7 A 22X MEHEAZE (IRTE
JIIRE)  EEEBIREBTEM - BEER
1903F 1 AR A ASEESEETEME
7 o

EARELE S5m0 RATEFHRAKEANK
EHEE  BREEEAKENRNIZEHEER -

BEREDEEARERSHNBMEEE - 12010
FE7AMAKRER - EEN)IKS O ETEFEAR
EBIEEIE - B2013FE5 AE 2016498 « HiE
AERFEENPIEEEFRABIEHBEE -

BRAER2011F6 ANSARERSSHEE -

i

BYFYITES

REBALE 7450 RBUFHNTES AR
EBEEeURERMBIHE - RELTR
ERZBEE FHERESRREEZEENKE -

FREEAEMETITEEB A1 FLE - 519844
11 AE 199949 7 BRI EEZ BT S0P A
BEECETE BREETHFEARLMB LS
TEF(RBEPEARENBERGHMEET
¥R)MEREER HAEEM - hELEET
2RNT (RREPRIEBTIREEEGRARF)F
HEZ((BEZDBECURETEEERSHIE
EEBEAMBIME - B199949 A ZE 2009412
A BREENETHFEALERDEEEQA

and Technological Research Centre (J%R5 T &85 BT
st Ly), and has worked at chemical plants such as
Sichuan General Chemical Plant (PQ)I{t T#®%) and
other companies principally engaged in the production
of fertilizer products, including Chuanhua Weizhisu Co.,
Ltd. (JIMEEE 2 ZAB R A7) and Mianyang Vanetta Chemical
Industrial Co., Ltd. (&EEEEZEMLTAERAF). From
September 2007 to December 2015, Mr. Sun served as
the head of the technology research and development
department of Sichuan Migao.

Mr. Sun graduated from the University of Science
and Technology of Chengdu (now known as Sichuan
University) with an undergraduate degree in chemical
engineering in July 1984. Mr. Sun obtained his chemical
engineer qualification from the Personnel Department of
Sichuan Province in January 1993.

Mr. Dong Benzi (EZ#¥), aged 35, is an executive
Director and the internal control director of the Group,
responsible for the management of the internal controls of
the Group. Mr. Dong is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Dong also serves as the head of finance at Daxing
Migao. Mr. Dong joined the Group in July 2010, where he
served as an accountant and internal control officer of
Sichuan Migao. From May 2013 to September 2016, he
served as the head of finance and internal control director
at Huantaiyang Zunyi.

Mr. Dong obtained a diploma in accounting from Xihua
University in June 2011.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Guofu (FREIfE), aged 74, is an independent
non-executive Director, responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgement to the Board. Mr. Chen
is also a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Chen has over 41 years of experience in chemical
industry. From November 1984 to September 1999, Mr.
Chen served at several government departments and
state-owned enterprises, including as the deputy director
of the secretariat, the director of the general office of the
Ministry of Chemical Industry of the PRC (## AR ANE
{LE T 26), now known as the State Bureau of Petroleum
and Chemical Industry of the PRC (FZEARKMBIERA
SHAEE T 2 E), the deputy secretary of the Committee of
the Communist Party of China (the “CPC Committee”) of
China Chemical Engineering Corporation (FRE{LE T 242
A\]), now known as China National Chemical Engineering
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Group Corporation Ltd. (RE{LZ2TIEEEARAF) and
the deputy head of the Haixi Mongol Tibetan Autonomous
Prefecture of Qinghai Province (5/8% 85Xt ikE & EA
). From September 1999 to December 2009, Mr. Chen
also served as the deputy secretary of the CPC Committee
and the deputy general manager of the Sinopec Group
Material Equipment Co., Ltd. (FEIG{LEEMEEERR).
Mr. Chen has been working in the China Inorganic Salts
Industry Association (HEIEH#EE T 2 173&) (“CISIA”) since
August 2013. He served as the secretary general of the
Potassium Industry Sub-council of CISIA (P B EE T %
e REFIEITES®) from June 2014 to April 2025, and
the on-site vice president and secretary general of the
Potassium Industry Sub-council of CISIA from July 2017
to April 2025. He has been the on-site vice president and
secretary general of CISIA since September 2015 and
was also elected as the honorary president of CISIA in
December 2021.

Mr. Chen has been serving as an independent director
of Kingenta Ecological Engineering Group Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Shenzhen stock exchange (stock
code: 002470), since February 2020.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor of engineering from the
East China Institute of Chemical Engineering (¥®R{tT
EfT), now known as East China University of Science
and Technology (ZERIET KEZ) in January 1977. He is
qualified as a senior engineer in December 1995 by the
then Ministry of Chemical Industry of the PRC (AR
B {1 B2 T 2 25F).

Ms. Huang Shasha (£%3), aged 47, is an independent
non-executive Director, responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgement to the Board. Ms. Huang
is also the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee,
and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.

Ms. Huang has substantial experience in equity
investments and capital markets. From November 2009
to October 2018, Ms. Huang was employed by ICBC
International Holdings Limited and her last position
was executive director in the equity capital markets
department of the corporate finance and capital market
services division. Since November 2018, Ms. Huang has
been serving as the managing director of the investments
bank department of Mirae Asset Securities (HK) Limited,
a subsidiary of Mirae Asset Securities Co., Ltd which is
listed on the Korea Stock Exchange (stock code: 6800.
KS). Since April 2024, Ms. Huang has been serving as an
executive director of Mirae Asset Securities (HK) Limited.

Ms. Huang obtained a bachelor of business administration
at the Noordelijke Hogeschool Leeuwarden in the
Netherlands in January 2003, a master of environmental
business administration MBA at the University of Twente
in the Netherlands in June 2004, and a master of business
administration at the University of Oxford in June 2009.



EERSREEERE

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Qing MeyersonZ =+ ' 595% * AB IEHTT
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ABEHEAR—INASE) NEHEE RIS
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KHZHRMBEEA - 52022612 %2024
F1H > MeyersonZtHEFA—REFREDE
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EEE N AICBC GroupHEEZEAE A °

MeyersonZ £ 19994F 1 B EBEREFH A
BeBEE4 BT - MeyersonZ+ B 200143
ARAMEAMNSHZESNEMEFTAm - I
B2002F 12 AR RERTMEHEEE -

Ms. Qing Meyerson, aged 59, is an independent
non-executive Director, responsible for supervising
and providing independent judgment to the Board. Ms.
Meyerson is also the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

Ms. Meyerson has over 26 years of experience in
strategic planning, financial reporting and operation
management in various industries, including public
accounting, pharmaceutical and automotive industries.
From September 1999 to September 2008 and from
October 2008 to May 2011, Ms. Meyerson was employed
by KPMG LLP in the U.S. and KPMG Huazhen in the PRC,
respectively, and her last position was senior manager in
the audit department. Ms. Meyerson then joined General
Motors Company (“GM”) with her last position being the
president and chief financial officer of FAW-GM, a joint
venture between GM and First Automobile Works, from
June 2011 to June 2017. From June 2017 to April 2020,
Ms. Meyerson was the head of finance and administration
of the PRC and Hong Kong arms of Bristol-Myers Squibb,
a multinational pharmaceutical company and she was
the global finance leader of Bristol-Myers Squibb -
Celgene acquisition integration team from April 2020 to
August 2021. From December 2022 to January 2024, Ms.
Meyerson served as the chief financial officer of Hasten
Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a biopharmaceutical start-up
in the PRC. Since February 2024, Ms. Meyerson has been
serving as an independent non-executive director of
The Planting Hope Company Inc., a foodtech innovation
company listed on TSX Venture Exchange (stock code:
MYLK) and the OTCQB Venture Market (stock code:
MYLKF). Ms. Meyerson has been serving as an executive
director of Shanghai Maiersheng Business Consulting
Co., Ltd. (E8BmM B S%AAER A R]) since March 2024,
She has also been serving as an operating partner of
CBC Group, Asia’s largest healthcare-dedicated asset
management firm, since April 2025.

Ms. Meyerson obtained a bachelor of science in
accounting at Monmouth University in the U.S. in
January 1999. Ms. Meyerson has been a certified public
accountant of the New Jersey State Board of Accountancy
since March 2001, and a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since December 2002.

Annual Report 2024/2025 ) MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 43



\’!’/",/I:

//,
Ve

\i

as® -
srsrssZ

wes*

ESERSREEERE

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SNEEE

A/ELL 7058 AREENERVEEA
I EAEENBEREBY B LERER - 8|
I EASE BN ERE - AT RAREIES
B °

H\m \Dm

Rzt RERERAENES  UELTERSR

EBEARDES - FTETERASHRIEL

BRHBEE  EEASHNEBEENRTEE

BT ESH AV BEE S EEARBIESS

FHEE o EIMARKE 2R - 120172000

¢6ﬂ 2004F5 AFEAESEXKKLEER AR
DA (—RETERECERRIEEE DEBEN
NENKIGEEE

2|4+ 19884 4 A HXHLmé PHENAE
EE 3% M Bh IR 2 5T AT B A5 3B

RE\EXRELE 605 RAKEHERE A5
AEBFERNBEANHEE -

NEEBREREKSNESERABRSNES
GEIERE - 171‘5‘655/\2004¢6)5UJD)\$%3£
BEMIKEREESRIRLIE - 52010F6
HZE2021F10A8 - f&ﬁ:E&m‘i%%E@%@@

B o R2018F8 A E2020F6 A @ HIELEME
BEZMNESE BEEMRBEE - MhA4EEEL

FErTEBARBBI2FELR - EMAREERZ
Bl - YA B 198349 A E2003F12 AEE M

BEEMBEPC TR (—H ﬁ’é%ﬂ:l&%i&
B TR EES ERA - SEEEHEHNLRE -

A AER2000F6 A B &N KEESIT

HE B

44 XKEEEERERLT @ T 2024/2025

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Liu Yaqin (2|#Z), aged 70, is the chief financial
officer of the Group, responsible for the overall financial
and capital management of the Group. Ms. Liu is also
responsible for the financial reporting, internal audit and
internal control management of the Group.

Ms. Liu serves as a director of Changchun Migao, and a
supervisor of Anda Migao and Baoging Migao. She also
serves as the deputy general manager and the head of
finance of Guangdong Migao, deputy general manager
and the head of finance of Changchun Migao. Ms. Liu has
over 35 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Liu was the
head of accounting of Liaoning Yongcheng Economy &
Trade Development Co., Ltd. GEZEXKLZEERER AT,
a company principally engaged in the import and export
of chemicals and fertilizers, from June 2000 to May 2004.

Ms. Liu obtained an assistant accountant qualification
certificate issued by the Liaoning Province of the
Department of Finance and the Office of Personnel in April
1988.

Mr. Fu Yangmei ({1 2), aged 60, is the sales director of
the Group responsible for the domestic sales of the potash
products of the Group.

Mr. Fu serves as a director of Daxing Migao, and a vice
chairperson of the board at Daxing Migao. Mr. Fu joined
the Group in June 2004 where he served as a deputy
general manager of the sales department of Sichuan
Migao. From June 2010 to October 2021, he served
as the general manager of Huantaiyang Zunyi. From
August 2018 to June 2020, he served as a director of
Yunnan EuroChem, where he was responsible for the
product sales. Mr. Fu has over 12 years of experience
in the fertilizer industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr.
Fu served various positions including manager of the
sales department of Guizhou Zunyi Soda Plant Zhucheng
Chemical Factory (E/M&ERmEEMICIRE), a factory
engaged in the production of chemical products, from
September 1983 to December 2003.

Mr. Fu obtained a diploma in administration management
from Guizhou University in June 2000.
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Mr. Liu Xuebin (2I2#/), aged 51, is the head of
production (Northern region of China) of the Group,
responsible for the overall production management in the
Northern region of China.

Mr. Liu serves as the general manager of Changchun
Migao. He joined the Group in January 2006 as the head
of production of Guangdong Migao and was the head of
production of Changchun Migao from December 2007
to April 2008. Mr. Liu has over 21 years of experience
in the production, operation and project management of
chemical fertilizers. Prior to joining the Group, he was
a production workshop leader of Heilongjiang Qihua
Chlor-alkali Plant (BEIEE/{LEME) from August
1991 to July 2000, and a production workshop leader
of Heilongjiang Qihua Potassium Sulphate Plant (28T
B EEER) from July 2000 to June 2006 where he
participated in the construction of potassium sulphate
plant and equipment installation, and was responsible
for formulating the operational plan and procedures of
potassium sulphate production.

Mr. Liu obtained an instrument professional diploma (&
REER) in chemical instrument from Heilongjiang
Qigihar Labour Bureau Technical School (ZZEILBEMK
BB BEAR) in July 1992 and a professional diploma in
chemical technology from Heilongjiang Qigihar Television
Broadcasting University (BEIEMBHEREEARE) in
August 1992.

Mr. Shi Wenguo (AEE), aged 54, is the head of
production (Southern region of China) of the Group,
responsible for the overall production management in the
Southern region of China.

Mr. Shi serves as the general manger of Yunnan
EuroChem. Mr. Shi has over 20 years of experience in the
production of fertilizer products. From September 1993
to December 2015, he served various position at Luliang
Longhai Chemical Co., Ltd. (ERESBIEIABRETAA)
(“Longhai Chemical”), a company principally engaged
in production and sale of fertilizer products, such as
the plant manager of a nitrogen fertilizer plant, deputy
general manager, general manager and deputy chief of
the relocation and construction department. Mr. Shi joined
the Group in January 2016 and was seconded to Yunnan
EuroChem where he served as the chief engineer and later
as the deputy manager of the manufacture department.

Mr. Shi obtained a diploma in mechanical and electrical
engineering from Yunnan Radio and Television University
(EFEEEEIEAZE) (now known as Yunnan Open University
(EFFABCKE)) in July 1993. He also obtained an engineer
qualification from the Personnel Department of Qujing city
in July 2004.
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company for FY2025.

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes
that Shareholder wealth will be maximized in the long term
and that its employees, those with whom it does business
and the communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs
with a view to ensuring that its objectives are met. The
Board is committed to maintaining and developing robust
corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

returns to

- satisfactory and sustainable

Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the
Company are safeguarded; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of Shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices during
FY2025.
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The Board is of the view that throughout FY2025, the
Company has complied with the code provisions as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code, save for
deviation from Code C.2.1 as disclosed in this Corporate
Governance Report regarding the segregation of the
roles of the chairperson of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Group. The Board will continue to review
and monitor the practices of the Company with an aim of
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1
Governance Code, the responsibilities between the
chairperson and the chief executive officer should
be segregated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The Group does not have a separate
chairperson and chief executive officer as Mr. Liu Guocai
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both chairperson and chief executive
officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the
Group. The Board considers that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired
and this structure will enable the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and effectively given that
(i) decisions to be made by the Board requires approval
by at least a majority of the Directors and that the Board
comprises three independent non-executive Directors out
of six Directors and the Group believes there is sufficient
check and balance on the Board; (ii) Mr. Liu Guocai and
the other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil
their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among
other things, that he/she acts for the benefit and in the
best interests of the Company and will make decisions of
the Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operations of the Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals who
meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations
of the Group. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of chairperson of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company at a time when
it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

of the Corporate
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
assumes responsibility for its leadership and control and
be collectively responsibility for promoting the Company’s
success by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. Directors take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business and regularly reviews the contribution
required from a Director to perform his/her responsibilities
to the Company and whether the Director is spending
sufficient time performing them that are commensurate
with their role and the Board responsibilities. The Board
includes a balanced composition of executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors so that there is
a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting
of three executive Directors, and three independent
non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board is
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Guocai (chairperson and chief executive officer)
Mr. Sun Pingfu (research and development director)
Mr. Dong Benzi (internal control director)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Guofu
Ms. Huang Shasha
Ms. Qing Meyerson

The biographical information of the Directors is set out
in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 39 to 45 of this annual report for
FY2025.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the
Directors and members of senior management has any
financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship with any other Directors or members of senior
management.
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Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance
Records

ExgTHAaA E%& —T—Lfif | The Board meets regularly either in person or through
WAEEMERER ERMBRIR - BE electronic means of communication to discuss the overall
202593 A31H Jtif‘ (|)§5%TTT£/A§$A strategy as well as the operation and financial performance
g WHE (HPBIE) 20240 FMEEE of the Group. During the year ended 31 March 2025,

BRRE (VBT THAEZEESSH I
EBH (HPBE)2024 FHFEEBENRREI
RIS R ERERRL ¢ ((i)897 7 — R
HEEEgE MM TEURTESNEL
. EZREENERLENESSNERE R
AR (iv)%ﬁT /A#JT@M?EQQE& ]I
EWNNTES NS REEABNTING
(VBITTRRRE 8 kE) L@E@@% '
WEHBIRE S REAHREMERE Lk
EREERIES  c SESEE2025%3H31H
IFEESESSE EEZEegEMRE
REHHFEIERETIEAT :

(i) five Board meetings was held and approved, among
others, the annual results and report for FY2024; (ii) four
Audit Committee meetings were held and reviewed, among
others, the annual results and report for FY2024 and the
internal control and risk management systems; (iii) one
Nomination Committee meeting was held and assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
considered the re-election of Directors and reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (iv) one
Remuneration Committee meeting was held and reviewed
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
senior management; and (v) two ESG Committee meetings
were held and reviewed, among others, the environmental,
social, and governance (“ESG") policy and ESG-related
performance. The attendance record of each Director
at the Board meetings, Board committees meetings and
general meeting for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set

Board Members

I k=

Mr. Liu Guocai
HEBEE

Mr. Sun Pingfu
AR S A

Mr. Dong Benzi

PR B4R S A

Mr. Chen Guofu
=SSR L

Ms. Huang Shasha
Qing MeyersonZ &
Ms. Qing Meyerson

Exg

Board

5/5
5/5
4/5
4/5
5/5
5/5
4/5
4/5
4/5
4/5
4/5
4/5

out as follows:

BRUHE FERHERE
Number of Meeting Attended/Eligible Attended
RIE - HE

EREEE FMEES REZEE RERZERS BRERRE
Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG General
Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
I3 A TEA 1/1 2/2 1/1

N/A N/A 1/1 2/2 1/1

TiEA TiEA TiEA 2/2 11

N/A N/A N/A 2/2 11

TiEA 11 TiE A 36 A 1/1

N/A 11 N/A N/A 11

4/4 11 11 TiE A /100

4/4 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1Nete)

4/4 11 11 TiE A 1)1

4/4 11 1/1 N/A 1/1vete)

4/4 @A @M TiE A 17102

4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/ (Note)
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Note: Mr. Chen Guofu, Ms. Huang Shasha and Ms. Qing
Meyerson attended the annual general meeting held on 2

September 2024 by way of teleconference.

All Directors have access to the joint company secretaries
who are responsible for ensuring that the Board
procedures are complied and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

During FY2025, the chairperson of the Board also held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors.

Going forward, the Board will meet regularly and board
meetings will be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of regular Board
meetings are served to all of the Directors at least 14 days
before the meetings. For other Board and Board committee
meetings, reasonable notices were generally given.
Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary
of the Company with copies circulated to all Directors or
Board committee members for information and records
within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting.
Directors who have conflicts of interest in a resolution are
required to abstain from voting.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During FY2025, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors representing
more than one third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years and are subject to retirement by
rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each of the independent non-executive Directors
in respect of his independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company confirms that it considers all of its
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company established a Board independence
evaluation mechanism which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on
the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises
independent judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’
interests. The objectives of the evaluation are to improve
Board effectiveness, maximize strengths, and identify
the areas that need improvement or further development.
Pursuant to the Board independence evaluation
mechanism, the Board will conduct annual review on
its independence. The Board has conducted an annual
review of the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanism for FY2025 and is satisfied with the results.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates
that every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The procedures and process of
appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set
out in the Articles of Association.
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at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall retain office until the close of the annual
general meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible
for re-election at such meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Dong
Benzi and Mr. Chen Guofu retired from office by rotation
at the AGM, and being eligible, offered themselves for
re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place.

All  Directors, including executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the
Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.

Continuous Professional
Directors

Development of

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes in order to effectively perform their
responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal
and comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director's responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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HE2025F3HI1ALEFE  ARAILHTH During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company

EELEBERELNBECEER BEXS arranged a training on topics relating to corporate

NARBER ZE - BT governance, connected transactions and discloseable
transactions given by its Hong Kong legal advisers, the
training records of which are summarized as follows:

2 BIEEEME
Attending training Reading regulatory
EEnR Name of Directors session materials
HTES Executive Directors
IR A ek Mr. Liu Guocai v v
HREREE Mr. Sun Pingfu v v
ERANES Mr. Dong Benzi v v
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
PREIE ST AE Mr. Chen Guofu v v
w=S St Ms. Huang Shasha v v
Qing Meyerson# & Ms. Qing Meyerson 4 v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and ESG Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of
the Company are established with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with their authority and
duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’'s website and the Stock
Exchange's website and are available to the Shareholders
upon request.

The list of the chairperson and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 2 of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Qing Meyerson, Mr.
Chen Guofu and Ms. Huang Shasha. Ms. Qing Meyerson
is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee
are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, risk management and
internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal
audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company.

For FY2025, the Audit Committee has reviewed, among
others, the annual results and report for FY2024, the
interim results and report for the six months ended 30
September 2024, the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function, the effectiveness of its internal
control and risk management systems, and performed its
other duties under its terms of reference.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely two independent non-executive Directors,
being Ms. Huang Shasha and Mr. Chen Guofu, and one
executive Director, being Mr. Dong Benzi. Ms. Huang
Shasha is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the
Corporate Governance Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management; assessing
performance of executive Directors and reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and
senior management; reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules; and establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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The Company has adopted its remuneration policy to
ensure that the remuneration offered to employees,
including Directors and senior management, is based on
skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the
Company’s affairs. The Group’s remuneration policy aims
to provide a fair market level of remuneration to retain and
motivate high quality directors, senior management and
employees, and attract experienced people of high calibre
to oversee the business and development of the Group.

The emolument of the Directors is
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance,
experience, responsibility, workload and time devoted to
the Company and comparable market statistics. Executive
Directors’ remuneration packages shall comprise fixed
and variable components linking to individual and the
Group's performance and the remuneration packages
of comparable companies. Non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) shall
receive fixed remuneration/fee to be set at an appropriate
level to attract and retain first-class non-executive talent
by reference to the relevant time commitment. Each of
the executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary of
HKD180,000 per annum and each of the independent
non-executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary of
HKD360,000 per annum, which are all subject to revision
in future by the decision of the Board based on the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee.

recommended by

In addition, each of the executive Directors may receive
a discretionary bonus as the Board may recommend.
Such amount has to be approved by the Remuneration
Committee. The remuneration package further includes
other allowances, benefits in kind and defined
contributions.
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For FY2025, the Remuneration Committee has evaluated
and reviewed the performance, the remuneration policy
and the remuneration packages of executive Directors and
senior management and made relevant recommendations
to the Board.

The remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management by band for FY2025 is set out below:

AE
FWA Annual Income Number of Persons
1TEEBITUT Below HK$1 million 9
1TE8EBITULE Over HK$1 million 1
REEEE Nomination Committee
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The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely one executive Director, being Mr. Liu Guocali,
and two independent non-executive Directors, being Mr.
Chen Guofu and Ms. Huang Shasha. Mr. Liu Guocai is the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the
Corporate Governance Code. The principal duties of
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and succession planning of the
Directors, assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and reviewing the Board Diversity
Policy (as defined below). In assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee would take into
account, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider
candidates on merit and against the objective criteria, with
due regard for the benefits diversity on the Board.
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For FY2025, the Nomination Committee has assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
considered the re-election of Directors and reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board, and
has conducted an annual review of the Board Diversity
Policy and concluded the current Board composition is
sufficiently diverse.

ESG Committee

The ESG Committee consist of two executive Directors,
Mr. Liu Guocai and Mr. Sun Pingfu, and a senior
management, Mr. Liu Xuebin. Mr. Liu Guocai is the
chairperson of the ESG Committee. The main duties of
the ESG Committee are to assist the Board to oversee
ESG governance, ensure implementation of ESG policies,
monitor ESG-related performance and targets, adjust ESG
strategies as appropriate and oversee the preparation of
the ESG report.

For FY2025, the ESG Committee has reviewed the
Company’s ESG risks, strategies, goals and corporate
governance, ensured the Board's compliance with
ESG disclosure regulations, discussed and assessed
greenhouse gas emissions and resources consumption
with the Company’'s ESG consultant, and reviewed the
progress of the Company’s greenhouse gas reduction
plan.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity of the Board and is available on the
website of the Company. The Company recognizes the
importance of diversity of the Board as it promotes board
effectiveness and enable better decisions to be made due
to the lessened risk of group thinking.

Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Nomination
Committee has primary responsibility for identifying
suitably qualified candidates to become members of the
Board and shall give adequate consideration to the board
diversity policy in selection of Board candidates. Board
nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time
while taking into account diversity.
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The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board to maintain high
standards of corporate governance.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that
the Board is sufficiently diverse and selection of board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business
model and specific needs, including but not limited to
gender, race, language, cultural background, educational
background, industry experience and professional
experience.

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view
that the current composition of the Board has achieved the
objectives set in the Board Diversity Policy.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels
of the Group. Currently, the Board consists of two female
Directors and four male Directors, and the Group’s chief
executive officer is male. The Board aimed to have at
least one female Director and has achieved this target,
considering the current gender diversity on the Board
satisfactory. The Board will continue to prioritize gender
diversity in future appointments but has not set specific
targets or timelines, as it believes that all aspects of
diversity should be considered when selecting Directors.
This approach to gender diversity also applies to the
Group'’s workforce, including senior management.
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The following table sets out the gender ratio in the Group's
workforce, including the Board and senior management,
as at 31 March 2025:

ZHEEDL EHESH

Female percentage Male Percentage

(#A8) (#AB)

(number) (number)

B5g Board 33.3% 66.7%
(2 (4)

BREERE Senior Management 25.0% 75.0%
(1) (3)

Hinfg 8 Other employees 34.2% 65.8%
(144) (277)

aet Total 34.1% 65.9%
(147) (284)

AEERKERSRERERBERIENZ T/
BE EEBEAUSRERE A£E/KE
B ENHRERKEHE  BHRSRMEK
BMHAITERFENENZ T - AEER
ARMERBIEFEEENNLIEEE - A
BENERREEE - A AREBAY KRS
HESREABNMURBR - ER—ERHEF
EFRENET  AEEAERSRRFEEEZEH
fERE R - YRR B AT ERILL HEA RN &
FHEBRAREERT K - BALSKEERL
BIEEETE - AL EAF AR T EAIRE

HERERRE -

The Group will implement policies to ensure gender
diversity when recruiting staff, aiming to develop a pipeline
of female senior management. The Group will strive to
enhance female representation and achieve a balanced
gender diversity, considering stakeholders’ expectations
and best practices. The Group focuses on identifying and
training female staff with leadership potential for promotion
to senior management. However, the Group does not
currently set specific gender target for its workforce.
As an equal opportunity employer, the Group considers
other relevant factors in hiring decisions, believing the
current gender ratio is suitable for the Group’s business
model and operational needs. Details on the gender ratio
of the Group can be found in the ESG report published
concurrently with this annual report.
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Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority
for selection and appointment of the Directors to the
Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a director nomination
policy which sets out the selection criteria and
nomination process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment
of Directors and aims to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the
Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The director nomination policy sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution
to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not
limited to the following:

(1).  Character and integrity;

(2). Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience;

(8). Diversity in all aspects as set out in the Board
Diversity Policy;

(4). Requirements of independent non-executive
Directors on the Board and independence of the
proposed independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules; and

(5). Commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest to discharge duties as a member
of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.

The director nomination policy also sets out the
procedures for the selection and appointment of new
Directors and re-election of the Directors at general
meetings.
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The nomination process set out in the director nomination
policy is as follows:

(1). to assess such candidate’'s qualifications, skills,
knowledge, ability and experience and also
potential time commitment and attention to perform
the Director’s duties;

(2). to assess such candidate’s personal ethics, integrity
and reputation (including without limitation to
conduct appropriate background checks and other
verification processes against such candidate);

(3). with reference to the Company’s Board Diversity
Policy (as adopted and amended by the Board
from time to time), to take into account the then
current structure, size and composition of the Board
and the Company’s corporate strategy, with due
regard for the benefits of the appropriate diversity
of the Board and also such candidate’s potential
contributions thereto;

(4). in case of a candidate for an independent non-
executive Director, to assess: (i) the independence
of such candidate with reference to, among other
things, the independence criteria as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) the guidance and
requirements relating to independent non-executive
Directors set out in Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Guide for Boards and
Directors; and

(5). to consider any other factors and matters as the
Nomination Committee may consider appropriate.

the director
ensure its

The Nomination Committee will review
nomination policy, as appropriate, to
effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code, such as the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Employees Written Guidelines, and the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including research and development
management, sales and marketing, financial reporting,
human resources and information system management.

Under the Company’'s risk management and internal
control systems, all business departments of the Company
are responsible to collect information, analyze the
corresponding risks and formulate the corresponding
internal control system according to the risks. The internal
audit department of the Group (the ‘Internal Audit
Department”’) and the Audit Committee are responsible for
evaluating the effect of risk management annually.

All divisions/departments conducted internal control
assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially
impact the business of the Group and various aspects
including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security.
Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm
that control policies are properly complied with by each
division/department.
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The management, in coordination with division/department
heads, assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence and
degree of risk impact, provided treatment plans, and
monitored the risk management progress, and reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and
the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems for FY2025. The
Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems. The
Internal Audit Department examined key issues in relation
to the fraud risk and provided its findings to the Audit
Committee.

The Board, as supported by the management report and
the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for FY2025, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual review on risk management and internal
control systems also covered the financial reporting and
staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.
Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate
employees of the Company to raise, in confidence,
concerns such as bribery, financial impropriety or other
matters of the Company.

The Company has also in place the anti-corruption
policy to safeguard against corruption and bribery within
the Company. The Company has an internal reporting
channel that is open and available for employees of
the Company to report any suspected corruption and
bribery. Employees can also make reports to the internal
anti-corruption department/internal audit function, which
is responsible for investigating the reported incidents and
taking appropriate measures. The Company continues
to carry out anticorruption and anti-bribery activities to
cultivate a culture of integrity and ensure the effectiveness
of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company's Directors,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure
and responding to enquiries. Control procedures have
been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and
use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for FY2025.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in
accordance with the HKFRS issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate
accounting policies have also been used and applied
consistently except the adoption of revised standards,
amendments to standards and interpretation.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The statement of the independent auditors of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report on pages 73 to 79 of this annual report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The external auditors, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
provided audit and review services for the Group. In
addition, they performed non-audit services, primarily
comprising interim review and ESG-related assurance,
as well as internal control assessment and other related
services.

A breakdown of the remuneration payable to the external
auditors of the Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, in respect of relevant services for FY2025 is set
out below:

e ENER

REESE Service Category Fees paid/payable

(AR®FT)

(RMB’000)

ZE AR Audit Services 2,850

eI B AR T () Non-audit Services 1,277

st Total 4,127
Hiet : 2025BF FREREBRG B X2 RIEF TN Note: The non-audit service fees for FY2025 primarily comprise

ARIRE - H g REAHERRIEREER - X
Ko PO B2 Bl T b K A AERA RIS & A
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charges for interim review and ESG-related assurance
services, as well as internal control assessment and other
related services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Fung Wai Sum (5Z7FR) was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 23 March 2022.

Ms. Fung is a senior manager of Company Secretarial
Services of Tricor Services Limited (a member of
Vistra Group), a global professional services provider
specializing in integrated business, corporate and
investor services. She has over 20 years of experience in
the corporate secretarial field in providing professional
corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well
as multinational, private and offshore companies.

Ms. Fung is currently the company secretary of listed
companies on the Stock Exchange, namely, FriendTimes
Inc. (RFEFRXRMEBRRZATR]) (stock code: 6820), Tongdao

Liepin  Group ([RzBHEEKE) (stock code: 6100),
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (4kihZEB#E

f&EBR/AF]) (stock code: 337), ClouDr Group Limited
(stock code: 9955) and China ZhengTong Auto Services
Holdings Limited (4B E@TERFEZERERAF]) (stock
code: 1728), and the joint company secretary of listed
companies on the Stock Exchange, namely, Shenzhen
Neptunus Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited (&
YIhigERFREMEMRMNABRAE) (stock code: 8329)
and YSB Inc. (Z2R1E DB R A F]) (stock code: 9885).

Ms. Fung is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and an Associate of both The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom. Ms. Fung obtained her master's degree
in professional accounting and corporate governance from
City University of Hong Kong in November 2008.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
Ms. Fung on corporate governance and board practices
and matters. During FY2025, Ms. Fung has taken more
than 15 hours of relevant professional training according
to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Ma Chun Lung, the
financial controller of HK Migao, is the primary corporate
contact person of Ms. Fung.

MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
FY2025.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with the Shareholders through
various communication channels.

To safeguard the Shareholder interests and rights,
separate resolution should be proposed for each
substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of individual Director. All resolutions put
forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 9.3 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. One or more members holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, in aggregate not less
than one-tenth of the voting rights in the share capital of
the Company may also make a requisition to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, by written requisition to
the Board or the secretary of the Company for purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the consideration of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the Articles of Association for
convening a general meeting.

Putting General
Meetings

Forward Proposals at

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman
Companies Act or the Articles of Association. Members
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting following the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: Room 801, 8/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (To the Board of
Directors)

Email: ir@migaogroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

According to the written resolutions passed by the then
Shareholders on 28 February 2024, the amended and
restated memorandum of association and the articles of
association has been adopted with effect from the Listing
Date. There was no change in the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association during the period
from 28 February 2024 to the date of this annual report.

The Board proposes to amend the Existing Articles and to
adopt the New Memorandum and Articles of Association,
in order to, among others, (a) reflect and align with the
legal and regulatory requirements, including the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules and the Companies
Ordinance; (b) modernize and provide flexibility to the
Company in relation to the conduct of general meetings;
and (c) make certain other housekeeping changes
(collectively, the “Proposed Amendments”).
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The Board proposes to put forward to the Shareholders
a special resolution to amend the Existing Articles
by adopting the New Memorandum and Articles of
Association with the Proposed Amendments incorporated
in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the Existing
Articles. The major areas of the Proposed Amendments
include: (i) to expressly allow the Company to hold
general meetings as hybrid meetings, provide E-voting,
and improve the efficiency of electronic dissemination
of corporate communications to maintain the New
Articles’ consistency with the expansions of the Stock
Exchange’s paperless listing regime and amendments to
the Companies Ordinance; (ii) to bring the New Articles
up-to-date and enhance of clarity and flexibility in line
with the Listing Rules and the Companies Ordinance; and
(iii) to update and tidy up definitions and other references
and make other housekeeping amendments, including
consequential amendments in line with the above
amendments.

The Proposed Amendments by way of the adoption of the
New Memorandum and Articles of Association is subject
to the approval of the Shareholders by way of special
resolution to be considered and, if thought fit, passed at
the AGM.

A circular containing, among other things, further
details of the Proposed Amendments, together with a
notice convening the AGM and the proxy form, will be
despatched to the Shareholders in due course.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company endeavours
to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders
and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meetings,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The Board has conducted
an annual review on the Shareholders’ communication
policy and considered that the policy was effectively
implemented with the measures as disclosed under the
paragraph headed “Communication with Shareholders and
Investors/Investor Relations”.

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the
Listing Rules will be provided to Shareholders and
non-registered holders of the Company’s securities
in both English and Chinese versions. Shareholders
and non-registered holders of the Company's
securities shall have the right to choose the
language (either English or Chinese) or means of
receipt of the Corporate Communication (in printed
form or through electronic means).

(b) Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about
their shareholdings to the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited.

(c) Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company
posted on the Stock Exchange's website will
also be published on the Company’s website
(www.migaogroup.com). Company shall update
information on the Company’s website from time to
time.

(d) Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend
and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf
if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where
appropriate or required, the chairperson of the
Board and other Board members, the chairpersons
of board committees or their delegates, and the
external auditors should attend general meetings of
the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if
any).
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(e) Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms

Investor/analysts  briefings, roadshows (both
domestic and international), media interviews,
marketing activities for investors and specialist
industry forums etc. will be launched on a required
basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy on payment
of dividends. The Company does not have any
pre-determined dividend payout ratio. Depending on
the financial conditions, operational needs, capital
requirements and factors of the Company and the Group
as set out in the dividend policy, dividends may be
proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial
year.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MIGAO GROUP
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(KaEBEERERQT)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Migao Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 80 to 204, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) as issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade and unbilled receivables
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We identified the impairment assessment of trade
and unbilled receivables as a key audit matter due to
the significance of trade and unbilled receivables to
the Group’s consolidated financial position and the
assessment of expected credit loss (“ECL”) involved of
estimation uncertainty.
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The Group uses collective assessment to calculate
ECL for the trade and unbilled receivables which are
individually insignificant. The ECL rates are based
on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The collective
assessment is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable and
available without undue costs or effort. In addition,
trade and unbilled receivables with significant balances
and credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of trade and unbilled receivables included:

. BREHESRARZREHEGEEFERERR
2

Obtaining an understanding of the process
relating to the allowance for credit losses of
trade and unbilled receivables;

AEEEANBEETRNEZAERBENAE
1 ZE I AR R BT B E LA R IA RN TR
EEEBERRARIELMRIRIEEEZER
Evaluating the reasonableness of the key
judgments and assumptions determine the
internal credit ratings, relating to calculation of
historical default rates and forward-looking factor
made in the ECL model,;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EMNBRNAEERRERSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade and unbilled receivables

%BWDZ*AHM%#E%W?MH&E@ R202553H31H » o AETRREEEERE D ABIRN TR - R

BHORAARERFEREEN/ARKE312,322,000 R AR R i SR E R B ERNE - &
T HBREEEBEERENAARKE18,796,0007T ¢ o Evaluating the completeness, accuracy and
As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial relevance of data used in the ECL model
statements, as at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount and checking the arithmetic accuracy of the
of trade and unbilled receivables was approximately calculations; and

RMB312,322,000, net of allowance for credit
approximately RMB18,796,000.
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o Obtaining the aging reports of trade and
unbilled receivables used to calculate the
historical default rates and testing the accuracy
by checking the aging of selected invoices or
delivery documents on a sample basis.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does

not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standard as issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant

to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Annual Report 2024/2025 ) MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 77



-

’” )
\’”.%’,/’i”
N4

e
- //
\\4eﬁv

S ad

BY ZBER S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

78

Bir B B R A AR

HEERAKAERLZE RERN AN
R E L A - WAREMERNERG
BE BESOAFERFTHENKENEGH
MBATHEEN  KMAERHEE
BNRERERNELBTARE © WK
MRR/FEERTHEENE WBELEHR
ZBEN R E T IRFBERELRRE W
WRTPHEBERE - HEBKETR -
AMERTRMER - RAIWERIIERE
ERHMHRE B A LEMRGEHORSR
7o A - RERFHEMIFTAAEEHR
SEBEFELE -

HEGAMBREANBRBEETA - &
BRAT  BREBEEN UREAH
BHREEETERBRBBIZMER -

AHEIMBMITRERG - NERBEREE
NERBREBEMYBIEL T EME
EMESRE  RYSEIBHRRTAK
EREHER -RMATEE EHEMN
B AEEESMATOES TE - &
MAERERAEEHAEE -

KREEEZERERAT @ T 2024/2025

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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BY ZBER S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance
with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Li Fung Tun (practising
certificate number: P07302).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EZ2025F3 A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2025

HZEIASIHIEE
Year ended 31 March

20254 2024%F
2025 2024
B =E ARBETIT ARKETTT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
& Revenue 5 4,965,954 3,770,543
SHE AR Cost of goods sold (4,323,907) (3,234,039)
EA Gross profit 642,047 536,504
H A A Other income 6 20,400 9,218
H b les &g E Other gains and losses 7 5,526 5,593
BHEEEBEXTH Impairment losses under expected
REEE - HkREEE credit loss model, net of reversal 35 (3,993) 2,600
288 M EHE R X Distribution and selling expenses (32,049) (30,105)
—RITHFA X General and administrative expenses (137,045) (93,398)
R Research and development expenses (34,831) (30,932)
EmRAX Listing expenses - (40,287)
EIEAEREEE Share of result of a joint venture 18 (26,702) (5,992)
B 75 AR Finance costs 8 (19,980) (19,597)
R %51 B 4 A Profit before tax 413,373 333,604
FriSfiA Income tax expense 9 (73,889) (57,410)
FREF Profit for the year 10 339,484 276,194
Hit2 X Other comprehensive expense
HE A E 7R E A Item that may be reclassified
EHH - subsequently to profit or loss:
—BE—IEBINERELEZ  — Exchange difference arising on
M 5 ZE translation of a foreign operation (1,827) (4,589)
FREEWEERE Total comprehensive income for the year 337,657 271,605
LA ATEIEFRER Profit for the year attributable to:
A VNGIEZ 2 DN - Owners of the Company 307,471 252,479
— FEFE R A - Non-controlling interests 32,013 23,715
339,484 276,194
ITNATEMFRNZEKEZE Total comprehensive income for the
HRFE - year attributable to:
. UNEIE Z=DN — Owners of the Company 305,644 247,890
— JEIERRE R — Non-controlling interests 32,013 23,715
337,657 271,605
TR EF| Earnings per share 13
—EX(AR%T) — Basic (RMB) 0.34 0.37
—#58 (AR%T) — Diluted (RMB) 0.34 0.37
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R202543 318
as at 31 March 2025

M3 A31H
As at 31 March
2025%F 20244
2025 2024
ih=s ARBET T AREETTT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
EREBEE Non-current assets
T 5 Ko 7% Plant and equipment 14 474,018 455,092
EREEE Right-of-use assets 15 156,745 144,004
AN FRIERIZE Prepayments and deposits 21 59,248 9,851
EiS Goodwill 16 12,069 12,069
B EE Intangible asset 17 2,377 3,962
NEERE R Interest in a joint venture 18 89,605 116,307
FIEFRTBE E Deferred tax assets 19 4,697 3,699
798,759 744,984
REBEE Current assets
rE Inventories 20 183,157 449,326
B 5 N E M EWFRIA LA K FE S Trade and other receivables and
RIE prepayments 21 3,180,445 2,428,151
FEUR & & IR Amounts due from joint ventures 22 19,412 18,520
B AFEFE B EZE AE Financial assets at fair value through
HiEmm e mEE profit or loss (“FVTPL") 32 82,758 =
ZRHRE Restricted cash 23 222,785 152,205
RITEBRNEIRS Bank balances and cash 23 750,804 812,343
4,439,361 3,860,545
DEARFELEZEE Assets classified as held for sale 14 8,356 =
4,447,717 3,860,545
REBAE Current liabilities
B 5 & H A 5E Trade and other payables 24 734,213 519,515
SRAEE Contract liabilities 25 764,789 745,120
MIBEE Tax liabilities 231,683 171,881
(EE Borrowings 26 428,010 380,736
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 3,232 4,841
2,161,927 1,822,093
RBEERE Net current assets 2,285,790 2,038,452
HEERRBASE Total assets less current liabilities 3,084,549 2,783,436
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

M3A318
As at 31 March
2025%F 20244
2025 2024
B =E AR®ET T ARKET T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAR#E Capital and reserves
f& A Share capital 28 64,496 63,861
i Reserves 2,666,211 2,384,415
Equity attributable to owners of the

RARER AE(L R Company 2,730,707 2,448,276
FEPE AR b 2 Non-controlling interests 186,038 167,416
e ERE Total equity 2,916,745 2,615,692

ERBERE Non-current liabilities
FEFHIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 19 2,400 2,783
& Borrowings 26 154,334 164,427
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 11,070 534
167,804 167,744
3,084,549 2,783,436

HNEBOE 204 H Z iR B ThERE R 20254 The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 204
6H26 AEEESHERIRETZE - WAL TE were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

ERKEE directors on 26 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
2B EIN S
LIU GUOCAI DONG BENZI
= EBF
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE2025F3A31BIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2025

LN N

Attributable to owners of the Company

ke ROEE AERE  BERE  HEREE  REERA N FBRER @it
Non-
Share Share  Statutory Translation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings  Subtotal interests Total
ARBT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETIL
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMBO00  RMB000
i) (GE)
(note a) (note b)
R2023F4A1R At 1 April 2023 66 - 142046 (2937) (1,167,308) 2449035 1420812 155,081 1,575,893
Enaf Profit for the year - - - - - 50479 2B2AT9 3715 276,194
QOther comprehensive expense
EREMZERT for the year - - - (4589) - - (4599) - (45%9)
Total comprehensive (expense)
ER2E (AR) haig income for the year - - - (4589) - 252479 24780 23715 271,605
BRiEHE Transfer to statutory reserve - - 5818 - = (5818) - - -
Dividends paid to
S EERERNRS non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (11380)  (11.380)
Capitalisation issue
BA(LET (FRME8(i)  (as detalled in Note 28 (ii)) 4783 (47,832) - - - - - - -
Issue of new shares upon the
RERAREE initial public offerings
([ERDHBE)ERT (e ‘IPO") (as detalled in
Hiil (3 5 KizE28(iv)) Note 28 (iv)) 15,963 816,755 - - - - 832718 - 832718
Transaction costs attributable to
ERREGRARA issue of new shares - (53144) - - = - (53144) - (53144)
R2024%3A318 At 31 March 2024 63,861 715,779 147,864 (7526) (1,167,398) 2,695,696 2448276 167,416 2,615,692
Emaf Profit for the year - - - - - 7471 307471 32013 339,484
QOther comprehensive
EREBEERY expense for the year - - - (1,827) - - (1,827) - (1,827)
Total comprehensive (expense)
En2E (R YalE income for the year - - - (1,827) - 307471 305644 32013 337657
BEiERE Transfer to statutory reserve - - 5,541 - - (5,541) - - -
TR ERRRE Exercise of over-allotment options
(3F RHiEE28(v)) (as detailed in Note 28 (v)) 635 32,445 - - - - 33,080 - 33,080
Transaction costs attributable
to exercise of over-
FRERRERIERSNA  alotment options - (848) - - - - (848) - (848)
Dividends paid to
TRPEERERNRE non-controlling interests = = = = = = - (13391)  (13.391)
Dividends recognized as
BARDRARE distribution
(FEAMEE) (as detailed in note 11) - (55445) - - - - (55.445) - (55445)
2025538310 At 31 March 2025 64496 691931 153405 (9,353) (1,167,398) 2997,626 2,730,707 186,038 2,916,745
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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MAREREARKANE ([HE )R
FHPERARMRE  AEERT B E AT
BHEREEBRHFHRES - HEHENEARA
WEEETE B 15 s P R BR B R B 108 A1) mp 22
BH10% =6 B E  MEMSERERH
HEZSFFAE - WEEAKRFERBOEHRE
DR R BB B A B S 8 A E950% -+ Al
A= BEEERREE RERBREETR
RERBEFEBE (NE) L AEBERL
BTN ARRERSER -

R2023F4 A1HMEMBEEEZIERER
KeEEEBRERAR ([ARQA])ZEEERE
BIEA LA (TBIEE]D EENDIR  ZDIK
THIRBA (1) FE U B 5 A P il a0 B B A Bl &2 8.
FRIE (INVASELIBERERE2ENRBA
ANEHBRELE FTEAHRBZERERAF
(T RBIERR ] - Bt E2BEHANEE A
A P RRENEFHETE : (i) ¥R 2020F
3 A 31 A U R 5t A P2 I BA BgE 1 B 3R IEF 5
WER  R(VVEBEABIEEXEEES
RAR (BB XS] HERERENKEBR
HEBRKSNHCRAZ =5

KREEEZERERAT @ T 2024/2025

Notes:

(a)

(b)

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
enterprises established in the People’'s Republic of China
("PRC”"), the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund. Appropriation
to such reserve is made out of at least 10% of profit after
taxation as reflected in the statutory financial statements
of the relevant PRC subsidiaries while the amounts and
appropriation are decided by their board of directors
annually. The appropriation to statutory surplus reserve
may cease if the balance of the statutory surplus reserve
has reached 50% of the relevant PRC subsidiaries’
registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves can
be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can
be applied in conversion into capital by means of
capitalisation issue.

Other reserve as at 1 April 2023 mainly represented
deemed distribution to Mr. Liu Guocai (“Mr. Liu”), the
controlling shareholder of Migao Group Holdings Limited
(“the Company”), arising from (i) interest-free amounts
due from related companies controlled by Mr. Liu, (ii) re-
determination of consideration in relation to the Group’s
previous disposal of its entire equity interest in four wholly-
owned subsidiaries, to Asia Pacific Potash Holdings
Limited (“APPH”), a related company wholly-owned by
Mr. Liu, (iii) the waiver of net amount due from related
companies controlled by Mr. Liu as at 31 March 2020, and
(iv) difference between the acquisition considerations of
H.K. Migao Industry Limited (“H.K. Migao”) under group
reorganisation and the paid-up capital of H.K. Migao at
the date of acquisition.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE2025F3 A3 HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2025

HZEIASIHILEE
Year ended 31 March

2025% 2024 %
2025 2024
ARKETTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
LR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R 75 AT g K Profit before tax 413,373 333,604
HATSIEELFE Adjustments for:
BB KR ETE Depreciation of plant and equipment 9,092 7,409
| EESH Amortisation of intangible asset 1,585 1,585
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8,283 9,073
(e EhEFE Share of result of a joint venture 26,702 5,992
DERIEY, SEi=E I Impairment losses, net of reversal 3,993 (2,600)
BREAAR Finance costs 19,980 19,597
M EWA Interest income (2,055) (4,473)
BRATETEEHED
AR HEENEREER Gain from changes in fair value of financial
N EZ B Y assets at FVTPL (7,988) =
Loss (gain) on disposal of plant and
HERE MEEEE (k) equipment 49 (170)
Operating cash flows before movements
EEESEIILEHRSRE in working capital 473,014 370,017
= &ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁlmlﬁbk)} Increase in trade and other receivables and
TR FRIEIE AN prepayments (873,566) (763,846)
Tfﬁ’“ (3&h0) Decrease (increase) in inventories 302,914 (260,502)
B 5 N EMESFRIE Increase (decrease) in trade and other
o Cmd) payables 212,351 (41,762)
AREEEM Increase in contract liabilities 19,669 295,514
B —RE&EMFEFIE (M) (Increase) decrease in amounts due from a
Ve joint venture (686) 396
s (A BES Cash generated from (used in) operations 133,696 (400,183)
BRI FTEH Income taxes paid (15,468) (39,951)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING
KRG (FTR) ReFHE ACTIVITIES 118,228 (440,134)
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REBRERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZEIASIHIEE
Year ended 31 March

2025% 2024 %
2025 2024
ARBEFIT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

REEE INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FRERGIEE Placement of restricted cash (551,492) (509,565)
Payment of deposits in relation to sales and

BAHEREDZH 2 Re R leaseback arrangement (8,000) (8,000)

BERATESAEBEEZSHETA

EHERNESMEE Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL (298,330) =
EEIZAFETEBHEEST A Proceeds of redemption of financial assets at
BHIERNERMEEZMSHIA  FVTPL 223,560 =

KE—BREAER Repayment from a shareholder - 274

Bl NS RN Advance to a related company - (4,760)

BEME k& Purchase of plant and equipment (59,412) (10,681)

FEAEEE BN IEA Upfront payment for right-of-use assets (11,029) =
Deposits paid for acquisition of plant and

WHERRE R&E 2 BENES equipment (49,397) =

REVZIR IR & Withdrawal of restricted cash 480,912 527,844

2 W F) 2 WA Interest income received 2,055 4,473

REEEREZER Repayments from a joint venture - 8,574
Proceeds from disposal of plant and

HERE &R PSR equipment 116 412
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING

KBRS (PTA) RSIR &5 ACTIVITIES (271,017) 8,571

BEED) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

BFER Repayments of borrowings (316,846) (264,178)

BEAFLE Interest paid (19,849) (19,167)

HEBEER Repayments of lease liabilities (5,239) (5,682)

ST IEERERR R Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (13,391) (11,380)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the

S FARBRERES Company (55,445) =

M BAEE A AR Repayments to related companies - (204,019)

KE—REB AR ZEEER Repayment of loan from a related company - (105,000)

BETIRD FT1S 508 Proceeds from issue of shares - 832,718
Proceeds from exercise of over-allotment

1T BRRRL AR5 IR options 33,080 =

EEER New borrowings raised 469,911 545,023

Q=] NGl Advances from a related company 7,755 18,524

KE—REBHARZHEE New loan from a related company - 120,750

B AT IRAD B TR AR Share issue cost paid (6,685) (33,823)
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE3ASIHLEFE
Year ended 31 March

ARBT T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEBATSIR S F5E NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 93,291 873,766
ReRBELZEY ORD) NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND
EHFRR CASH EQUIVALENTS (59,498) 442,203
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
FURERESEEY BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 812,343 365,731
SNEE E R B) v R 2 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2,041) 4,409
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
FRASRESEED OF THE YEAR,
BRITAE SR R IR & represented by bank balances and cash 750,804 812,343
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 21 November 2017 under the Companies
Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its immediate
holding company is Migao Holdings Limited (“Migao
Holdings”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”") on 17 November 2017.
Its ultimate holding company is Migao International
Holding Limited (“Migao Barbados”), a company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI with limited
liability on 19 August 2005 and was discontinued as
a company under the laws of the BVI and continuing
as a company under the laws of Barbados on 25
January 2010. The controlling shareholder of the
Company is Mr. Liu. The shares of the Company
had been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 21 March 2024 (the “Listing”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are set out in the
corporate information section of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Company is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of specialty potash-
based fertilizers in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BAAMBRSERN ERVELZHERE

F165% (BETA)
EF S ERFE1R DBEARSKIERD
({&FTA) BEREBRE
E55% 2 AERAERT
(20204 )
ERGRTERE1S  MEREAIERS
(UBETAR) afE
EBGRTERETR HEFMRELHE
MBS RS %

RIET75% (BRI A)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2024
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants

Amendments Supplier Finance Arrangements
to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are

mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in
the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current should be based
on rights that are in existence at the end
of the reporting period. Specifically, the
classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can
be a transfer of cash, goods or services, or
the entity’s own equity instruments to the
counterparty. If a liability has terms that
could, at the option of the counterparty, result
in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not
affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognizes the option
separately as an equity instrument applying
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments. Presentation.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional
on the compliance with covenants, the 2022
Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants
that an entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date, even
if compliance with the covenant is assessed only
after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments
also specify that covenants with which an entity
must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future
covenants) do not affect the classification of a
liability as current or non-current at the reporting
date. However, if the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after
the reporting period, an entity discloses information
that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk of the liabilities becoming
repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period. This would include information about the
covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities
and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate
that the entity may have difficulties complying with
the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The followings are the impact of the
application of the amendments:
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New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Borrowings which are subject to meeting certain
covenants within 12 months from reporting date

The Group'’s right to defer settlement for borrowings
of RMB120,000,000 and RMB89,900,000 as at 1
April 2023 and 31 March 2024, respectively are
subject to compliance with certain financial ratios
only after the reporting period. Upon the application
of the 2022 Amendments, such borrowings are still
classified as non-current as the covenants which
the Group is required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right
exists at the end of the reporting date.

Except as described above, the application of the
2020 and 2022 Amendments has no other material
impact on the classification of the Group’s other
liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to Amendments to the Classification
HKFRS 9 and and Measurement of Financial
HKAS 7 Instruments?®

Amendments to Contracts Referencing
HKFRS 9 and Nature-dependent Electricity®
HKAS 7

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRS
HKFRS Accounting Standards
Accounting — Volume 113
Standards

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?

HKAS 21
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Borrowings which are subject to meeting certain
covenants within 12 months from reporting date
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in
HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information
to be disclosed in the financial statements. In
addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors and HKFRS
7 Financial  Instruments:  Disclosures. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
and HKAS 383 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards,
will be effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement
of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of
consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA.
For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (the “CQ”").

The directors of the Company have, at the
time of approving the consolidated financial
statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not
it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements
of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary.
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3.2 EAREBTHERESR (&) 3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

B HEE (BE) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

B k& EEMEEK=IER S Profit or loss and each item of other
BRARBIHES AR IEERE comprehensive income are attributed to
wmeoMBARZEENREES the owners of the Company and to the non-
BRARNFIHEE ARIFZERE controlling interests. Total comprehensive
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When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group's
equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost as established at
the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (“CGUs”") (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement

whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The results and assets and liabilities of
the joint venture are incorporated in the
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of the joint venture used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in a joint venture
is initially recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognize the
Group's share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the joint
venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount.

When a group entity transacts with a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognized in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of
interest in the joint venture that are not
related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use. This condition
is regarded as met only when the asset is
available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual
and customary for sales of such asset and
its sale is highly probable. Management
must be committed to the sale, which should
be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date
of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting

information (Continued)

policy

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognizes revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good
or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognized over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Annual Report 2024/2025 ) MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 101



g
IIII’J//

-

LSS ad

e ISR R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BAGSMBEBRMEASR
HERERMNEE (F)

3.2 EAREHBERES (&)

BRI WAREFPEREESE
ok BR 7% 2 Y2 1) 4 0 iy R B R RRD

P& USSR TR 4 A = 1B M R (B A
fRrriER (BIREMNREIHIATES
R IR ) -

EREBEEASERCBERPK
BRE (HRESHEIH) - MA
EEREMARB TEPHER -

E-REEANERBRA  ExK
BHBRTEENTE

E %

TEBTRABENERRED
AAE - NBBERTEESE
EHBRTEPHERIRGEE
HEZARE T AHNRTE M
FRIFHERUA 1k R R AL R
AEEERE m IR E B
BHIER -

102 XS EEEZERAER 2T @ F3R 2024/2025

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of
the distinct good or service.

A receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to
recognize revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 Leases at inception. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is
recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee
Right-of-use assets

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at
the commencement date of the lease (i.e.
the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability; and

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease,
the Group recognizes and measures the
lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion
and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to assess whether sale and
leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by
the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the
requirements as a sale, the Group as a seller-
lessee continues to recognize the assets
and accounts for the transfer proceeds as
borrowings within the scope of HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions
in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognized at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognized in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the assets
and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs not directly attributable
to acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets are recognized in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans including state-managed
retirement benefit schemes are recognized as
an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognized
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognized as an
expense unless another HKFRS Accounting
Standard requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing
to employees (such as wages and salaries,
annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of
current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognized for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognized for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognized
if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for
taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and a joint
venture, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only
recognized to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at the end of the reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in
profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognized impairment loss.
Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by
management. Such construction in progress
are classified to the appropriate categories
of plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off
the cost of assets other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is
derecognized upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities s
recognized as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognized when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables and trade related balances
with related parties arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortized cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortized cost:

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

Amortized cost and interest income

Interest income is recognized using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortized cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognized by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortized cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognized by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”") or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognized in profit or loss is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”") model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, amounts due from joint ventures,
restricted cash and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at the reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting

information (Continued)

policy

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for
trade receivables and trade related balances
with related parties.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognizes lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognized is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material

accounting policy

information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

(Continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external
(if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

(Continued)

° an actual or

significant  adverse
in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment
of the debtor that results in
a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

expected
change

Irrespective  of the outcome of
the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material

accounting policy

information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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3 ..mﬁ,:'\é\.*,ﬂ ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂiﬁgg 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
BERERWEZE (F) CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 EARETHEESR (&) 3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)
TRT A (8) Financial instruments (Continued)
THEE (&) Financial assets (Continued)
EREERNRE (&) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) EERESBMEE (i)  Credit-impaired financial assets
TREEE —HNZIAY A financial asset is credit-impaired
ZeBMEEMGTRKREAES when one or more events that have a
MEBNTF 2K S M4 detrimental impact on the estimated
FERHAEEREBE - © future cash flows of that financial
BEELBREERENE asset have occurred. Evidence that
BEEREEBE TSN a financial asset is credit-impaired
BIREUE - includes observable data about the
following events:
(a) EBEITAERAL (a) significant financial difficulty of
IRE RS EE the issuer or the borrower;
(b) X (WEDHS @ (b)  a breach of contract, such as a
BAEF) ¢ default or past due event;
(c) EBRAMEZRAML (c) the lender(s) of the borrower,
R E A B % R for economic or contractual
HEFENLCEXE reasons relating to the
@ R & @ &R A borrower’'s financial difficulty,
BRTERARET having granted to the borrower
FERMNESR a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or
(d) BEHRAKERE (d)

it is becoming probable that the

B B B sk HE AT E A borrower will enter bankruptcy
W ER - or other financial reorganisation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

EREMBTETFHBA
BREMERSEAYEER
Y (el & 7] BE B () 20 35 5
TERBRIEARERF
B - W R85 E KK
B ZE5cEBBBEB™Mm
ﬁﬁ UBREELEER

%) ARBEAMHESEE
E-REEERBRRATEE
FRBERR  CHENSE
MEEDARBASED
WE e TR BT
B - MIHBRR LRSS
He TMAEREKERIER
HHER -
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The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating
that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for
example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years
past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognized in profit or
loss.
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3. WRGAMBH/ERMEASS 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
HEEHHEE (H) CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting
information (Continued)

3.2 EXRETTHXRESR (F) policy

SR THE (&) Financial instruments (Continued)

THEE (&) Financial assets (Continued)
EREERNRE (&) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) TBHEEEBEBZA=ERE (v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

=7
At

BHREEBERZGAERE
MR - BOEE (AED
BB/ MEORRR
WO Z BB - BHOBER
BHEBERZFETIERE
RIEEERETRBNE
SRBURIEL - HEIEES
18 2 14 5 = bR 4 1 B K R
KNz EE AZB8HE
EREONER SESETE -

—&mE  BHEEER
RRBARENASEZ
FrEARRERERLE
BEHMKRcREREZ
R E8 RV RN E
EZERFIRRER) -

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material

accounting policy

information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective
basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on
the following basis:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of
debtors; and

° External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.




A MR AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. mESESUBHERMNELAE: 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
BUERERWEXE (§) CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 EARETHEESR (&) 3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)
EMTA (&) Financial instruments (Continued)
THEE (&) Financial assets (Continued)
EREERNRE (&) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) TBHEEEBEBZA=ERE (v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
R (&) (Continued)

MEBWATIREEHEE
ZEHRERE KD
MEERLEFEERE &
HERT - FBBARE

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case

CRIEE 2R ARTE o interest income is calculated based on
amortized cost of the financial asset.
REBEFZBAEFME SR The Group recognizes an impairment

TEMKREERIESER
HERaEE - HEE
P RYGRIRE BB R EEG
ARFERRARE R -

RIEERSREE

AEEER KR EER SRS
AREFZEE  FERILRER
SWAE -

RIS RR R R AT B S
MEEN  AEEEEEDNR
B U B 48 0 2 T 0 2 R0 1R
KRR -

gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where
the corresponding adjustment s
recognized through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset
measured at amortized cost, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognized in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting
information (Continued)

policy

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the group
entities are recognized at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All - financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized costs, using the
effective interest method.
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ERECSUBBRNENES
HEREHNWEZE (F)

3.2 EAREHBERES (&)

SRT A (&)
TREERER (E)
RItERERAE

AEBEREBEERNAKENE F#
fRER - BUHRE RS R LR S
BEE CRIEEINERAE
REEEE N REMREZEA
EENBmPER -

BT RERZNEERR

ARBEEREAAEENEHAERR
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REGEREENEMEREL - BERA
RAIBEB IR ZFEET
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognized and the
consideration paid and payable is recognized
in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, the directors of the Company is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade and
unbilled receivables

The Group uses collective assessment to calculate
ECL for the trade and unbilled receivables which
are individually insignificant. The ECL rates are
based on internal credit ratings as groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns.
The collective assessment is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable and available without undue costs
or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, trade and unbilled receivables with
significant balances and credit impaired are
assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the Group'’s trade
and unbilled receivables and the ECL are disclosed
in Notes 21 and 35, respectively.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of
trade and unbilled receivables are approximately
RMB312,322,000 (2024: RMB159,074,000), net
of allowance for credit losses of approximately
RMB18,796,000 (2024: RMB14,803,000).
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group primarily recognizes revenue from
sales of specialty potash-based fertilizers in the
PRC and recognizes at a point of time. The Group
purchases Potassium Chloride (“KCL") from both
overseas and domestic suppliers. The Group
then processes majority of the purchased KCL for
sales to its customers or use as raw materials for
its manufacturing activities. Besides, part of the
KCL, together with other raw materials, are used
to manufacture into Potassium Sulphate (‘SOP”)
and compound fertilizers for sales to customers. In
addition, the Group also sources and resells KCL,
SOP, Potassium Nitrate (“NOP”) and compound
fertilizers to customers without further manufacturing
or processing.

The Group also provides production services to its
customers for processing the principal raw materials
provided by customers into compound fertilizers
in accordance with their product specifications.
Revenue from provision of production services is
recognized over time.
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5. WARZDHEHR (&)
(i) REFEFERWRAZAT

BERIBHERE D 2 WA

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Disaggregation of reven
contracts with customers

ue from

Revenue by types of products or service

BHZE3H31HIE

5

Year ended 31 March

ARBET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
SHEEmM Sales of products
(il KCL 4,372,941 3,166,130
o B4 £ SOP 464,500 438,190
T I NOP 7,138 2,348
AR Compound fertilizers 65,767 53,446
HAth Others 32,871 86,444
4,943,217 3,746,558
R AEE R Provision of production services 22,737 23,985
@t Total 4,965,954 3,770,543
U 35 T =70 1) s R Timing of revenue recognition
HESASIHLEFE

Year ended 31 March

ARETTT ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

1A 35 {18 B B A 2R At a point in time 4,943,217 3,746,558
B8 B P R R Over-time 22,737 23,985
wast Total 4,965,954 3,770,543
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5. WARZHESR (H)

()

(ii)

REEFERKRAZHD

(&)

REFERE D 2WBWA

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Revenue by types of customers

HE3ASIBILFE
Year ended 31 March

20254 20244

2025 2024

ARBET T ARETTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

EAZE ([BEAE]) State-owned enterprise (“SOE”) 2,950,909 2,017,636

BB RE Non-SOE 2,015,045 1,752,907

HEET Total 4,965,954 3,770,543
EFERNBHER (i) Performance obligations for

AEBERRAEEFPHEREN
e - WAEEmEFRERNE
B (AEmpEPIEREAE
BEREER) #R

AEBETTAETFREMEEER
% BAKBERIGEHIREARTARN
BIESRABERDEFNNE
E ARERGERBTEORME
mEEREHER - ZFEERBH
WATIRE AR EREBRRRE
HORRER

R —REEHH0E180H -

contracts with customers

The Group sells specialty potash-based
fertilizers directly to its customers. Revenue
is recognized at a point in time when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the
goods have been collected by customers or
delivered from the Group’s warehouses.

The Group provides production services to
customers. Such services are recognized as
a performance obligation satisfied over time
as the Group creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. Revenue is recognized
for these production services based on the
stage of completion of the contract using
output method.

The normal credit term is 0 to 180 days upon
delivery.
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5. WARZHEFR (H)
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B DEEZEZZFAREXNERZ
RS BEEDERE -

(iv) oHER
RERODERRRTHME © M
RARITES (NFEELERE
) EBZENRAEENEES
ERE - ARNTESWEERM
BYMBER - Bt EFRR
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REBEEREEMR T BEE
B ARMESI0EER -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation
for contracts with customers

All contracts with customers are for period of
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Segment information

Information reported to the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance
assessment, is the consolidated results of
the Group as a whole. No other discrete
financial information is provided. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company consider
there is only one operating segment under
the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments. In this regard, only entity-wide
disclosures are presented.

No geographic information is presented
as the revenue, non-current assets and
operations of the Group are primarily derived
from its activities located in the PRC.
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5. WAKZHER (&)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(iv) oHER (&) (iv) Segment information (Continued)
FEXFER Information about major customers
RBEFEEAREBEBKRAER Revenue from customers of the
10% 2 KRB R P AT M corresponding years contributing over 10% of
S the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

HE3ASIBILEFE
Year ended 31 March

ARKETTT ARKETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HERA Customer A 581,972 478,301

EFB Customer B TER N/A 446,328
g RIERFE - AR AR 1 The corresponding revenue did not
AEEBKAR10% A L o contribute over 10% of total revenue of the

Group for the relevant year.
6. HfbuA 6. OTHER INCOME

HESASIBHLEE
Year ended 31 March

AREFIT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
N BR A TRILERL Extra deduction of input value-added tax 13,902 =
ERAT#E BN (A aE) Government grants (Note) 3,233 3,292
SRITH B ULA Bank interest income 2,055 4,473
HelA Rental income 527 844
H Others 683 609
20,400 9,218

Hiag : ZeBEIXrEEPBREBNAESEES Note: The amounts mainly represented the incentive

RAEEBMBHMER MM - ZF
0B N S AR E R G AR R E R
W2 B g 2R 6 AR BY)

subsidies provided by the PRC government to
encourage business operation in the PRC. There
were no unfulfilled conditions attached to these
grants and the Group has recognized the grants
upon receipts.
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Hitm R ESE 7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

HESHAZIBILEE
Year ended 31 March

ARBT T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000
RAFEFEBEESTA
ERBEENEmEEN Gain from changes in fair value of financial
N EEH K assets at FVTPL 7,988 =
(Loss) gain on disposal of plant and
MRS &R (B18) Was equipment (49) 170
SNEE (B518) Was)F 58 Net foreign exchange (losses) gains (547) 6,032
Bk Donation (1,787) =
Efth Others (79) (609)
5,526 5,593
BA I A 8. FINANCE COSTS

HE3ASIBHLFE
Year ended 31 March

ARBT T ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BRZAERAEZ Interest expenses on borrowings 19,805 14,262
MR R ERZF B Interest expenses on loan from a related

(Htz£22(b)) company (Note 22 (b)) - 4,865

HEABZFERX Interest expenses on lease liabilities 175 470

19,980 19,597
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Fri& BB < 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
HEIASIBIEFE
Year ended 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
AR®ET T AR¥ETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FTiSFiF S B4E Income tax expense comprised of:
BEAFR IR : Current tax:
R ERERH
(ISR PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") 75,270 57,048
RIERIE (A2 19) Deferred tax (Note 19) (1,381) 362
73,889 57,410

BEAEEEARESR - AEEBAN
MBS BLE (T AIFREH: -

A M EFE D ERRTE N AMAE
ABNEH  WAMEFELEFELER
MSHEE -

b L 32 45 407 A AR A T A S0 0
BRBELRERTASR - RERE
HE -

BIERRECEMSHEREFREGA
Bl - ZEFTERREE25% © o - kT
BARMFASHEMEEER (BREF
BMEAERE) AINBAREERZS
15%METBHREER  MEBERES
ZFEBEH X - RMEFE FEAE
TEEEREREZEI5%MAERESR
e

The Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands pursuant to the rules and regulations in the
jurisdiction.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax as there is no
assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for
both years.

PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable rates of tax
prevailing in the areas in which the Group operates, based
on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT law and its detailed
implementation rules, the standard income tax rate is
25%. Besides, if the subsidiaries are qualified as high-
technology companies (under the PRC EIT law), the
subsidiaries are entitled to a reduced income tax rate of
15% and such qualification is subject to renewal every
three years. Certain of group entities in the PRC are
entitled to the reduced income tax rate of 15% for both
years.
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BIECEMSRARDEMSREE K
MA) - SINRIEEERPBIKZA AR A
2008 F BB AR A - AR E B S
WHW10%TEATER - ZERETE
HATS 5 R 0] R 2 1R 15 8 A M B U 5
RTPE—FAE  WESREEFA
BEMBEREX - RIBE(AAE B4R
TR R B 1 P 15 it oo B SR AN B LE
RN EZE)  WEBSERLE - 81
BRRR  FEREERAEED25%
G BZTEERCERAEBSERD
XXM ERMTEIMAMETR I EEiE—
FTHEES%  GRIBBMEGERST
10% ° FAFZN & B Bt 128 1 88 [0 B A 1 &=
W REEE R TER &R A e~ E
ERERUEEE  BWHMERKREVBER
R EMERARNR2025F3/831HE
SRR 4 AR# 2 752,870,0007T (2024
£ AR#2 413,047,0007T) FBIEHE
B Z BB R H IR AT R TE A o
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(CONTINUED)

According to the EIT Law and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, withholding income tax
at a rate of 10% would be imposed on dividends
relating to profits earned in year 2008 onwards to
foreign investors distributed from the companies
established in the PRC. Such dividend withholding
income tax rate may be further reduced under
applicable tax treaties or arrangement subject to
specific qualification requirements at the time of
the distribution. According to the arrangement
between the Mainland China and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance
of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal
Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income, the
withholding income tax rate on dividends paid by
a PRC resident enterprise to a Hong Kong resident
enterprise is further reduced to 5% if the Hong
Kong resident enterprise, including but not limited
to, holds at least 25% equity interests in the PRC
resident enterprise, and remains at 10% otherwise.
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately RMB2,752,870,000 as at 31 March
2025 (2024: RMB2,413,047,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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RAFENMEHAX AT RESEER
Hit 2R HOBRTATS M SRR T

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(CONTINUED)

The income tax expense for the year can be
reconciled to the profit before tax per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

HE3ASIHLFE
Year ended 31 March

20254 20244

2025 2024

ARBET T ARKET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

R %% B 4 A Profit before tax 413,373 333,604
ZRBEEMEHBE25%

82 Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% 103,343 83,401

Tax effect of expenses not
DA 2 B 2 deductible for tax purpose 3,802 10,289

Tax effect of income not taxable

BARMBAZ HIBZE

for tax purpose

- (18)

RS NEHR 2 i Tax effect of super deduction for research
Z& (Hfat) and development expenses (Note) (394) (3,709)
Tax effect of share of result

JEIEELEEEITFETE  of ajoint venture 6,676 1,498

BTYHEHBARNESR Effect of tax concessionary rates granted
MEMFE to the PRC subsidiaries (39,534) (34,107)
HA, Others (4) 56
73,889 57,410

Hiit - AERRAXERHBEELY BB
BREVETEE AR A - IREHE M E S E R FT
SHRAXKZEEREIN100%H AT
o

Note: The eligible expenditures represent research
and development costs incurred in the PRC and
charged to profit or loss, which is subject to an
additional 100% tax deduction in the calculation of
income tax expense for both years.
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10. FRRF 10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

HE3ASIHILEFE
Year ended 31 March

2025% 2024%F
2025 2024
ARBEFIT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRm AL T Profit for the year has been arrived at after
FIABIER charging
Cost of inventories recognized as an
R BRI 2 FEKA expense 4,310,251 3,219,438
BV EEEH Amortisation of intangible asset 1,585 1,585
BB R ERETE Depreciation of plant and equipment 45,837 44,644
FAEEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8,283 9,073
TEREHARE Total depreciation and amortisation 55,705 55,302
W BRERTFEKAR Less: capitalized as cost of inventories (36,745) (37,235)
18,960 18,067
ZEE & Auditor’'s remuneration
— BZIRT — Audit services 2,850 2,701
— FEEIZ R — Non-audit services 1,277 574
4,127 3,275
EmAX Listing expenses = 40,287
Staff costs (including directors’
BIRA(BREEEMHE) emoluments)
—EEWE (HiE12) — Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) 9,175 6,117
— Fre hEMmET — Salaries and other benefits 71,876 56,538
— RINEFIF B — Retirement benefit scheme contributions
(TBIEES) (excluding directors) 3,893 3,666
84,944 66,321
W BRNMERTFERA Less: capitalized as cost of inventories (22,828) (25,363)
62,116 40,958
11. RE 11. DIVIDENDS
RBEHA - ARRBEEATKEE During the reporting period, a final dividend of
20243 A31 HIEFERAME G- RMBO0.061 per share in respect of the year ended
AR¥0.0617T ° HEH WE?JEEH’WE/HJ? 31 March 2024 was declared to owners of the
IRB 4R/ ARMSE5,445,000T * X2 Company. The aggregate amount of the final
M2024F10 AN FTARARIMRE - BE dividend declared during the reporting period
2024$3531 HIEFE  #SERARAA amounted to RMB55,445,000 and was paid to the
BREIRKIRME shareholders of the Company in October 2024.

There was no dividend declared or paid to the
shareholders of the Company during the year ended
31 March 2024.
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RBERKRE ARBESEZERE
Z£2025%3 8318 ItFEIRZE AR
BEERLTBEBRARKEO.075 T (2024
F: AR¥0.0617T) ' BE&BHAEAN
K #68,171,0007T (20244 : AR
55,445,0007T) ' {BZEREERRBE R
T BRI

EERBETRASZHEN
REZREVHES

(a) EBERBESTBRAEZHE

WRIEE B £ AR R B X AR Bl 3
BENAFEEERESTTBRAR

11.

12.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a
final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March
2025 of RMBO0.075 (2024: RMB0.061) per ordinary
share, in an aggregate amount of approximately
RMB68,171,000 (2024: RMB55,445,000), has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and
is subject to approval by the shareholders in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
for the vyear, disclosed pursuant to the

2T applicable Listing Rules and the CO, is as
follows:
Hek BIER B3
we  HiEE  HEMR AERL hy
Retirement
Salaries benefit Performance
and other scheme related
Fee allowances contributions bonuses Total
AREBTT AREFT ARETT ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Hratii)
(Note iii)
HZ2025F3ANALEE Year ended 31 March 2025
BITES Executive directors:
2% (frti) Mr. Liu (Note /) - 7,146 77 - 7,223
BYREE Mr. Sun Pingfu - 564 38 - 602
ENREE Mr. Dong Benzi - 325 35 - 360
Independent
BUFRTES : non-executive directors:
TR S 4 (Hiatii) Mr. Chen Guofu (Note /i) 330 - - - 330
EDBRL (frti) Ms. Huang Shasha (Note i) 330 - - - 330
Qing MeyersonZ £ (fz#ii) Ms. Qing Meyerson (Note i) 330 - - - 330
@et Total 990 8,035 150 - 9,175
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(a)

BIHARZME N
B ER ()

EERESTRABZHS

(#&)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’

and chief executive’s

emoluments (Continued)

ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(W)
(Note i)
BZ2024F3ANALEE Year ended 31 March 2024
BIES Executive directors:
A%k (i) Mr. Liu (Note i) - 5,278 82 - 5,360
SR it Mr. Sun Pingfu - 387 83 - 470
ERRRE Mr. Dong Benzi - 223 34 - 257
Independent non-executive
BUFRIES directors:
RE R (i) Mr. Chen Guofu (Note i) 10 - - - 10
Ehp AL (W) Ms. Huang Shasha (Aote /i) 10 - - - 10
Qing MeyersonZ+ (#1:#ii) Ms. Qing Meyerson (Note /i) 10 - - - 10
@t Total 30 5,888 199 - 6,117
Hiat - Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

R ERMIEFEREEAAT
RETTBAE @ MER EXHE
BN emEEERSTR
ABHREREEREEBME
HIRBHME -

BREREE BEBFIPLLTR
Qing MeyersonZ =72 2024
F2H28HEZERARRE
NIFHMITES  BARF LW
TBHERK -

FIBARRATEAL THAR R AN 52 @A
RERAEEAEBEANSK
BEE -
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(i)

(if)

(iii)

Mr. Liu served as the chief executive
of the Company for both years and his
emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief
executive in management of the affairs of
the group entities.

Mr. Chen Guofu, Ms. Huang Shasha and
Ms. Qing Meyerson were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the
Company on 28 February 2024 with their
appointments becoming effective upon the
Listing of the Company.

Performance related bonuses are determined
based on the Group’s performance and
performance of the relevant individual within
the Group.
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EERBETHRAEZHME

(&)

EXFIRATES M AR
HAEBEARR R ANKEEHM
REZRS - LB IFATE
EMEHERERETARAES
RERBES SO -

RMEFE  HERTANESNK&K
BITBRABABRIEREXRER
ZEMBE 2= -

hEBREHMES

FRALEEREARSTMAEE
E—%(2024%F - B ES  H
BeFBEHER EXHES - &
P02 (20244 : =) EARRNFEE
ERERTHRABZESFHE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of
the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a
director or the chief executive waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during
both years.

(b) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group
during the year included one (2024: two)
director, details of whose emoluments are
included in the disclosure above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining

BZFAMSFBERT - four (2024: three) highest paid employees
who are neither a director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

HE3ASIBLFE

Year ended 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
AREFTT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e R EAMER Salaries and other allowances 6,852 2,943
RRTE A FT B Retirement benefit scheme contributions 66 93
6,918 3,036
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(b) HEZREFMES (&)

BHAATEEAFMARNT
WEZBEHMESABNT

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

Five highest paid employees
(Continued)

The number of the highest paid employees
who are not the directors of the Company
whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

HEIHAIBILEE
Year ended 31 March

Nil to Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD")

£%1,000,000 7T 1,000,000 = 2
1,000,001 8 TE
1,500,000 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 2 =
1,500,001 8L E
2,000,000/ 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 - 1
2,000,001 BTTE
2,500,000 7T HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 1 =
2,500,001 BT E
3,000,000/ 7T HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 1 =
4 3

RAEFE - AN 5% BB E A ER
ARREERTERSFMAR
XM ERMAKRSEE K MA
REE R R K BERB(E
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During both years, no emolument was paid
by the Group to any of the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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BREF 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
HZE3ASIHIEFE
Year ended 31 March
2025% 20244
2025 2024
ARETT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RARFTEARRRER A Earnings for the purpose of calculating
FEAEF A AREAR basic and diluted earnings per share for
MEE RN AR the year attributable to the owners of the
Company 307,471 252,479
KRHEE P& B
No. of No. of
Shares Shares
ARG M’_Hxﬁzli Weighted average number of ordinary
B 19 & 3 AR shares for the purpose of calculating
7JME£$1’-]%( basic earnings per share 908,548,110 681,762,295
TaRBE T2 Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
A=A Aic A A Over-allotment options 30,456 676,230
ARt E s Weighted average number of ordinary
B F 89 AR shares for the purpose of calculating
I 1588 diluted earnings per share 908,578,566 682,438,525

RETEHE2024F3A31HILFES
ngzvﬁﬂm - E AR AN S BT E R
R A% 15 I 4l ;o B AL 317 (AN Bf sk 28
Frilt) B 4202354 A1 HEMEE °

The weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of calculating basic earnings per
share for the year ended 31 March 2024 has been
determined based on the assumption that the share
subdivision and capitalization issue as described in
Note 28 had been effective on 1 April 2023.
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14. BMERRE

14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

AR COST
12023F4 1R At 1 April 2023 441,077 470,029 10,041 9,084 643 930,874
AE Additions 155 3,741 492 722 8,405 13,515
EEEIRER Transfer from CIP 837 29 - - (866) =
HE Disposals (13) (127) (1,146) - - (1,286)
EH A% Exchange realignment 24 - 77 17 - 118
12024438318 At 31 March 2024 442,080 473,672 9,464 9,823 8,182 943,221
AE Additions 68 712 3,089 326 64,910 69,105
BERIEER Transfer from CIP 385 762 - - (1,147) -
e Disposals - (1,229) (386) (285) - (1,900)
BRI BARELE Reclassified as held for sale (18,554) = - - - (18554)
B A Exchange realignment 9 - 34 7 - 50
R202543A31H At 31 March 2025 423,988 473,917 12,201 9,871 71,945 991,922
e DEPRECIATION
W2023%4A18 At 1 April 2023 171,043 260,047 6,757 6,585 - 444,432
EREE Provided for the year 18,154 25,264 837 389 - 44,644
HERHR Eliminated on disposals - (12) (1,032) - - (1,044)
B i A Exchange realignment 24 = 61 12 = 97
W2024%3A31H At 31 March 2024 189,221 285,299 6,623 6,986 - 488,129
FREE Provided for the year 18,890 24,920 1,250 777 = 45,837
HERHE Eliminated on disposals - (1,106) (347) (282) - (1,735)
BNARARELE Reclassified as held for sale (14,369) = - - - (14,369)
A% Exchange realignment 9 - 27 6 - 42
12025437318 At 31 March 2025 193751 309,113 7553 7487 - 517,904
REE CARRYING VALUES
R2025%3A31H At 31 March 2025 230,237 164,804 4648 2,384 71,945 474,018
R2024%3A318 At 31 March 2024 252,859 188,373 2,841 2,837 8,182 455,092
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R Kkt ()

Ei A MR EER (EZTZRRIN) A
BERORR T FERABRE

g THHAEK204F @ AR E
p=pid

W23 K 1048

RE 54

BN 54

AETMEREAEBENE NSRBI R
BER  AEEFIUABEEAEZE
%0 2 HE K A8 R S S AR & B R A
AREGOOTTHREELAEE - tES
FEERNEA BB HREERFE 155
ABRTIEMES S 2 B3k - B{ZE20254F
3A31HILEFE  AEEERUHEER
HEZHESERL ARS88,000,000
g0 (20244 : AR#¥108,348,0007T)
(M¥5E26) @ WAIE S T F (20244F = 49
AR#88,356,000 TR ST % T
AR®19,992,000 T AIE BEKEES
) o

R2024F 12 « AEBEBEFBEBNTE] L
o MRS RELHAREES2,211,000
TR AR BB I E A A AR BT ) A B
HETHELHRIETF - R2025%F 3 A 31
B @ ZEEHAKRTEE - K202593 A31
A HETHREFHNEEESNNE
AR#4.171,0007c X AR# 4,185,000
UL TEEERET LB T =@ AR
HE MESXBEARBELEEE TR
IREMBIRARERZS -

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of plant and equipment, except for
CIP, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the
following rates per annum:

Shorter of the term of the
lease, or 20 years

Machinery and equipment 10 years

Vehicles 5 years

Office equipment 5 years

Buildings

To better manage the Group’s capital structure
and financing needs, the Group enters into
sale and leaseback arrangements in relation to
machinery leases and the related machinery will be
transferred back to the Group at the end of leases
at consideration of RMB600. These legal transfer
does not satisfy the requirements of HKFRS 15
to be accounted for as a sale of the machinery.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
has raised approximately RMB88,000,000 (2024:
RMB108,348,000) (Note 26) borrowings in respect
of such sale and leaseback arrangements,
and were paid in cash (2024: approximately
RMB88,356,000 were paid in cash and the
remaining RMB19,992,000 were paid through notes
receivables).

In December 2024, the Group entered into an
agreement with the PRC Government to dispose of
its certain leasehold land and buildings in Sichuan
Province, the PRC to the PRC Government at a cash
consideration of approximately RMB52,211,000. The
disposal has not been completed as at 31 March
2025. As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount
of the leasehold land and buildings amounted to
approximately RMB4,171,000 and RMB4,185,000,
respectively, which are expected to be sold within
twelve months since the agreement entered, have
been classified as assets held for sale and are
presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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15.

EHEEE

AEEEESARAEHALE - HE
BHIR2ESEF (20245F : 2F) WE T H
BRETSZ e

AN AR E (REERBEEMAE
i) L E AR - — RN FTITRSESE
‘Ifl o

REREEERNSONEREEEN
WEHRNREEHINDT

15.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group leases various offices for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2
to 5 years (2024: 2 years).

In addition, lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire the land use rights in the PRC, where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located.

The carrying amounts of rights-of-use assets at end
of the reporting period by classes of rights-of-use
assets are set out as below:

HMEBMDTAT - Analysed for reporting purposes as:
M3A31H
As at 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
ARBT T AR¥ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BREE Carrying amounts
HETH Leasehold land 141,755 138,037
BN Office premises 14,990 5,967
156,745 144,004
M2025F3A31H * 2 RIERLAA As at 31 March 2025, lease liabilities of
¥ 14 302,000 7 (20244 : AR approximately RMB14,302,000 (2024:

5,375,000 ) M EEE - HEAFER
EEEHBARE14,116,0007T (2024
F: AR¥5,093,0007T) ° BrH AR
EMHEEENERERIN  HEHZS
e nER 2% - HEEENSHES
FRIER ©
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RMB5,375,000) are recognized with related right-of-
use assets of approximately RMB14,116,000 (2024:
RMB5,093,000) respectively. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.
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15. FHAEEE (&) 15.

meEakAMzERERESERAE
EMEEMT

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income contain the following
amounts relating to leases:

HE3ASIHLFE
Year ended 31 March

AREETTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

RIBEERITE Deprecation recognized in profit or loss
HELH Leasehold land 3,140 3,048
FENES Office premises 5,143 6,025
8,283 9,073

HE3ASIBILFE
Year ended 31 March

ARETTT ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

EHREEERY Expense relating to short-term leases 2,903 1,875
HERSRLERE Total cash outflow for leases 19,188 6,152
ANECRAEEE Additions to right-of-use assets 25,195 =

Annual Report 2024/2025 ) MIGAO GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 147



e MR E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. BE 16. GOODWILL
ARETFT AR¥ETTT AR¥ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Kiita) (HizEb)
(Note a) (Note b)
IB#N COST
2023F4 18 K&
20244 K 20254 At 1 April 2023 and
3A31H 31 March 2024 and 2025 2,606 9,463 12,069
BREE CARRYING VALUES
12023F4 18 K&
20244 K 20254 At 1 April 2023 and
3A31H 31 March 2024 and 2025 2,606 9,463 12,069
Bt - Notes:

(a) HEEREE201743A31BIEF
EREEEERFEERERETEAA
([RECKS ) BREA -

(b) IWEER20229F3 A31 A KB EEK
BEEREARAR ([BEXm]) B

EE-
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(a)

(b)

The goodwill was arising from acquisition of Zunyi
Daxing Compound Fertilizer Co., Ltd. (“Daxing
Migao”) during the year ended 31 March 2017.

The goodwill was arising from acquisition of
Baoging Migao Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd.
("“Baoging Migao”) on 31 March 2022.
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BE (&)

RETHENR  BEOEEWEBL
REELEN (BEMKXHME A RAEK
BRERAR) PEEZMEHIBEAF
REEREENT

16.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
have been allocated to two individual CGUs,
comprising two subsidiaries, Daxing Migao and
Baoging Migao. The carrying amounts of goodwill
allocated to these two subsidiaries as follows:

MR3A31H

As at 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
AREF T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
KEKS Daxing Migao 2,606 2,606
ZEKE Baoging Migao 9,463 9,463
12,069 12,069
Eﬁﬁmﬁﬁéiéﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬂﬁl@%%ﬁ)ﬁﬁ The recoverable amounts of the two CGUs
EREBETEET - ZSTEREBEER have been determined based on value in use

B AN RERFHMNTEBEEF R
HemETEA  BRHEAMEERE18%
(20244 : 18%) - AF BB HIRE R
EFHABERN2% (20245 : 2%) R =X
HE o ZEERNENHBAITERRTE
BB N BBERAITENFEERER
X - FHEENENEMEIERERER
RREEHEREMNENGEARESRAN S
MEARE ARG IERESELE
UHBERENEEBYHMIBRENTE
HEH - RREFE @ ARRESHETE
BeEEBMITERE -

calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period, and pre-
tax discount rate of 18% (2024: 18%). The cash
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 2% (2024: 2%) growth rate. This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculations relate
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin, such
estimation is based on the CGU'’s past performance
and management’s expectations for the market
development. During the both years, the directors of
the Company determine that there is no impairment
on the CGUs.
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16. HE (&)

16.

ARABEFRAR  EAZFHRENEM
BEAEEYHIEETREGELEN
MEREEBEZREEEEMA KD

T e

17. B EE

17.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The directors of the Company believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount
of a CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of that
CGU.

INTANGIBLE ASSET

ARETTT
RMB’000
BN COST
R2023F4 A1H - 20244
§ 202543 A31H At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 2025 15,850
5 AMORTISATION
MN202354 818 At 1 April 2023 10,303
F N Provided for the year 1,585
20243 A31H At 31 March 2024 11,888
FNEAE Provided for the year 1,585
M2025%3 5311 At 31 March 2025 13,473
BREE CARRYING VALUES
R2025F3H31H At 31 March 2025 2,377
R2024F3H31H At 31 March 2024 3,962
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BREEE (&) 17. INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED)

ANERBEBEHPESHEFBETD Customer relationship acquired in the business
BRAIRERAEREE - BFHARERE combination of Daxing Migao is identified and
REFBAAENAICAFHEE K22 recognized as an intangible asset. The aggregate
RNECKEMITHEER BEFEARREE amount of customer relationship is amortized
BN ARRAESFTEHEFPBEHE over the period of the useful lives of the customer
FREER10EF - relationship. With reference to experience in the

industry, customer bases and operation of Daxing
Migao, the directors of the Company assessed the
useful life of the customer relationship to be 10
years.

R—BEEh¥ R 18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

M3H31H
As at 31 March

ARBTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

R—HEEErEZIFLET
EZS R AR Cost of unlisted interest in a joint venture 79,847 79,847
Share of post-acquisition profits and other
FEME YRR T R E A 2 E comprehensive income, net of dividends

Yak (HIRREMARE) received 9,758 36,460
89,605 116,307
RIBAEHIK » NEFSLDESEMT Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

BEMEEEEEEERLA (INEAN JV]

#1f8EuroChem Migao Limited) A A 50% 50% 50% 50% HAER
New Era Agriculture Nutrition Group

Limited (“NEAN JV", Formerly known as Investment

EuroChem Migao Limited) Hong Kong  The PRC 50% 50% 50% 50% holding
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18. R—REEELE R (&) 18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
(CONTINUED)
BN BEREANENAEESEREDN Summarised financial information in respect of
BERBEHINT - WBER IR the Group’s joint venture which are accounted for
BEBMBREEN ST ERRR using equity method is set out below. The financial

information is prepared in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards.

NEAN JV NEAN JV
M3 A31H
As at 31 March
2025% 2024 %
2025 2024
ARETIT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENVEE Current assets 400 639
EREEE (M) Non-current assets (Note) 178,810 231,975
BEFE Net assets 179,210 232,614
Hiat - BEHRPEIER—RHAEEEE (RFE Note: Included in the balance, there was investment
LB AR (TYunnan  JV]) K93 in a joint venture, a company established in the
B &WOR/AKNKG68,853,0007T PRC (“Yunnan JV’) amounted to approximately
(2024% : AK"86,109,0007T) * J5 RMB68,853,000 (2024: RMB86,109,000),
LARESEARR - 1 Z 20253 A31H which was accounted for using equity method.
5 - BAYunnan  JVH)EERE During the year ended 31 March 2025, due to
ELER  ERENR - BERXE continuous losses were generated by Yunnan JV's
MR EREAA KR 49,700,0007T operation, an impairment loss of approximately
(2024% : &) - RMB49,700,000 (2024: nil) has been recognized

on its property, plant and equipment.

HZEIASIHIEE
Year ended 31 March

20255 20245

2025 2024

ARBFT ARBTFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

W as Revenue = -
Loss and total comprehensive

FABEREHERX A expense for the year (53,404) (11,984)
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18. RA—HEELE R (F) 18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
(CONTINUED)
. s N = 27 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
;ﬁ;ﬁfﬁggf%gg?gﬁﬁﬁ% information to the carrying amount of the interest in
h - - ' NEAN JV recognized in the consolidated financial
statements:
M3A31H

As at 31 March

ARBT T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000
NEAN JVH) & EFE Net assets of NEAN JV 179,210 232,614
AEBEMNNEAN JVEIFTEHE  Proportion of the Group’s ownership
Tz L interest in NEAN JV 50% 50%
AEBEMNEAN JVZ#25H/)  Carrying amount of the Group's
BREE interest in NEAN JV 89,605 116,307
19. EZEHIE 19. DEFERRED TAXATION
M3 HA31H

As at 31 March

ARETTT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

EERIEE E Deferred tax liabilities 2,400 2,783
RIEN AR & Deferred tax assets (4,697) (3,699)
(2,297) (916)
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19. EERIE () 19. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)
REBUARFERBEFERABNELT Deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognized by the
B (BE) BERAEZEHNT : Group and the movements thereon during the

current and prior year are as follows:

ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETRT  ARMTR  ARMTR
RMBOOO  RMBI00 RVB'000 RMBO00  RWBO0D  RMBI00O

R2023F4B1R At 1 April 2023 (102) (4,349) - - 3173 (12718)
Charged (credited) to profit
M GrA) BB (F9) or loss (Note 9) 102 650 - = (390) 362
202437318 At 31 March 2024 - (3,699) - - 2783 (916)
(Credited) charged to profit
(A NRERE W) or loss (Note 9) - (998) (2,385) 2385 (383) (1,381)
202537318 At 31 March 2025 - (4,697) (2,385) 2385 2400 (2,297)
20. FE 20. INVENTORIES
MW3A31H

As at 31 March

ARBT T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000
R R Raw materials 132,119 373,258
IR i Finished goods 45,526 68,983
B M E AR Packing and other materials 3,942 5,371
rEE M Goods in transit 1,570 1,714
183,157 449,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EZRHEMBUREUREAN  21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FIE AND PREPAYMENTS
M3A31H8
As at 31 March
2025% 20244
2025 2024
ARETT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B S REWGRIE Trade receivables 260,622 32,878
RAZEWIE (Kita) Unbilled receivables (Note a) 70,496 140,999
B EEEERE Less: allowance for credit losses (18,796) (14,803)
312,322 159,074
JAE=E Bills receivables 130,234 422,086
442,556 581,160
M3A31H
As at 31 March
20254 2024 %
2025 2024
ARETIT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FETENRIE (Hi7b) Inventories prepayment (Note b)
=E=0 — third parties 2,616,974 1,758,736
— BB - a joint venture 22,487 =
2,639,461 1,758,736
EE T EIGRIA Value-added tax receivables 42,799 50,169
s R s A R IE Prepayments for plant and equipment 49,561 57
Hith EUWGRIE « 1re Other receivables, deposits and
MIE IR prepayments 65,316 47,880
2,797,137 1,856,842
3,239,693 2,438,002
DHT ¢ Analysed as:
mE Current 3,180,445 2,428,151
JETED Non-current 59,248 9,851
3,239,693 2,438,002
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. EZREMEBKRREURTEN 21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

MIHE (&) AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

HieE - Notes:

(a) AAZEKRABEASEERNEM (a) Unbilled receivables represents accrued sales
BEARENETIHEE A5E# for goods delivered by the Group but yet to bill.
B K UER R 7 2 R IR SR TE A A The Group has unconditional right to the payment
Ao ZEFRBEBHGERARERE REET of the unbilled receivables which is expected to
180 B AR Z I 1A 121E A AUER » be billed within 180 days and received within 12

months from the end of the year.

(b) R2025F3A31H » REBUEEH (b) As at 31 March 2025, the Group made inventory
ZrRAZREEFELFERRNK prepayment to various suppliers of approximately
B4 AR 1,019,0007T (2024 £ RMB1,019,000 (2024: RMB271,448,000) by
AR#271,448,0007T) © M EUKREZE endorsed billed for which the maturity dates of the
KO EIEA B R 2 HY (FE2 B 5E33) © bills receivables have not yet fallen due (see Note

33).

Mo023FE4 A1 FAXEARKNESE As at 1 April 2023, gross trade receivables and

WHIERAEEERZSIEAES A ARK unbilled receivables from contracts with customers

200,370,0007T ° amount to RMB200,370,000 in aggregate.

AEE—BAFOE1S0AMEEE - AEE The Group generally allows credit period ranging

e B R S RS R R RS from 0 to 180 days. The Group will assess the credit

quality of each potential customer and define rating

TR REEREE -
= and credit limit for each customer.

NTARBERFEAREQHIT] - The following is an analysis of trade receivables by
ASREAN /7 == U\ as 7

@G égggﬁéﬁ&&;ﬁgﬁéguﬁm% age, net of allowance for credit losses, presented
L NR = = I =% =

SRR IB AT - based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting period:

M3H31H

As at 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
AR®ET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

g S EWRRE Trade receivables

90H N Within 90 days 111,030 17,784
912180 H 91-180 days 95,369 291
1812365H 181-365 days 35,761 759
1F M E Over 1 year 1,086 1,784
243,246 20,618
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 &k HAMBWREUREN
IR (E)

MR202543H31H ' EWEBEENA
AE#129,937,0007T (202445 : AREE
412,307,0007T) © B#EE—FHRAEEEL
BREE - AEBERAMEFE REER
REZEREE @ FIEHEERMESS -
REBWERKATA ZEEIHERE DR
—F (20244 : —4F) »

MR2025%3A31H EEBLEAAR
#132,216,0007L (20244 : AR™
2,834,0007T) KW FIE - EFFAR
SEMNEZHERGIBES  ZSEHER
REBHEAE ERSaHEsT
AR®36,847,0007T (20244 : AR
2,543,0007T) E @ HIQ0 RS A £ - MEE
RZERFNRITENGLE - BUERIE
WHEEN - ANEBUERZSEHER
EfIHEHR o

AEERABCITENBEYHRELE
AFIRMENBMEEE R IRREE
(WM ESS A EE) - MABEASHENE
FRYGIAME @ WE 2 @5 AR E
BEMREASEABESEFR  EL
EEBERERETHEHRTEZRUK
B UREBARERSR - BEEHER
BRBEEHEABR BB R
EEHAE - B5 ME A RUGRIRRR
BERHEFBHNHIEESS -

21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2025, total bills received amounting
to approximately RMB129,937,000 (2024:
RMB412,307,000), was further discounted or
endorsed by the Group. The Group continues to
recognize their full carrying amounts at the end of
both years and details are disclosed in Note 33.
All bills received by the Group are with a maturity
period of less than one year (2024: one year).

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group's
trade receivables balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB132,216,000
(2024: RMB2,834,000) which is past due as at
the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
RMB36,847,000 (2024: RMB2,543,000) has been
past due for 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default based on good repayment records
for those customers. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 as
disclosed in Note 35. For trade receivables with
significant amounts, they are assessed individually
for impairment allowance and collectively for
remaining trade receivables based on the
Group’s internal credit rating, historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date. Details of impairment assessment of trade and
other receivables are set out in Note 35.
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22, BT ERRERS

22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS
(a) XEKEEEEUTBEBELE (@) The Group had the
£R related party balances:
M3HA31H

following

As at 31 March

AREFIT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JEW & & EFIA ¢ Amounts due from joint ventures:
Eo%E Trade nature
— Yunnan JV (#ti#(a)) - Yunnan JV (Note (a)) 14,548 13,862
IFBEZ ML Non-trade nature
— NEAN JV (#7152 (b)) — NEAN JV (Note (b)) 4,864 4,658
19,412 18,520

FEf—FRBB AR 2
HERE

—BXF(BR) FHERE
BRAR ([EXFER])
(H1iE(c))

Lease liabilities to a related
company

— Huantaiyang (Zunyi) Real Estate
Leasing Co., Ltd. (“Huantaiyang
Zunyi”) (Note (c))

(1,915)
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22. BHMAEESRERS (&)

(a) AKEEHEBUTEHBLE
g (&)

#iiz -

(@)

Yunnan JVENEAN JVAYE
BN o EYunnan JVHE S
TR BAZR B R MR R BIRK
HE - —m=s @ BATHRE
HHAIOH - 25 EHAE
ERRRE °

AN AR BRI E IR IR %
SRV HAGEDENES
TRRRAEERRORRER DT

22.

e ISR AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

The Group had

the following

related party balances: (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Yunnan JV is the joint venture of NEAN
JV. Trade related balances with Yunnan
JV arose from sales of raw materials and
finished goods. In general, 90 days credit
period is allowed. These balances were
unsecured and interest-free.

The following is an aged analysis of the
Group’s trade related balances with a joint
venture at the end of the reporting period
presented based on invoice date:

R3A31H
As at 31 March

ARETT ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

0Z90H 0 - 90 days 2,611 13,862
1F U E Over 1 year 11,937 =
14,548 13,862

R2024%3A31H ' A&E
NEEZRMAEEDEELR
B R R S BB 0 TE AN FRIE
B AREA1,477,0007T (2025
F:F) HEWERZEH
A AEIH (RHFE33) °

As at 31 March 2024, the Group made
prepayment for purchase of raw materials
and finished goods to the joint venture of
RMB1,477,000 (2025: nil) by endorsed
billed for which the maturity dates of the
bills receivables have not yet fallen due
(see Note 33).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. BHMAESRERS (&)

(a) AEEEEUTEBLSA
g (&)

(b) JEUINEAN  JVFEIEE BIEA
EBMANEAN  JVEZAEH—R
RATBAY - 25 HERIEE
SME - BB - EEKRRAER
TR(EE -

22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(@) The Group had the following
related party balances: (Continued)

(b)

The amount due from NEAN JV mainly
represents the general and administrative
expenses that the Group paid on behalf
of NEAN JV. The amounts are non-trade
nature, interest-free, unsecured and
repayable on demand.

HEIAIBHILEFE
k|
Maximum amount during the Year
ended 31 March

ARETT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
NEAN JV NEAN JV 4,864 13,232

(c) HEBMICLMES  HE
WRERAEE R o

(d) JE 5 — R BAEE R B FE R K RE
24 FE -
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(d)

The entity has been identified as a related
party of the Group as it is controlled by Mr.
Liu.

The amount due to a related company is
disclosed in Note 24.
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22. BBMAEHRRRS (&) 22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) AEEHEZBEHAITILUT (b) The Group entered into the
5 : following transactions with related
parties:

HE3ASIBLFE
Year ended 31 March

ARBT T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000
SELE
Joint venture
Yunnan JV SHE RAR R SRR
Yunnan JV Sales of raw materials
and finished goods 3,932 306,009
BB 5 R R BB m
Purchases of raw materials
and finished goods 2,538 2,172
22k NG|
Related companies
BERFHEE MERX
Huantaiyang Zunyi Interest expense 40 190
HERX
Lease expense 621 -
REITIERR 2 EEERAR
The immediate
holding company of
Heilongjiang MEFX
Beidahuang* Interest expense - 4,865
= mESTIASHEAEREREERLS * Heilongjiang Beidahuang Modern
BRAT ([BETAE|) AARER Agricultural Services Group Agricultural
JEHER AR ER o Materials Co., Ltd. ("Heilongjiang

Beidahuang”) is a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group.
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22. ABLERERS ()

FAEEEZEABA R LT

X5 - (#)

(b)

MR2025%3 A31H XA AR
AR TFAEENRTHERME
HIEER @8 AT (2024F :
AR #280,000,0007T) °

(c) FEEEAEMSE

HE20254% 20243 A31H Ik
FE BEERHMFBEEEREK
8 7 FE R HisE12 -

162 XEEEEZERER AT @ F3k 2024/2025

22. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

The Group entered into the
following transactions with related
parties: (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, related parties of the
Company provided financial guarantees
in respect of bank facilities granted to the
Group was nil (2024: RMB280,000,000).

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and other
members of key management during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 is set
out in Note 12.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. ZRHES HITEKRKES 23. RESTRICTED CASH/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH
R2025F 20243 A31H « A&EEH As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had
FEERELTHNOZBRRSOT restricted cash pledged for credit facilities as
follows:
M3 H31H
As at 31 March
2025%F 20244
2025 2024
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FER IR Bills payables 134,380 109,975
EREEX Deposits for letter of credits 88,405 42,230
222,785 152,205

BERHEEABITHARRM KL EME
Z HEEEMNREERZEMEEA -
BIFRBITAI M EN ZRHE - 25
RIEMETLOATEARITIEAEMNE
BHEM S - RN2025E3A31H - &
NEEL KL A ARE485,170,0007T
(20244 : AR#219,940,0007T) °
202593 H31H - XBHIIE L FXRE
B BINTF0.05%E2.05% (2024 4F
0.01%%E2.25%) °

AEBARITR/BRIZIRITHIGNEETE -

A bills payable is a draft issued by a bank for
payments in future, which defers the payment until
the due date for redeeming the bill. According to the
bills payables agreement with the bank, a certain
percentage of the bills amount is required to be
deposited at the bank as security for bills payables
which total of approximately RMB485,170,000 as
at 31 March 2025 (2024: RMB219,940,000). The
interest rate of restricted cash ranged from 0.05%
to 2.05% as at 31 March 2025 (2024: and 0.01% to
2.25%).

Bank balances of the Group carry interest at
prevailing market interest rates.
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24. ESREMENSFIE

M3 A31H

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at 31 March

AREFT AREBETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5N RIA Trade payables 47,366 129,991
ARNEE Bills payables 485,170 219,940
EH TR IR Other tax payables 160,360 128,794
[R5 I 5% A HE A 38 Payables for plant and equipment 10,000 307
JiE < BE B X R ZNIB (B a) Amount due to a related company (Note) 7,755 =
fEEtEE R Accrued employee expense 3,829 4,252
EE KA E T RIE Payables for transportation costs 1,803 1,170
FERT TR R EMRHRX Accrued issue costs and listing expenses - 18,480
EHth Others 17,930 16,581
734,213 519,515

Biat: BN EAREZERFTIBERFEE ST
g8 BEEARARERER-
P 7 B K S AR 22 e P B0 ST A FR ) - R
HWRERSNEEE T -

164 KEEEEZERER AT @ F3k 2024/2025

Note:

The amount was non-trade,

interest-free,

unsecured and repayable on demand, and due to

APPH, which has been identified as a
of the Group as it is controlled by Mr.

related party
Liu.
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BZREMEMNFIR ()

AEBE-—REEHEHESIORE180
BOWEEH - U TARSREHRILE
SHHZ2JREREREADNE RN RE
RENEESIT -

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

The Group normally receives credit terms of 90
to 180 days from its suppliers. The following is an
analysis of the trade and bills payables by age,
presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period:

M3 H31H
As at 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
AR®ET T ARKETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BESEARE Trade payables
0Z90H 0 - 90 days 30,435 104,530
91%=180H 91 — 180 days 9,522 20,924
1812360H 181 — 360 days 2,811 1,621
154 £ Over 1 year 4,598 2,916
47,366 129,991
M3 A31H
As at 31 March
20255 20245
2025 2024
ARBET T ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EAREE Bills payables
0Z290H 0 - 90 days 191,600 171,600
912180H 91 — 180 days 203,570 48,340
181£360H 181-360 days 90,000 -
485,170 219,940

EZREMENZREHRABARK
13,618,0007C (20244 : AR

22,882,0007T) &%
TIUNEHEE

/&8 - KA

BEN EBRRERZ

AMERE RSB RS AE B (RME

33) o

Included in the trade and other payables, are
RMB13,618,000 (2024: RMB22,882,000) which
had been settled by endorsed bills for which the
maturity dates of the bills receivables have not yet
fallen due as at the end of the reporting period (see
Note 33).
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25. SEIEE

BN A
ERAaE

Current
Contract liabilities

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

M3 A31H
As at 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
AREET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
764,789 745,120

R2023F4A18 ' RERXFARNAR
B & A ARE335978,0007T °

EAKREAER MR ABEF KB HA
- AEIEAAE S8RAaRMA
RELTAREBE BEEHBEARERR
W BB RIE /L - AEE—K
EETEFPEAKER LA REREK
HRAAREN20%E100%ERRE -

REAEZNRZBRERRBSHEFMA
RWERBERRE NFR - BERS
EFERERNBEHE TR K -
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As at 1 April 2023, contract liabilities from contracts
with customers amounted to RMB335,978,000.

Contract liabilities are recognized when the Group
receives an amount from customers before goods
are delivered, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the beginning of a contract, until the revenue
recognized on the relevant contract exceeds the
amount received. The Group typically receives a
deposit of 20% — 100% of total consideration from
certain customers when they enter into the contracts
with the Group.

Revenue recognized during the vyear included
the whole amount of contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period. There was no
revenue recognized during the year that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior
years.
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26. & 26. BORROWINGS
M3 A31H
As at 31 March
2025%F 20244
2025 2024
ARMTRE — ARMTR
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITE Bank loans 314,990 320,800
RITHEEZEBREN Advance from banks on discounted
EEVIREWEEMELAEE bills receivables with full recourse
(H12£33) (Note 33) 115,271 116,015
HuER (A1) Other loans (Note) 152,083 108,348
582,344 545,163
Bt - wEieE R M RLHEE®EZ (5 Note: Balances represented borrowings arising from sale
M EE 14 EER ) o and leaseback arrangements as detailed in Note
14,
MK3A31H
As at 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
ARETRE  ARMTR
RMB’000 RMB’000
DT ¢ Analysed as:
BIHA Current 428,010 380,736
JERNER Non-current 154,334 164,427
582,344 545,163
DL Analysed as:
BHEA Secured 513,594 465,163
A Unsecured 68,750 80,000
582,344 545,163
MEBEEE TR Carrying amount repayable* within
HAR—FR one year and
EEMIREE shown under current liabilities
RITERK Bank loans 341,511 336,915
Hibh B Other loans 86,499 43,821
428,010 380,736
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26. f&™ (&) 26. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
M3 A31H
As at 31 March
20255 2024%F
2025 2024
ARBEFIT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FMEBEEE TR Carrying amount repayable* within
AREB—FETER a period of more than one year but not
Gl exceeding two years and shown under
#ARE(E non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 88,750 99,900
HER Other loans 26,676 64,527
115,426 164,427
EREBEEE TR Carrying amount repayable* within
JARRE PFEETER a period of more than two years but not
AFHIMAEE exceeding five years and shown under
HAREE non-current liabilities
HaER Other loans 38,908 =
582,344 545,163
* FERIERBE R RN TEEE * The amounts due are based on scheduled
BABE - repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
REBEEHRUTEE TIRITH 2 B The Group had pledged the following assets to
BERAEERREHRABERORIT banks or a financial institution as securities against
A& ERARR ZMIER (BakizE14 the banking facilities granted to the Group or the
Fafit) : sales and leaseback transactions as detailed in

Note 14 at the end of the reporting period:

M3 A31H

As at 31 March
20254 2024 %
2025 2024
AREET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
i K 5% Plant and equipment 204,644 85,037
FAEEE Right-of-use assets 23,881 21,682
228,525 106,719
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26. fa (&)

AEBERNEREENERFMNE (TR
ERNEERMNE)BEWDT -

26. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum
(which are also equal to contractual interest rates)
on the Group’s borrowings and their carrying values
are as follow:

MK3A31H
As at 31 March
2025%F 2024 %
2025 2024
AR¥ETTT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(& TE F = A& 5K Fixed-rate borrowings:
IAANBREHE (7R 20254
3A31ANF3.75% % Denominated in RMB (ranging from
7.33% (20244 : 3.90% 3.75% to 7.33% as at 31 March 2025
%£7.33%)) (2024: 3.90% to 7.33%)) 327,004 365,363
BN AT Variable-rate borrowings:
AANREEGHE (7220254
3A31ANF2.30%= Denominated in RMB (ranging from
4.90% (20244 : 3.05% 2.30% to 4.90% as at 31 March 2025
E4.75%)) (B157) (2024: 3.05% to 4.75%)) (Note) 255,340 179,800
582,344 545,163

BiaE - BEAAN R EHE R F B A K 5 5K i
= A RR2025F3A31 BN
THREBRANENT7T%EHEEFREY
158% (2024 F : N FHREBFEK
88% 2 HEEFEH)138%) - HZER
MEAETFEARBITERE R AMHAF
Bl B EF = -

Note: For variable-rate borrowings denominated in RMB,
the variable rates at range from 77% of Prime to
158% of Prime as at 31 March 2025 (2024: range
from 88% of Prime to 138% of Prime). Prime is
the prime rate in China, which is determined and
announced by the People’s Bank of China.
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27. HE&®RE 27. LEASE LIABILITIES

M3 A31H

As at 31 March

ARKETTT ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ZIERE AT ¢ Maturity analysis:
THB—F Less than one year 3,876 4,977
1ZE24F 1to 2 years 3,579 536
2%E54F 2 to 5 years 9,081 -
16,536 5,513
W RKREE R Less: Future finance charges (2,234) (138)
HERMHRE Present value of lease obligations 14,302 5,375
DA Analysed as:
BNEA Current 3,232 4,841
JEBNER Non-current 11,070 534
14,302 5,375
202563 A31 A HASEEERBEAN The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
T EBERFENENF5.25%F applied by the relevant group entities range from
7.00% (20244 : 5.38%%6.30%) ° 5.25% to 7.00% per annum as at 31 March 2025

(2024: 5.38% to 6.30%).
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g7 28. SHARE CAPITAL
RIPEE &N E)
Number of shares Share capital Presented as
ET ARETT
usD RMB'000
EE Authorised
R2023F4 1R At 1 April 2023 50,000 50,000
B34 (1) Share subdivision (i) 4,950,000 =
Bn(i) Increase (ii) 9,995,000,000 99,950,000
1202463 A31H
%2025%3A31R At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
BRIREHR Issued and fully paid
R2023F4 1R At 1 April 2023 10,000 10,000 66
BRI AF A (i) Share subdivision (i) 990,000 = =
B AT (ii) Capitalisation issue (iii) 674,000,000 6,740,000 47,832
RERDREER
BLTHARA (iv) Issue of new shares upon the IPO (iv) 225,000,000 2,250,000 15,963
R2024F3A31H At 31 March 2024 900,000,000 9,000,000 63,861
{Tfe AR ER AL A (v) Exercise of over-allotment option (v) 8,940,000 89,400 635
R2025%F3A31H At 31 March 2025 908,940,000 9,089,400 64,496

(i)

(if)

RK2024F2A28H + RAREERA (i)
50,0003 7T 50,000 3% F AL I E 1€

TLE D R A = 5,000,000 B & AR T

H0.01E TR, Bt * "AAE

BT RAE IR EE B 10,000 R &M%
EfE1E T B R 35 12 1,000,000 A%
FREE0.01FTH D -

M2024%2H28H0 » KA T (ii)
EAEBRAMBS50,000 L9 A
5,000,000 R AR E{E0.01ETH

DI AZE 100,000,000 E T D A
10,000,000,000 % &% E{E0.013 T

HIRED o

On 28 February 2024, the authorised share capital
of the Company of USD50,000 was subdivided
from 50,000 shares of USD1 each to 5,000,000
shares of USD0.01 each. As a result, the number of
issued and fully paid share capital of the Company
was increased from 10,000 shares of USD1 each
to 1,000,000 shares of USD0.01 each.

On 28 February 2024, the authorised share capital
of the Company was increased from USD50,000
divided into 5,000,000 shares of USDO0.01 each
to USD100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
shares of USD0.01 each.
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28. & (&) 28. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(i)  RIEMN2024F2 28 HBBAIKE (i)  Pursuant to the written resolutions of the

EERER AR BB AR BN
BER#EIR S 56,740,000 E T A7
BARMANANRERE ETATZS AR
AR E AR R EHAEETREE
0.013E7THI674,000,000 A% &4 2 AL -

(iv)  72024%F3H218 » KRR
17225,000,000% & f% I {E0.01 37T
BT (B EBARAERKRM4.0875
JL * FT{S5RIE 8 EE4918,000,0007%
7T (FHER# ARES32,718,0007T))
& RINREE R T EMR £ o

(v) R2024F4 A178 » KRB EARRF]
RO BREIREREDLDITHEIREEE
BRAD4.08BTTRIA RRREITR
fid 28,940,000 P& & 3@ A%

29. ERIREFIFE

ARBZMBARIERE BT EBFERE
ZEERARBANFEIKE - PEMER
AR F A AN 2 — T B 2 Lt AR RAR
MEFEIHK - MMESZFR/IZER -
AEBEBRABAF B 2 —BERE

HHEE R o

HZE2025F3A31BItFEAEZR
BB ERKERREK AL A A
R# 4,043,000 (20244 : ARM
3,865,0007T) °

172 XS EEZERER AT @ F3k 2024/2025

shareholder passed on 28 February 2024, the
Company capitalized the sum of USD6,740,000
standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company and applied the amount
towards paying up in full 674,000,000 shares of
nominal value of USD0.01 each for allotment to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company immediately before
the Listing.

(iv) On 21 March 2024, the Company was successfully
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
following the completion of issuance of
225,000,000 new shares of USD0.01 each issued
at an offer price of HKD4.08 per share and the
total proceed was HKD918,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB832,718,000).

(v) On 17 April 2024, the Company issued and allotted
ordinary shares of 8,940,000 shares to the public
shareholders at an offer price of HK$4.08 per
share pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-
allotment option in the shares of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The employees of the Company’'s subsidiaries are
members of a state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost of state-managed retirement
benefits charged to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately
RMB4,043,000 (2024: RMB3,865,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. K=EHE 30. OPERATING LEASES
rEEEREHEA The Group as lessor
RAEERDROMERSBRARARE Property rental income earned during the year was
527,0007T (20244 : AR #¥844,000 RMB527,000 (2024: RMB844,000).
JT) e
HESEYCRUIBEENRET - Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases

are as follows:

MH3A318
As at 31 March

ARBT T ARBETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FRK Within one year 520 411
FF In the second year 520 =

F=F In the third year 520 =
FIOF In the fourth year 520 =

ERF In the fifth year 520 -
FERFLAE After the fifth year 130 =

2,730 411

31. BERAE 31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
M3A31RH

As at 31 March

ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BN IR Commitments for capital expenditure 194,743 165,873
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32. BAVEERESEFAE  32. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
HERNEREE
W3A31H
As at 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
AR®ET T AREETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ELEMEEESD (&) Unlisted investment funds (Note) 82,758 =

Kiat © HZ=202593A31HIEHE @ AEE
BETRRE  BIRERIELTR
BES  REEZSHDHRIREARM
BEREHRERE -

HERZEEMEENERREREL I
EBAEMREERASBEZANEMNK -
AiteMEERAFEFELEZF
ABHIERFE - UATFEFESRE
EMF IR 353 FE

HE2025F3A31 HNEHREREZAK
EEAET2025F3 A31 B AFENSE
HEEEED o

HESREE

AT A& B 202543 A31H £2024
FIASIHZERMEE  HUE2MEE
REEFBRAIEEZSTEREE 2R
EETIRITHMHER - BRASEERE
FEZZRERRFEEENEANRR RO
HoOMESREERERZE2IHER
B WERREREEEREEEMN
W38 & 1E A B IR E R (R E26) sk
B EEZRRKEEERAEKEZEN 2
RAELESREMNRENZHREE (R
MizEo4) - ZEeREENAEBZRE
B TS A0 3R SR S A AN B B
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Note: During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
invested in unlisted investment funds for short-term
investment purpose. The return of investment funds
is determined by reference to the return of their
underlying investments.

Since the contractual cash flows of these financial
assets do not represent solely the payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, the financial assets are measured at
FVTPL. Details of the fair value measurement over
the financial assets are disclosed in Note 35.

The balance as at 31 March 2025 has been
subsequently redeemed in full by the Group at an
amount approximated to the fair value as at 31
March 2025.

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following were the Group’s financial assets as
at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 that were
transferred to banks or suppliers by discounting
or endorsing those bills receivables on a full
recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred
the significant risks and rewards relating to these
receivables, it continues to recognize the full
carrying amount of the bills receivables and has
recognized the cash received on the transfer as a
secured borrowing (see Note 26) for discounted
bills receivables or it continues to recognize the full
carrying amount of the bills receivables and the full
carrying amount of the trade payables (see Note
24) for endorsed bills receivables. These financial
assets are carried at amortized cost in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position.
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33. HEESHERE (&) 33. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)
M2025F3 A31H As at 31 March 2025

ARETT ARETTT ARETTT ARETT

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Carrying amount of transferred
EREENREE assets 115,300 14,637 - 129,937
Carrying amount of associated
HRAENERRE liabilities (115,271) (13,618) = (128,889)
29 1,019 - 1,048
H2024F3H31H As at 31 March 2024

ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETTT

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Carrying amount of transferred
EEBENEEE assets 116,500 294,330 1,477 412,307
Carrying amount of associated
EHEEENERE liabilities (116,015) (22,882) = (138,897)
485 271,448 1,477 273,410
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. EXEmERE 34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
$%@ BHER  ERASEITEF The Group manages its capital to ensure that the
BrreE  RNBEBELELEBRERATE Group will be able to be continued as a going
BIRRFIMHE AR R o NEE 2 EEBR concern while maximising the return to shareholders
e E—FERBETE - through the optimisation of the debt and equity

balances. The Group’'s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.
REB EREREBDIEMMT26 TR The capital structure of the Group consists of
B HBRBESRBAESFEMAREA borrowings disclosed in Note 26, net of cash and
AR AELER (BEEETRARRE cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
&) ° of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.
RAGBESTFEHRTERNERE - EALL The directors of the Company review the capital
BERHz—Hn  RAGESEREAR structure regularly. As part of the review, the
AR N B E R R E AR E b o BRI directors of the Company consider the cost of
RABESFEEZ  ASEREBRIN capital and risks associated with each class of
fRE - BITHR  BRAIEHBREER capital. Based on recommendations of the directors
BEBATFEHEEEARERE - of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends, new
share issues, raising of new debts and repayment
of existing debts.

35. €@ T A 35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. SEMIAER a. Categories of the financial
instruments
M3 A31H
As at 31 March
20254 20244
2025 2024
AREFT  AREBFR
RMB’000 RMB’000
SREE: Financial assets:
REESHR AT AR Y
CREE (21 Financial assets at amortized cost
RITERKIBE) (including bank balances and cash) 1,456,067 1,577,526
BAFEEAR
BE A B
BEamemBEE Financial assets at FVTPL 82,758 =
1,538,825 1,577,526
SREE: Financial liabilities:
HSHR AN Amortized cost 1,152,368 931,632
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35. @@ T A (&)

b.

cRIEMEEBERBX

AEENIECHTABREES
KREMBKRE  BREZDEE
RE - BRAFEFELHEEZD
AAAEMBaMEREE  XR
HRE RTEHERAS  BH
MEMBEMNRE  EREEE
B ARZFETRTANFRER
AN ERE  SZEermTA
BERRER BT SRR (%R
REFNEERR)  EERR KR
B ER - AR & FE R
BRHENTX - EBEEENME
RZERBMO - UERER KR
BRI R A BEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies

The major financial instruments of the Group
include trade and other receivables, amounts
due from joint ventures, financial assets at
FVTPL, restricted cash, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, borrowings
and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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35. 2RI E (H&)

b. TREAREZEEEREE
(&)

™% R
E¥/m e

AEBERERBINERITHEES  ES
Ko Eo Al FE AT SRIEIA R A8 3R - e
EAKEHEINERR - AEE
B A3 SN E SRR o AT
ARG B E B AR SN R B 3 A0
BREREELIPEAINERL

RBEYR - AEEEEAINE
FEMNEBEERERABZE
[EN=R

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk
Currency risk
The Group has foreign-currency bank

balances, trade and other payables, and
borrowings, which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Group
monitor foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s major
foreign currency denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

BE afs
MR3A31H MR3A31H
Assets Liabilities

As at 31 March

As at 31 March

AREEFT ARETT AREFT AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

eI UsbD 172,774 160,418 2,509 2,509
BT HKD 1,553 353,933 = =
174,327 514,351 2,509 2,509
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35. @@ T A (&)

b.

CHEREEEEREE

(%)
5 A ()

Bl B AN A
BURZ

AEBHBETRETEARKE
MENR R -

TRV NEZ2025F3 A31H
IFEAEBERARB N ET
ML EF R T 5% (2024 4F -
5%) BIERLE ° 5% (2024 F :
5%) JhmF BEIR A 8 K I E R
HNES [ B B R AR M SRR B B 3R
REREIRE NS IE RS IR A B
BEEL 2T A o HEAE DM
EREINETENREEERE
B W REH RS % INEEE
REFHFABRHBE - TUWEH
EANEARBEBABEEHES%
B ANEERBEEEFRD - &
RARE S BEEEIZES% « 8
EHAFERBMEBBNEELESR
MR E -

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is exposed to fluctuation in USD
and HKD against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2024: 5%) increase and
decrease in RMB against USD and HKD
for the year ended 31 March 2025. 5%
(2024: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A negative
number below indicates an decrease in post-
tax profit for the year where RMB strengthen
5% against the relevant currency. For a
5% weakening of RMB against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the
year.

HE3ASIHLEFE
Year ended 31 March

20255 20245

2025 2024

ARET T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

= usb (7,293) (6,591)
BT HKD (65) (14,777)
(7,358) (21,368)
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35. ®@IT A (&) 35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

CHEREEEEREEK

==
(%)
M5 AR ()

1| 32 J7] fen
2 )R] L2

AEENAFENERERERHE
Bl FE M R ERERE -

7K £ B 771 [0 g S B M R AS K
XEBRHEE MIRITHERARBANIR
ERMERR -  NEENBRS
RILAT T 5 N 2 4 15 58 H A5 FRUA
BEREATFENXEAR - BT
MM ERBREBREFRAEERG
REENREEN KN -

RS2 B A 3 £ F {o] K 2= ) IR
Ko AM - BEEREEENEAR
WO & TR R E A R o

AEEEEBRR  XRHIRS
FERITHEBEONXE R TE
R AREELEHRANEHAE
H RIS ERBFRRAL FERX -

AT 8RR E DT TH IR R 3R 45 B R
B2 B)F B8 5 F = R b &
TE o DMTIIBRRRBEHRAKE
ENERREEAFEDREEM
mE - EEEFT AN ENESER
BE 42 &) T {5 FA 18 hn sk R A 50 &
24 (20244 : 50{EE2L) B »
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Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to fixed-rate borrowings.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate borrowings, restricted cash and bank
balances. The Group’s policy is to maintain
short-term borrowings at prevailing market
rates so as to minimise the fair value interest
rate risk. The cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation in
Prime arising from the Group’s borrowings.

The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate risk
exposure and will consider interest rate
hedging should the need arises.

The management of the Group considers the
exposure of the restricted cash and bank
balances to interest rate risk is insignificant
as these balances are within short maturity
period and the fluctuation of market interest
rate is not expected to be significant.

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rate risk for variable-rate borrowings at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of borrowings
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2024: 50 basis points) increase
or decrease representing management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rate is used.
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35. @@ T A (&)

b.

CREREEEERBEE

=t
(#&)
TSR ()

T 27 [F7] fs [ 435 )
T2 2 (AR

WA EiEm / FBIKS50 @ E 2
(20244 : 50EEZ) BFBE
HEERFTIE  AAEEEHZE
202543 A31 B It FEMKRE
BEFEEEm RO OAR
#958,0007T (20244 : AR
674,0007T) °

EERRMREN G

AEBAHF I REETEMEM
BRXMBEIZEREER
% IR BERE MR R R
BRERARAMBZIACERS R
BEZMKREE -

REFERBRREERE  ARF
EXERk—EAEKEEEER
ER#E FEHENEMERIE
Fr o ARERERER IR £ 17 B e 78
HIEIR - b4 AEERHEH
REMEREANESEERZ TR
e UEERLTAIKREZ &
BRI R ZMERE - pLitm
5 ARREERS  AKEZ
FERBEAERD -

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

If interest rate had been 50 basis points
(2024: 50 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31
March 2025 would be increased/decreased
by approximately RMB958,000 (2024:
RMB674,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognized
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position and financial
guarantee contracts.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
directors of the Company has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual significant trade debt at
the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment loss is recognized
for irrecoverable amount. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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35. 2RI E (H&)

b. TREREEEERKXK

(&)

EERER KR EFE (8)

ANEER2025%43 A31 Bt A
SEEF—EZHEAEFNES
FEWFERERZENARE
75,565,0007T (20244 : AR¥E
47,827,00070) (hANEEE S fE
W IE & ERZ IR 17% (2024
F:8%)) AREFEERR - &
EEEEERE  ZEFAME
FEERIFNHEE  BERLH
Rif - REBEEER IR AZ
EERBRAR -

ANEER2025F3 A31 B E
SREBREBRERZEEESETF
EEE BESRRFEREKRE
B AEEH 26% (20244 : 51%) )5
ERAEERRNRTFE Z5E - It
SN RNEER 202563 A31 Bt
RAZEWHIE R ERS &%
HENEEREERR -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk
(Continued)

and impairment assessment

The Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk as at 31 March 2025 on the
trade and bills receivables from one of
the Group’s largest customers amounting
to approximately RMB75,565,000 (2024:
RMB47,827,000) and accounted for 17%
(2024: 8%), of the Group's trade and
bills receivables. In the opinion of the
management of the Group, the customer
is reputable organisation in the market
and have good repayment records. The
management of the Group considers that the
credit risk is limited in this regard.

The Group also has concentration of credit
risk on trade and bills receivables as at 31
March 2025, 26% of the total trade and bills
receivables was due from the Group’s top
five customers (2024: 51%). In addition, the
Group also has concentration of credit risk on
unbilled receivables and amounts due from a
joint venture as at 31 March 2025.
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35. RITH (/&) 35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
b. SEEAKREEEERBX b. Financial risk management
(%) objectives and policies
(Continued)

EERRE KR AR (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

7 £ (8 1) 9 205 B B S5 AR BT (Continued)

BEATER

The Group's internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

RZEFENRRRE TERHSEAVES FENRBEESR

e ARBGRRRAZ R -WARBEEERE 12@AEHEESE
The counterparty has a low risk of
default who does not have past due
amounts and does not have material Lifetime ECL
Low risk long aged unbilled receivables - not credit-impaired 12m ECL
BEHALTRIBEEESR BRESRBEE
SARMARRNAAZEUGEEATNHAE FENBHEESR
BREE BEBLEE -WARBEEERE 12@ABHEESRE
Debtor frequently repays after due dates
but usually settle in full or have long
aged unbilled receivables but usually Lifetime ECL
Watch list settle in full after billed - not credit-impaired 12m ECL
NEBER S EINBERES  BRBER B S FEREREEER FEREHREEEHR
AT &t R - FEREREAEE N —WARBEGEERE -WARBEEERE
There have been significant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition Lifetime ECL
through information developed Lifetime ECL - not credit-
Doubtful internally or external resources - not credit-impaired  impaired
FEBEREEER FEBEREEER
518 BERBRABELREERE —BEECERE -BERECERE
There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Loss credit-impaired - credit-impaired - credit-impaired
BRBRPEBARRENHRELAEE TR
i gH AB&WEE B SEEME SEEME
There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect
Write-off of recovery Amount is written off Amount is written off
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(SR AR RRET i ()
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SEEEECEEBRTENKR
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AEBEEEENRBEBNFE
BENE YR/EERAREN
RAENEBYFENEE EERR
WAERK °

BRES  ERAR SRR
BORRARAR - DARHT
7 BERE R AR &
B (5 B R IRTT -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

In determining the ECL for other receivables,
and amounts due from joint ventures the
management of the Group has taken into
account the historical default experience and
forward-looking information, as appropriate,
for example, the Group has considered the
consistently low default rate in connection
with payments, and concluded that credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
receivables is insignificant.

The credit risks on bills receivables,
restricted cash and bank balances are limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.
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35. @@ T A (&)

b. ZREREEEERKE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management

(%) objectives and policies (Continued)
EERR MRET S (8) Credit risk and impairment assessment

TRALAEECHEERT TS
ERERR2025F K 2024F3 A
STHEERMEERRKA « WA
EITREBEE BB

(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial assets
and financial guarantee contracts as at 31
March 2025 and 2024, which are subject to

ECL assessment:

hE W 1218 AskiF & FE2E
izt EEFR  FEIR EHEEER M3A31H
External Internal Gross carrying amount
Notes credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL As at 31 March
20255 20245
2025 2024
ARETT AR®TRT
RMB'000  RMB'000
RB#ERATIRCEHEE
Financial assets at amortized cost
FEBERCEER
B 5 RARERYGE 21 TEA (K1) (REEaTR)
Trade and unbilled receivables 21 N/A (Note 1) Lifetime ECL 203,338 45,648
(collective assessment)
RERRAEEER
ERR (R RIEFE)
Low risk Lifetime ECL 115,596 116,385
(individual assessment)
BB BEAEERE
Loss Credit-impaired 12,184 11,844
331,118 173,877
BN EE 21 Baa3-Aa3 TiEfM REARSEERR
Bills receivables 21 Baa3-Aa3 N/A 12m ECL 130,234 422,086
H Y8 21 TEf ERR REARREERR
Other receivables 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 4,510 5,298
e 21 TEH ERR REARSEERE
Deposits 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 16,000 8,000
B & B EE RENBHEEES
(E51E) 22 @A =R (ERIFHE)
Amounts due from a joint venture 22 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 14,548 13,862
(Trade nature) (individual assessment)
B & BB 22 TEA Vel 2@ AEREEER
Amounts due from a joint venture 22 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 4,864 4,658
XREHR 23 Baa3 - Aa3 TiEf 12 AEHEEEE
Restricted cash 23 Baa3-Aa3 N/A 12m ECL 222,785 152,205
RITEBEE S 23 Baa3-Aa3 TiEf 1R2EAEREERR
Bank balances and cash 23 Baa3-Aa3 N/A 12m ECL 750,804 812,343
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35. 2RI E (H&)

b. TREBREEEEREXE

(&)

EERER KR EFE (8)

(1) HEZRARHARBEFEN
5 AKECERBEBMER
SRR F SR ML T AR
EFBHEREEEENESR
Bl o BRABARERSHRK
BRECERENBEBANUR
BB T 0 5 BB SRR D -
AEEERREFEEEAF
B MEREEBBRLIZAR
EERRDME -

£ RF L

Rhza A58 15 B FFAR

EAEAEBEERBREEMN—I
N AEBEHETFETAIE
BiFH - TRIBRTFERESE
EBE (WREEEERE) BE
SRAMAHNE S EKFKIAR
HERWEERR < ER - 12025
FI3AIHEEREAARE
127,780,0007T (2024 : AR
128,229,0007T) WA E K AK(EE
RS E B A= BRI E A FE WK
H ARG - EEXKEELS
BREEB AR EBEEF G A
NFHI1%ZE3% °
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)
Note:
(1) For trade and unbilled receivables, the

Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired and trade related balances with
related parties, the Group determines the
ECL on these items by using collective
assessment, grouped by internal credit
rating.

Collective assessment — internal credit rating

As part of the
management,

Group’s credit  risk
the Group applies interna
credit rating for its customers. The
following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based
on collective assessment within lifetime
ECL (not credit impaired). Debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired with gross carrying amounts of
RMB127,780,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
RMB128,229,000) was assessed individually.
The average loss rates for debtors with
significant outstanding balances are
assessed to be ranging from approximately
1% to 3%.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

B 5 RARFEEYGKRIA
M3A31H
Trade and unbilled receivables
As at 31 March

REME B TR FigEIER 20255 FHFEE 20244
Internal Average Average
credit rating loss rate 2025 loss rate 2024
ARBETIT ARKETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
1 [ fax Low risk 1.96% 96,862 1.79% 37,787
BR5E Watch list 2.30% 106,476 2.61% 7,861
203,338 45,648

At ERETDEREBAREN
FHNBERBEREOXMGE
WIRBHEEBZKRASE N
HSHATE AR (NP EITEN
RERBERE AT EBBEA
FHRNREINEE) AR - &
RZEE P RIFEIE RS 8k )2 B
ARENRY HEEL A%
EEHEBREREESERERT
BHBE0BNE S RUKIARE
BHOMEBR - AEBNEFPERIE
BEEEBREREENG X
SLATREMEEEHEL AR - AEX
mHENENEFPEREEEQR
Rt R E D R AR EEER
m e NEBEEESEHENZ
DM NEREFBFEEBALZ
HEEAE R o

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information (for example,
the macroeconomic conditions affecting
the industry and the impact that may affect
debtor ability to make payments) that is
available without undue cost or effort. The
Group rebutted the presumption of default
under ECL model for trade receivables over
90 days past due based on good repayment
records for those customers and long-
term/continuous business with the Group.
Large number of small customers are
assessed collectively based on historical
credit loss experience adjusted by forward
looking estimates. Individual customers
with  significant balances are assessed
individually for the credit risk based on
their probability of default and exposure of
default. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by the management of the Group to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.
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35. TR T A (&)

HE2025F3A31HILFEE » K
SEREBEERTHMNE S RARHA
e WOGRIA T R R (B B VF R A
AR#3 465,0007T (20244 : B
B[O AR¥3,446,0007T) °

HZE2025%3A31HILEFE -
AEERAEEREREIEEER
BEFRBERERBERBEFEOAR
#188,0007C (20244 : AR
742,0007T) ©

HE2025F3A31HIEFE - &
SERESREHNEBEANRE
BEREER ARRBEREFE
# AR #340,0007T (20244 = A
R #104,0007T) °

TRETREBEZCHERBNE
FRAFERKKRAZFERTE
HEEBEED -

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group recognized net impairment allowance
of approximately RMB3,465,000 for trade and
unbilled receivables, based on the collective
assessment (2024: reversed RMB3,446,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group recognized net impairment allowance
of approximately RMB188,000 for debtors
with significant balances and not credit-
impaired (2024: RMB742,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group recognized net impairment allowance
of approximately RMB340,000 (2024:
RMB104,000) for debtors with significant
balances and credit impaired debtors.

The following table shows the movement in
lifetime ECL that has been recognized for
trade and unbilled receivables under the
simplified approach.

EEEBR EEEE
(REBEECEHE) (BREEERE) #Et

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ARET T ARET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7R2023F4A1H As at 1 April 2023 5,663 11,740 17,403
B iERREEE Impairment loss recognized 1,494 206 1,700
B BIREEE Impairment loss reversed (4,198) (102) (4,300)
7A2024%3H31H As at 31 March 2024 2,959 11,844 14,803
B iERREEE Impairment loss recognized 5,080 340 5,420
EREREEE Impairment loss reversed (1,427) = (1,427)
7A2025%3H31H As at 31 March 2025 6,612 12,184 18,796
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

CREREEEERBEE b.

(&)

EERR MRERE ()

AE 77 48 /% [ 435 )
BRIEAE1E (78 )

MECHENE ZEREAZR
REAITIEE -

nEE <R B

REBRPETER  AREE
EREREEEGARRANRS
RBEEEBYKF  AAAKREE
MEERHESRFEEREERE
MBNFE -

REBIKBREHNE FTARE
MRTTREAEEBIREES -
MR2025F3H31H » ZXEBHA
ATAMAESBIRTRMELEHOA
R #306,890,0007T (20244 : A
R #689,380,0007T) °

TRFIARNEERIE 1 EE R
ReEBRABZHRTARIME
e RRIDBEBEAKEAT XN
ZEFAMRERBBEIRUR
ReRnERmE - ZREENER
A2RERE - WA SRERT
BHXREFE  ARBRRSBEDE
RS BRAOFIE

Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and
(Continued)

impairment assessment

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

None of the trade receivables that have been
written off is subject to enforcement activities.

Liquidity risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group relies on cash generated from/
used in operations and banking facilities
to finance its operation. As at 31 March
2025, the Group had available unutilised
aggregate banking facilities of approximately
RMB306,890,000 (2024: RMB689,380,000).

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are
at floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate at the end of the
reporting period.
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(CONTINUED)

b.

Financial

Liquidity risk (Continued)

risk

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

management
objectives and policies (Continued)

% AREBTT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARET:
%  RMBO000  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
202553 A31H As at 31 March 2025
SRERE Financial liabilities
EoRAFE Trade payables - 16,931 27,118 3,317 - 47,366 47,366
ES Bills payables - 111,600 80,000 293,570 - 485,170 485,170
Hinfe 708 Other payables = 37,488 = - = 37,488 37,488
&k Borrowings 277 130,058 51,555 249 825 160,202 591,640 582,344
REAE Lease liabilities 6.68 288 576 3,012 12,660 16,536 14,302
@zt Total 296,365 159,249 549,724 172,862 1178200 1,166,670
20243 A31 B As at 31 March 2024
SHERE Financial liabilities
BoRMTE Trade payables - 25,461 104,530 - - 129,991 129,991
ERZE Bills payables - 116,600 55,000 48,340 - 219,940 219,940
HiERE Other payables - 36,538 - - = 36,538 36,538
&3 Borrowings 3.80 50,163 195,182 138,829 170,734 554,908 545,163
RERR Lease liabilities 5.89 513 1,025 3,439 536 5,513 5,375
it Total 229,275 355,737 190,608 171,270 946,890 937,007
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

C.

Fair value measurements of
financial instruments

The fair values of these financial assets
are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which
the fair value measurements are categorised
(Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are
based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active market for identical assets or
liabilities:

o Level 2 fair value measurements are
those derived from inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
and

o Level 3 fair value measurements
are those derived from valuation
techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
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REFHEERUATFEFENA
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AEENETEREERREH
RARFEFE - TREIIARA
MAEEZEEREENRTFE
(B2 P P i (B Bl B B AR
B) ARBRBEAFEFEEARK
BRABEREHAFEFEE
IR ERAM A FEBR (£
—EBREF=ZERINGES -

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

C.

Fair value measurements of
financial instruments (Continued)

Fair values of the Group’'s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

Certain of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used),
as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

ARETE ARBTT
RMB'000  RMB’000

RETHREES

Unlisted investment

funds

82,758 =

F-ER EEEEARE
HEREN AT
BERHRE

82,758 - Level 3 Quoted value

from fund
administrators
based on the
fair value of
underlying
investments
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

C.

Fair value measurements of
financial instruments (Continued)

Fair values of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

measurements of financial assets

AREFTT

RMB’000

R20245F4A1H As at 1 April 2024 =
—BE - purchased 298,330
— F&[E - redeemed (223,560)
— AT EEE - changes in fair value 7,988
R2025%3 A31H As at 31 March 2025 82,758

AR E IR H M EESAT
BHEZSMAERSRAB
AT
SRMEERSMAEZ ATED
RIEAREEBXERHERRS
RESIEE -

ARBEFERR REMKRRAS
MENN » NREBEREGE W B R
RANZBERAARZCREE
AtmABEZEREREAFE
BE -

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on recurring basis

The fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities of the Group and recorded
at amortized cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their
fair value based on discounted cash flows
analysis.
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TREBESENAINITRFES
B BUBZERE T ZERE
EXEBAE YERERUD
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REBBEERNEEERN KD
BRTEE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

d. Financial assets and financial
liabilities subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar
agreements
The disclosures set out in the tables below
include financial assets and financial
liabilities that are subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or similar
agreement that covers similar financial

instruments, irrespective of whether they are
offset in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position.

The amounts recognized for the restricted
cash and bills payables do not meet
the criteria for offsetting in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position
since the offset of the recognized amounts
will only occur upon default of payment by
the Group.
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35. @RITH (&) 35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
d. i UHTRFHREE d. Financial assets and financial
ZHREUHBRE T 2SR/ liabilities subject to offsetting,
EERSREE (E) enforceable master netting

arrangements and similar
agreements (Continued)

A202543 531H As at 31 March 2025

ARETT ARBT T ARBT T

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ERMEE Financial asset
ZRHIFEE Restricted cash 222,785 (134,380) 88,405
c@as Financial liability
AR Bills payables (485,170) 134,380 (350,790)
7R202443H31H As at 31 March 2024

ARETT ARBT T AR T

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ERMEE Financial asset
ZRHIHEE Restricted cash 152,205 (109,975) 42,230
tHAs Financial liability
FER IR Bills payables (219,940) 109,975 (109,965)
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TREINAEERAREEHIELAR
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KRERENAKRBENEERASRER
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

d.

Financial assets and financial
liabilities subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar
agreements (Continued)

The gross amounts of the recognized
financial asset and financial liability as
presented in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position, both of which
have been disclosed in the above tables, are
measured at amortized cost.

36(1). RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R202354 1R At 1 April 2023 244,738 175,716 105,817 11,057 - 2,502 539,830

HHRA Finance costs 14,262 - 4,865 470 - - 19,507

BERERE Financing cash flow 266,931 (185,495) 10,967 (6,152) (11,380) (33,823) 41,048

EERRS Dividend declared - - = = 11,380 - 11,380

EHES Issue cost accruals = = = = = 38,405 38,405

EiA% Exchange adjustments (760) 9,779 - - - - 9,019
ERENSERER Received through notes

receivables 19,992 - - - - - 19,992

ERZCRAR Transfer to contract liabilities - - (121,649) - - - (121,649)

R2024%3A31A At 31 March 2024 545,163 - - 5375 - 7,084 557,622
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36(). MEEFBELEEBENHER 36(1). RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
(%) ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

EREELE  REEELR
& B 8 HEER BHRE  EABEARA )
Amount due Loan from
to a related related Lease Dividend Accrued
Borrowings company companies liabilities payable issue cost Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BIBAA Finance costs 19,805 = = 175 = = 19,980
HERSNE Financing cash flow 133,391 7,75 - (5,414) (68,836) (6,685) 60,211
BERRE Dividend declared = = = = 68,836 = 68,836
EfRA&R Issue cost reversals - - - - - (399) (399)
Rk New leases entered - - - 14,166 - - 14,166
NENEEEH (i) Offset with bills
receivables (Note) (116,015) - - - - - (116,015)
202538318 At 31 March 2025 582,344 7,755 - 14,302 - - 604,401
Hiat - FRIBIEEREALIR FE IR E 18 B HR A 4% 1 Note: Amounts represented bank borrowings

WERMRITE R - derecognized when the related discounted bills

receivables were matured.

36(11). NON-CASH TRANSACTION

As at 31 March 2024, the Group transferred the loan
from a related company to contract liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB121,649,000 (2025:

36(Il). FRERS

MR2024F3H31H  AEEBHKE —K
B AR ZEEEREARAE &8
D ANREA121,649,0007T (20254

T) -

MR2024%3A31H » KR&EEFIY—18
=htESER—BRRNEEREE
W—REBARNIE  SEHAARE
3,261,0007T (20254 : &) o b4 » A
SEVR—B=HBENEEERA
B ARH8,021,0007T (20254 : &)
B FE I — X BB A R FRIA ©

nil).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group entered into a
tripartite agreement to transfer the amount due from
a shareholder to the amount due from a related
company amounted to approximately RMB3,261,000
(2025: nil). In addition, the Group entered into
another tripartite agreement to offset the amount
due from a related company with contract liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB8,021,000 (2025:
nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. XAFBMBRRERBEER 37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY
®3A318
As at 31 March
2025%F 20244
2025 2024
AREF T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREBEE Non-current asset
RETBRRHIERE Investments in subsidiaries = -
REBEE Current assets
H b JE W SR IE R FB A IR Other receivables and prepayments 332 332
FEURFT I A RIZIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 687,490 342,541
RITHEBEIE S Bank balances and cash 23,178 353,946
711,000 696,819
REBAE Current liabilities
H fth FE < 5018 Other payables 28 17,297
FEASHHT B A B FUR Amounts due to subsidiaries 53,779 1,344
53,807 18,641
EEFE Net assets 657,193 678,178
BEARRE Capital and reserves
& A< Share capital 64,496 63,861
(ke Reserves 592,697 614,317
657,193 678,178
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A MR AR R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KATBBRAR#ER (&) 37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

RARREEEBOT - Movement in the Company’s reserves is as follows:
BB R E ZEtEE st
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
ARBT T AREFT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2023F 4 A1 H At 1 April 2023 - (58,036) (58,036)
FREEREAM Loss and other comprehensive
2HEMY expense for the year = (43,426) (43,426)
B BT Capitalisation issue (47,832) = (47,832)
RERAFAEER
BETER D Issue of new shares upon the IPO 816,755 = 816,755
BITHR D L Transaction costs attributable to
RGA issue of new shares (53,144) = (53,144)
R202493A31H At 31 March 2024 715,779 (101,462) 614,317
B R A B oA Profit and other comprehensive
el g income for the year = 2,228 2,228
1TEBRE AL AR Exercise of over-allotment options 32,445 - 32,445
IT{EBEERCIMERE  Transaction costs attributable to
HR S A exercise of over-allotment
options (848) - (848)
R ADIKME  Dividends recognized as
distribution (55,445) - (55,445)
20253 A31H At 31 March 2025 691,931 (99,234) 592,697
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ALQTFIMBLAFE

ARABEEMEARFANMBRRFEE

o h -

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly
held by the Company are set out below:

BEAREEARAA!

H.K. Migao Industry Limited *

Migao Overseas Holdings Limited *
(Btii)

Migao Overseas Holdings Limited *
(Note iii)

Migao Overseas Industry Limited
(B

Migao Overseas Industry Limited
(Note iii)

Migao Resources Holdings Limited *
(Hstii)

Migao Resources Holdings Limited *
(Note iii)

MG Overseas Commerce Limited
(i)

MG Overseas Commerce Limited
(Note iii)

&%
200558A24A

Hong Kong 24
August 2005

F2EE
202651 f2H

Cayman Islands
2 January 2025

KBRS
2025%1A148

BVI 14 January
2025

ERRAES
202551 A14H

BVI 14 January
2025

RERLHS
2025%3A 120

BVI 12 March 2025

200 KSEEZERERA T @ T 2024/2025

REZR
RIUEREEE
TR R

Investment holding
Providing service
related to trading of
speciality potash-

TER 60,878 4635 100 100

N/A  HKD60,878,463 100 100 based fertilizers
50,000% 7t 50,000% 7T 100 TER REAR
USD50,000 USD50,000 100 N/A  Investment holding
50,000% 7T %7 100 TER REER
USD50,000 USD1 100 N/A " Investment holding
50,000F T 50,000% 7T 100 TER ®EER
USD50,000 USD50,000 100 N/A  Investment holding
50,000 7T 1% 100 TER RE#ER
USD50,000 USD1 100 N/A " Investment holding



38. AATFMELRFE (H)

e SRR A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Migao International (Singapore) Pte Ltd.

Migao International
(Singapore) Pte Ltd.

RRARMCTARAR (M),

Guangdong Migao Chemical Co., Ltd.
(Note i)

PIKBEEARAR ()

Sichuan Migao Chemical Fertilizer
Co., Ltd. (Note i)

KBTI (REF) BRAR (M)

Migao Chemical (Changchun) Co., Ltd.

(Note i)

AR 2,800,000

2010%3A31R MR
Singapore

31 March 2010 SGD2,800,000
a5

200444 A30H  17,000,00000170
The PRC

30 April 2004  CAD17,000,000
Gk N

20036760 116,480,000
The PRC

6June 2003  RMB116,480,000
mE

2006 12A5H 13,160,000/
The PRC

5 December 2006 CAD13,160,000

2,800,000
T

SGD2,800,000

FER

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

BE RSN RS

Trading and providing
service of specialty
potash - based
fertilizers

EEREERFENE
Manufacturing
and trading of
specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

EEREERERE
Manufacturing
and trading of
specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

EEREERENE
Manufacturing
and trading of
specialty
potash-based
fertilizers
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. AAFMELRAFE (H)

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

REUKS (Hiil)

Daxing Migao (Note i)

BERS (M)

Baoging Migao (Note ii)

ZEKE (i)

Anda Migao (Note i)

Malaysia Holding (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia Holding
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

T ARE
1996511 A5H 50,000,000t
The PRC

5 November 1996 RMB50,000,000

R ARE
20185148 100,000,007

The PRC
14 May 2018 RMB100,000,000

HE AR%
201856A19H  240,000,0007C

The PRC
19 June 2018 RMB240,000,000

SRAD 2%
20175115248

Malaysia RM2
24 November
2017
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TER

AER

&R

51

51

m

m

65

65

100

100

51

51

77

77

65

65

100

100

EEREERENE
Manufacturing
and trading of
specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

EEREERFENE
Manufacturing
and trading of
specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

EEREERERE
Manufacturing
and trading of
specialty
potash-based
fertilizers

REZR

Investment holding



e SRR A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ARNTMEQAFE (&) 38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Migao International (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. B& e %%
201757 A108
Migao International Malaysia RM2
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 10 July 2017
AEEERE (AI) BRAR (k)  E N
202158278 200,000,0007T
Migao Agricultural Technology The PRC RMB200,000,000
(Tongjiang) Co. Ltd. (Note iv) 27 May 2021
ket TR R e 20,000,000% 7
(B#) BRAR (iv) 2022468 A11R
Migao Century Engineering The PRC USD20,000,000
Technology (Chengdu) 11 August 2022

Co., Ltd (Note iv)

* BHARAHERFH - )

2%% 100 100

RM2 100 1

o
o

&R 100 100
N/A 100 100
Gyl 100 100
N/A 100 100

Directly held by the Company.

RERRK

Investment holding

ERREERL
HERHERH

Warehousing and
production centre;
production and
sales of fertilizers

HEREEE ;
RERITR
BAERRE
HERK

Research and
development related
activities; provision of
technical and project
management services;
sales of fertilizers
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. AQTEKMELAFE (&) 38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
HieE - Notes:
(i) ZEBEBREINBEMBAR © (i) These entities are wholly-owned foreign
subsidiaries.
(i) ZEEBERAIEZERANBAR - (i) These entities are non-wholly owned domestic
subsidiaries.
(iii) ZENB LR AANEEREE2025F (iii) ~ These subsidiaries were incorporated by the Group
3 A31HIEFE ML - during the year ended 31 March 2025.
(iv) ZEEBRZEABEAMBAR - (iv)  These entities are wholly owned domestic subsidiaries.
KA FEMBRRMNIKEEERA T The voting power of the subsidiaries held by the
FENA EE=AER o Company are same with the ownership interest held
by the Company.
RAFER - SIEMB AR EHITEM None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
BBES © securities at the end of the year.
39. mEHEKEE 39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD
20253 A31 H 2 AW EB B M= There have been no material subsequent events
ANERIEEIE - identified subsequent to 31 March 2025.
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EFBBER
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AEEBEARMBRTFENFEENEE BENMIEER A summary of the results and of the assets,

R E (e C B ERMBHmE) #ANT - liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the published audited financial statements, is set
out below.

EHRGEeEEREMEZERER CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

202181 F 202281 F 202381 F 202481 F 202581 &
FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025
ARETT ARETT AREFT AR®TT AR%Tx
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Yo Revenue 2,081,579 3,841,400 4,722,749 3,770,543 4,965,954
E7 Gross Profit 250,741 633,423 767,533 536,504 642,047
R AR A Profit before tax 264,926 471,044 533,414 333,604 413,373
FRaEF Profit for the year 206,525 396,580 421514 276,194 339,484
PAT AL FE(E & T Profit attributable to
—ARAEEA - Owners of the Company 202,294 396,337 405,089 252,479 307,471
— RS - Non-controlling interests 4,231 243 16,425 23715 32,013
206,525 396,580 421514 276,194 339,484
AR & BT AR R & CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
M3A31H

As at 31 March
20214 20224 20234 20244 2025
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
AREFIT AREFTT ARETIT ARETT AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000

wEE Total assets 2,406,040 3,711,757 3,238,815 4,605,529 5,246,476
wafmE Total liabilities 1,750,283 2,536,839 1,662,922 1,989,837 2,329,731
AR Total equity 655,757 1,174,918 1,575,893 2,615,692 2,916,745
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DEFINITIONS

[RRBFKRE | i
“AGM”

(K i
“Anda Migao”

(7B ZF2MB s T488)] 38
“Articles of Association”
or “Articles”

[EZZBE 5

“Audit Committee”

[gE5X=] Ec

i

“Baoging Migao”

[HERFR & E i
“Beidahuang Group”

[ERFRREER i
“Beidahuang Modern
Agricultural Services”

Ex3 &
“Board”
[FAERENE] il

‘Cayman Companies Act”

RATHER202568 A22A (28R ) BTHREBEF RS
the annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on Friday, 22
August 2025

ZEII AT RERBRERART - —MR2018F6 A 19BBRIEFRBEZKINE
REMLAF - EBE*E/Iitjiuﬁzﬁﬁ%%LA&E%#.—J&i%fr.—ﬁ;ﬁﬁ%%(E%%rm
RERAKSDRIEA34% K%31%) - W RN AMER

Anda Beidahuang Migao Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. (RELATORSE
%R AR AR]), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 19 June 2018 and is owned as to 35% by Heilongjiang Beidahuang,
and 65% by Changchun Migao (as to 34%) and Guangdong Migao (as to 31%),
and a subsidiary of the Company

RRATRMBEVABZIZMA (EPRERT RED])
the articles of association of the Company adopted (as amended and restated
from time to time)

EFEGERRET

the audit committee of the Board

EEARDERERTARAR - —HR2018F5 B 14BBRIBEHRBAREKINERET
NG EEﬁE/Ijtk).b%ﬁﬁzs%u&FEﬁﬁ“m&E% BHETT% (ERASRER
KEDRIHEBA0% R37%) » W ARATMBA

Baoqing Migao Agricultural Technology Co., Lid. (BB KSEREREAERA
A]), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
14 May 2018 and is owned as to 23% by Heilongjiang Beidahuang, and 77%
by Guangdong Migao (as to 40%) and Changchun Migao (as to 37%), and a
subsidiary of the Company

Be|dahuang Modern Agrlcultural Services and its subsidiaries

BT AARRARBERBEEERLAT - BTNV EEZER LA
Heilongjiang Beidahuang Modern Agrlcultural Services Group Co., Ltd. (&
BT ATRBREERGEEERAAF), the immediate holding company of
Heilongjiang Beidahuang

RARTKARNESTS R (BNEME) B LEEABSZ NN ESTEERKEN
AREHBE=R

the board of Directors of the Company as constituted from time to time or
as the context may require the majority of Directors present and voting at a
meeting of the Directors at which a quorum is present

FEMBARNAE22E (1961 FEIFER « Lia RIEFT) » ETHEET - Hrsk
PAE M 75 A4S 2

the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time
to time
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[READ] 5

“Changchun Migao”

[ E | b
“China” or “PRC”

IPNGIEC ST i
“Companies Ordinance”

B VNSIE &
“Company”

[E5E] 5

“compound fertilizer”

[ AR R |

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[{ZER~ral] &
“Corporate Governance
Code”

[ REKE £
‘Daxing Migao”
=3 |

“Director(s)”

[IRE (e hkERZEE] 8
“ESG Committee”

[BRAHAR] Ec

“Existing Articles”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

KeftL(&E)BRAR - —ER2006F 12 A5 ABRBHENEZK N EREEA
A WARARKZEMEB AT

Migao Chemical (Changchun) Co., Ltd. CK&1tT(K&H)BMRAF]), a company
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 5 December 2006
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

REARKENE  RAFHRME - TREES - RFIREE
the People’'s Republic of China excluding for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

BB EDIE622F (A RHEN)
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

KeEEIERERAR - —MR2017F11 21 BEHRESHEFMRIHERACER
NG|

Migao Group Holdings Limited CRE&EBIIZERAER A F]), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 21 November 2017

—ERHER 8 WEEROOEE - AR HERE - ESEHNMAX

a kind of fertilizer with three-components, providing nitrogen, phosphorus and
potassium. Compound fertilizer can be used for balanced fertilization and can
increase the utilization rate of fertilizers

BB FMARRAMETERE - BRXESBMEIN - BARRRSERRRZIEA -
Migao Barbados K& Migao BVI

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the controlling shareholders of the Company,
namely, Mr. Liu Guocai, Migao Barbados and Migao BVI

AR RIS C TSI X B B AR <P A
code on corporate governance practices contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules

BENIEIEARETAR - —HR1996F 11 A5 BREBEFRBIEEK I BREFE
RE AR SHE51% REMNEERERE49% @ T RAEENHB A
Zunyi Daxing Compound Fertilizer Co., Ltd. (& AEELEBERETAR),
a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
5 November 1996 and is owned as to 51% by Sichuan Migao and 49% by
Guizhou Tobacco Investment and a subsidiary of the Group

ARRTREINES

the director(s) of the Company from time to time

EEQRE  HEKEREZESY
the environmental, social and governance committee of the Board

EHR2024F 2 A28 HiM BRI RZEREMA A QR MAKEIZAA

the articles of association of the Company as adopted by a special resolution
passed on 28 February 2024
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DEFINITIONS

[2021 8 4 |
“FY2021”

[202287 4 |
“FY2022"

[ 202384 |
“FY2023"

[ 20248 4 |
“FY2024"

[ 20258 4F |
“FY2025"

[R&EHE
“Group”

[ERAKS]

“Guangdong Migao’

[EMNEERE ]
“Guizhou Tobacco
Investment”

[ B2 P |

“HCL”

[ BRI KR

“Heilongjiang Beidahuang”

RRABEZE2021 63 A31 B IEMRFE
the Company’s financial year ended 31 March 2021

RABEZE202243 431 HIEMEBFE
the Company’s financial year ended 31 March 2022

RNAFEZE2023F3 A31 HIEMRFE
the Company’s financial year ended 31 March 2023

RATEZE2024F3 A31 HIEMBFE
the Company’s financial year ended 31 March 2024

RNAREHZE2025F3 A31 AILLHBFE
the Company'’s financial year ended 31 March 2025

AT REME R RS
collectively, the Company and its subsidiaries

BRABIEIAMRAR - —HR2004F4A30BREFEEERINBRELD
A REARBNERENBAF

Guangdong Migao Chemical Co., Ltd. (ERX={LITHRAR]), a company
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 30 April 2004 and
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EMEEREERAERAR  ABIE=7 (RIEAREASHFEEREIN
Guizhou Tobacco Investment Management Co., Ltd. (E/MNEEREEREREAQ
7)), an independent third party (other than being a substantial shareholder of
Daxing Migao)

e —RE(EKER  BREEDERAE EARIENEZENXEY  BEZ
FERRITEEE

hydrochloric acid, an aqueous solution of hydrogen chloride, belonging to one-
component inorganic strong acid, which is an important part the chlor-alkali
industry and is widely used in industrial fields

BRILIUEARRREERBEEEERIR AR - —HR200848 A 25 HRIEF BUE
BRUHBEEERETAR  AAEENMBARRERSREFABHNEEME
Ft AR AR EAL

Heilongjiang Beidahuang Modern Agricultural Services Group Agricultural
Materials Co., Ltd. (ZEIIEATRBEREZEREEERZESFRAT)), a state-
owned company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
25 August 2008 and is a substantial shareholder of the Group’s subsidiaries,
Anda Migao and Baoging Migao, and is therefore a connected person of the
Company
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[BEMBHEER]
“HKFRS”

[BEKS]

“HK Migao”

[T K [0
“HK$”, and “cents”

[BE]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[ (LR
“KCL”

[ETHE]
“Listing Date”

[ EmR Al
“Listing Rules”
[FSRE RS

“Malaysia Migao”

[Malaysia Migao
International |
“Malaysia Migao
International”

[Migao Barbados |

“Migao Barbados”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

BB RS LR
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

EAERSEFXARAR - —HR2005F8 24 B EBFBAMALMNERAF - /AE
NAMEEM B AT

H.K. Migao Industry Limited (&K@ EZERAF]), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong 24 August 2005 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

EEEE BB TR
Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

HEEESITTHE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

e - —EBAR/KCIHIEEY) - BH60%NALIRES - 7] BEER
potassium chloride, a compound with the chemical formula KCI containing
around 60% potassium oxide equivalent, which can be used

as a fertilizer

2024F3 H21H
21 March 2024

B2 P EREE 5 BT AR A
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

Migao Holding (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. * —fE#2017F 11 24 HiRE H 2R A2
AR HBERAR - WAKREEHN2EHE R

Migao Holding (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated under the laws
of Malaysia with limited liability on 24 November 2017 and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group

Migao International (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. * —f8R2017F7 A 10 HiR#EE R A Ls
EEFAMKNERAT - AREENEENE QA

Migao International (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated under the
laws of Malaysia with limited liability on 10 July 2017 and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group

Migao International Holding Limited + —fE /200548 A 19 AR B H B E L fFf &%
BEMKIMNERAT - R2010F1 A5 BRIERBEZHE AR K ILELEWIRE
EEziriggEEE  BRZIBEATE2EES

Migao International Holding Limited, a company incorporated under the laws
of the BVI with limited liability on 19 August 2005 and was discontinued as a
company under the laws of the BVI and continuing as a company under the
laws of Barbados on 25 January 2010 and is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Guocai
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[Migao BVI]

“Migao BVI”

K=t 4 AED ]

“Migao Century (Chengdu)”

[Migao Overseas
Holdings |
“Migao Overseas Holdings”

[Migao Overseas
Industry |
“Migao Overseas Industry”

MG DMCC

‘MG DMCC”

[1Z2E<F A ]
“Model Code”

[ 4m R

“New Articles”

A

KEZERAERAT - —ER2017F11 A17ARBRABERE LS EAE M RE
BEXEEEEARAR © WHMigao Barbados®E#H B

Migao Holding Limited K& %A BFR A&, a BVI business company incorporated
under the laws of the BVI with limited liability on 17 November 2017 and is
wholly-owned by Migao Barbados

Kt TR (R BIRARF - —fHK2022F8 411 AREHBEVEEK I E
REFEAR  RAEEHNZENBRF

Migao Century Engineering Technology (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.* (K& tth42 T2 17
(&) EFR A7), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 11 August 2022 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group

Migao Overseas Holdings Limited * —f/A2025%1 A2 AR HAS B S F M
EREAERBEERR - AAEENZENEAF

Migao Overseas Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 2 January 2025 and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group

Migao Overseas Industry Limited *+ —f74202541 A 14 BIRIERBE X B &5=
AR ABRELHSHERR  AARENEZENBAR

Migao Overseas Industry Limited, a BVI business company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI on 14 January 2025 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group

MG International Commerce FZCO ' —f# 20255 15BN MAERETER
Al BEIZR200245 A1 B #2001 a5 < 5 (4)50A R R EETHEX AT B BT
mEZER L OEEB(Dubal Multi Commodities Centre Authority) &I A B3k
HEERRE - ATARENZENEAF

MG International Commerce FZCO, a company with limited liability formed
on 15 May 2025, with all the requirements under the provisions of law No.(4)
of 2001 order dated 1 May 2002 in respect of Establishing Dubai Multi
Commodities Centre Authority and its amendments satisfied, and is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group

FTARBINERCIFTHE M BEITAEEEITESF R SNIEETA
the model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

BEHNBRIAFRG LIRENFIRE RS
EIR4MAY

the second amended and restated articles of association of the Company to be
adopted by a special resolution to be proposed at the AGM
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“New Era Agriculture”

[FTAR A= A2 R M R Am A

“New Memorandum and
Articles of Association”

[RERZEe]

“Nomination Committee”

[ B 8
“NOP”

[k E7R ]
“Prospectus”

[FHZEE= ]
“Remuneration
Committee”

[ARE]
“RMB”

[ &5 M AE D

“SFO”

A& |
“Share(s)”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

EEHBEEBEEEARAR (EAEEuroChem Migao Limited) © —RI1 201442
R14BEEBTIMELAOBRAT - AEERKSHEAS0% ME=HE50% L&
REEMEERE

New Era Agriculture Nutrition Group Limited (formerly known as EuroChem
Migao Limited), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on 14
February 2014 and is owned as to 50% by HK Migao and 50% by a third party
and is the Group’s joint venture

SR IREBFERE FIREMNFIRBREEMNN AR B E ZIREEET RER AR
ER PN E]

the second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company to be adopted by a special resolution to be proposed at the AGM

EEgRA%EE

the nomination committee of the Board

WEEIR - B2 BKNO3HLEY - Fif - AFR - AIAEEH
potassium nitrate, a compound with the chemical formula KNO3 containing
potassium, oxygen, and nitrogen, which can be used as a fertilizer

RNARHEA202453 A13HMBRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 13 March 2024

ExevMzEe

the remuneration committee of the Board

TEIEEEB AR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

BEREOIZBE(EFRAGERA) - B AREFT AR
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

ARRFIRAF SREEC. 01X TTH BB

ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with nominal value of US$0.01
each
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DEFINITIONS

[ A& |
“Shareholder(s)”

[Pk

“Sichuan Migao”

[N oK S

“Singapore Migao”

[ BA 6 |
“SOP”

[ Bt 22 FAT |
“Stock Exchange”

[F A

“subsidiary(ies)”

[ERBREZES]

“Yunnan EuroChem”

[BAFEE]

“Huantaiyang Zunyi”

[% ]
sop”

RARRE
the shareholder(s) of the Company

MK REEBR A G - —FER2003F6 A6 BREFBIEEKNZMBREFE A -
RERNANZENE LA

Sichuan Migao Chemical Fertilizer Co., Ltd. (PU)IKE{LIEER A F]), a company
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 6 June 2003 and
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Migao International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. * —fI/A 201043 A 31 BIREH ML=
Y MBEREEAR  BARFINEZENE AR

Migao International (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., a company established under the
laws of Singapore with limited liability on 31 March 2010 and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

BT - —E(LBARK2S04M(LEY - EH50%ALIRE S - 7T BIEEE
potassium sulphate, a compound with the chemical formula K2504 containing
around 50% potassium oxide equivalent, which can be used as a fertilizer

BERMARSHRARRAT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BB EmR AR T e Rz

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

THBEEZNPERRERAT - —HR2013F7 A12AREBEPBEEZKNIHER
HEERT - HRlEANew Era Agriculture R E =7 A 70% k30% MRHE - BA
NRAMEEEERE

Yunnan EuroChem Fertilizer Technology Co., Ltd. (EfEEEBIEERIBZARA
7l), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
12 July 2013 and is owned as to 70% by New Era Agriculture and 30% by an
independent third party, an indirect joint venture of the Company

EXRF(AR)FUHEHEEERAF - —fHR2011F2H21 BRBEPEVEEK LB
REMTARF - HEGEREE2EES

Huantaiyang (Zunyi) Real Estate Leasing Co., Ltd. (EXF(E%)SHEREFR
A |]), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on
21 February 2011, which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Liu

Eliysd
per cent
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